3D SYSTEMS CORP Form DEF 14A April 01, 2004

(4)

QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

	Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.								
File	Filed by the Registrant ý								
File	d by a P	arty other than the Registrant o							
Che	Check the appropriate box:								
o	Preliminary Proxy Statement								
o	Confi	dential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))							
ý	Defini	tive Proxy Statement							
o	Defini	tive Additional Materials							
o	Solicit	ing Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12							
		3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION							
		(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)							
		(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)							
Payı	ment of	Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):							
ý	No fee	e required.							
0	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(4) and 0-11. (1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:								
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:							
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):							

Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

-	id previously with preliminary materials.
ling	box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration ent number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
	Amount Previously Paid:
	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	Filing Party:
	Date Filed:

3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION

26081 Avenue Hall Valencia, California 91355

March 31, 2004

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

0

o

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of 3D Systems Corporation scheduled to be held on Wednesday, May 19, 2004 at 10:00 a.m., P.D.T., at the offices of the Company at 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355. Your Board of Directors and senior management look forward to greeting you at the meeting.

At the meeting, you will be asked to vote on amendments to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation to effectively repeal provisions that require the Company to have a classified board of directors and that limit certain other rights the Board of Directors believes you should have as a stockholder. The repeal of these provisions requires the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the Company's shares entitled to vote, so it is particularly important that you vote *your* shares in favor of these amendments.

You will also be asked to elect two Class II directors, to adopt a new 2004 Incentive Stock Plan, to adopt a new Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, and to ratify the selection of BDO Seidman, LLP as the Company's independent auditor for 2004. These proposals are important, and we urge you to vote in favor of them.

Regardless of the number of shares of Common Stock or Series B Preferred Stock you own, it is important that your shares are represented and voted at the annual meeting. Votes may be cast by telephone or by mail. Instructions for voting by telephone are set forth in the attached Proxy Statement and on the enclosed proxy card. You may vote your shares by mail by signing, dating and mailing the enclosed proxy in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope. Please vote today to ensure your votes are counted.

On behalf of your Board of Directors, we thank you for your continued support.	
	Sincerely,
	Abraham N. Reichental

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

May 19, 2004

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of 3D Systems Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), will be held on Wednesday, May 19, 2004 at 10:00 a.m., P.D.T., at the offices of the Company at 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355, for the following purposes:

To elect two Class II directors to serve three-year terms;

To approve five separate amendments to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, including:

Amending Article Fifth to delete the current prohibition on stockholders calling special meetings of stockholders;

Officer

Amending Article Sixth to eliminate the classified Board of Directors structure currently in place and the requirement that Directors may only be removed from office for cause;

Amending Article Seventh to eliminate the restriction on stockholder actions by written consent;

Amending Article Tenth to eliminate the Board of Directors' exclusive authority to adopt, repeal, alter, amend or rescind the Company's Bylaws;

Amending Article Eleventh to eliminate the supermajority voting requirement for amendments to Articles Fifth, Sixth, portions of Article Seventh, Article Tenth and Article Eleventh;

To approve the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan;

To approve a new Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors;

To ratify the selection of BDO Seidman, LLP as the Company's independent auditor for 2004; and

To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

These items are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on March 24, 2004 as the record date for the determining the Company stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. A copy of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K is enclosed, and additional copies are available upon request.

We urge you to attend the Annual Meeting so we can review the past year with you, listen to your suggestions, and answer any questions you may have. It is important that as many stockholders as possible are represented at the Annual Meeting, so please review the attached Proxy Statement promptly and vote your shares today by following the instructions for voting in the attached Proxy Statement and on the enclosed proxy card. Even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting in person, please vote today to ensure your votes are counted, in case your plans change. If you are a stockholder of record and do attend the Annual Meeting in person, you will be able to vote your shares personally at the meeting if you so desire, even if you previously voted.

By Order of the Board of Directors Robert M. Grace, Jr. Secretary

Valencia, California March 31, 2004

CONTENTS

	Page
GENERAL INFORMATION	1
VOTING MATTERS	1
VOTING SECURITIES	4
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	5
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF CLASS II DIRECTORS	10
Information Regarding Class II Nominees and Continuing Directors	10
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE	12
MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	12
STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	14
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	14
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	16
Summary Compensation Table	16
Report of the Compensation Committee on Executive Compensation	17
Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers	21
Certain Transactions	22
OPTION GRANTS IN 2003	24
AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN 2003 AND 2003 YEAR-END OPTION VALUES	24
PROPOSAL NOS. 2 THROUGH 6 AMENDMENT OF SUPERMAJORITY PROVISIONS	25
Proposal No. 2 Proposal Regarding Special Meetings of Stockholders	26
Proposal No. 3 Proposal to De-Classify the Board and Permit Removal of Directors Without Cause	26

	Page
Proposal No. 4 Proposal to Permit Written Consents	27
Proposal No. 5 Proposal Regarding Amendments to Certificate of Incorporation	27
Proposal No. 6 Proposal Regarding Amendments to Supermajority Provisions	27
PROPOSAL NO. 7 APPROVAL OF 2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN	28
Restricted Stock	28
Other Awards	
	29
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences	29
PROPOSAL NO. 8 APPROVAL OF RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE	
DIRECTORS	31
PROPOSAL NO. 9 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR	33
PRINCIPAL INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FEES	33
Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of	
Independent Auditors	34
CHANGE IN INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN 2003	34
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	35
COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE COMPARISONS	37
CODE OF ETHICS	38
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2005 ANNUAL MEETING	38
DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SECURITY HOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS	38
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	39
OTHER MATTERS	39
ANNEX A AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER	A-1
ANNEX B PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S CERTIFICATE OF	
INCORPORATION	B-1
ANNEX C 2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN	C-1
ANNEX D RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS	D-1
i	

3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION

26081 Avenue Hall Valencia, California 91355

PROXY STATEMENT

Dated March 31, 2004

For the Annual Meeting of Stockholders To Be Held on May 19, 2004

GENERAL INFORMATION

This Proxy Statement is being furnished to the holders of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock (as these terms are defined below) of 3D Systems Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of the Company for use at the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of the Company and any adjournments or postponements thereof. The Annual Meeting will be held at the offices of the Company at 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355 at 10:00 a.m., P.D.T.,

on May 19, 2004. This Proxy Statement and the enclosed proxy card are first being mailed to stockholders on or about April 8, 2004.

VOTING MATTERS

Your vote is very important. Stockholders of record may vote by telephone or by mail. A toll-free telephone number is included on the proxy card for telephone voting. If you wish to vote by mail, you may use the enclosed proxy card and the enclosed postage-paid return envelope. You may save the Company the expense of a second mailing if you vote promptly.

Record Date and Voting Securities

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on March 24, 2004 as the record date for determining the Company stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. A list of the stockholders of record as of the record date will be kept at the Company's principal office at 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355 for a period of ten days prior to the Annual Meeting. Holders of record of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), and Series B convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Preferred Stock"), outstanding as of the record date are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting.

Voting by Telephone

Stockholders of record may vote by using the toll-free number listed on the proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, except that no telephone votes will be accepted

after Midnight, E.D.T., on Tuesday, May 18, 2004, the day prior to the Annual Meeting. Easy-to-follow voice prompts allow you to vote your shares and confirm that your voting instructions have been properly recorded. The Company's telephone voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders by using the individual control numbers provided on each proxy card. If you vote by telephone, you do not need to return your proxy card. Please see the enclosed proxy card for additional telephone voting instructions.

Voting by Mail

If you choose to vote by mail, simply mark, sign and date the enclosed proxy card, and return it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. If you sign, date and mail your proxy card without indicating how you want to vote, your proxy will be voted FOR the Class II nominees described below and FOR all other proposals described in this Proxy Statement. On all other matters that properly may come before the Annual Meeting, your proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board of Directors or, if no recommendation is made, in the discretion of the proxy holders named on the enclosed proxy card.

If You Wish to Revoke Your Proxy

Whichever method you use to vote, you may later revoke your proxy at any time before your shares are voted by (i) voting by telephone at a later time; (ii) submitting a properly signed proxy with a later date; or (iii) if you are a stockholder of record, voting in person at the Annual Meeting. Please remember that, as described above, there will be no telephone voting available after Midnight, E.D.T., on Tuesday, May 18, 2004, the day prior to the Annual Meeting.

Voting in Person at the Annual Meeting

Any stockholder of record may vote in person at the Annual Meeting whether or not he or she has previously voted, and regardless of whether the prior vote was by telephone or by mail. If you hold your shares in "street name," that is, if you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other nominee holder, you must obtain a written proxy, executed in your favor, from the nominee in order to vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting.

Quorum; Broker Non-Votes; Abstentions

A majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock present in person or represented by proxy will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions, votes withheld and broker non-votes will be treated as being present for the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting. "Broker non-votes" occur when a bank, broker or other nominee holder has not received voting instructions with respect to a particular matter and the nominee holder does not have discretionary power to vote on that matter. Shares voted "For," "Against," "Abstain," or "Withhold" are treated as votes cast at the Annual Meeting with respect to the matter in question. Broker non-votes, however, are not treated as votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

Since broker non-votes are not treated as votes cast at the Annual Meeting, they will have no effect on Proposal No. 1, the election of directors, because the two Class II directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. Votes to "withhold" with respect to Proposal No. 1 also will have no effect on the outcome of the election of directors. Since broker non-votes are not treated as votes cast, they also will have no effect on any matters before the Annual Meeting which require the affirmative vote of the majority of the total votes cast, such as ratification of the selection of the Company's independent auditor or the adoption of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan or the Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Abstentions on proposals that require the majority of the votes cast will have the same effect as a vote against such proposals. Since the proposed amendments of the Company's

2

Certificate of Incorporation require the affirmative vote of at least 66²/₃% of the shares entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, broker non-votes and abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against the proposed amendments.

Because the amendments to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation described in Proposals 2 through 6 require the approval of at least 66²/₃% of the shares entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, these provisions are referred to as the "Supermajority Provisions" in this Proxy Statement. Your Board of Directors believes that the proposed amendments to the Supermajority Provisions, which are intended to effectively repeal those provisions, will provide important rights and benefits to the Company's stockholders. Therefore, the Board of Directors encourages you to vote your shares FOR proposals 2 through 6 for the reasons described below.

Voting on Other Matters

If any other matters are properly presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting, the proxy holders named in the enclosed proxy card will have the discretion to vote your shares on those matters in accordance with the Board of Directors' recommendations on any such matters. If the Board of Directors does not make a recommendation on any such other matters, the proxy holders will be entitled to vote in their discretion on those matters. The Company does not know of any other matters to be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting.

Multiple Accounts

If you hold shares in more than one account or if your shares are registered in different names, you may receive more than one proxy card for the Annual Meeting. Please sign, date and return all proxy cards you receive to ensure that all of your shares are represented and voted at the Annual Meeting.

Voting Policies

Regardless of the method by which you vote, if you specify the manner in which your shares are to be voted on a matter, the shares represented by your proxy will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you grant an otherwise valid proxy without giving specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted FOR the two Class II director nominees described below and FOR Proposal Nos. 2 through 9.

If you hold your shares in a brokerage account or through another nominee holder, you are considered the "beneficial owner" of shares held in "street name," and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or other nominee holder along with a voting instruction card. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or nominee how to vote your shares, and that party is required to vote your shares in accordance with your instructions. In limited circumstances, a nominee holder is entitled to vote your shares in the absence of specific voting instructions from you on matters that are considered "routine." If you do not give specific instructions to your broker or other nominee holder, that party will be entitled to vote your shares in its discretion on Proposal No. 1 (the Election of Class II Directors) and Proposal No. 9 (Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Auditors), but it will not have the discretion to vote your shares on any other proposals. As described above, a broker or nominee will not vote your shares on any non-routine matters for which you have not given your nominee holder specific instructions, and your shares will be counted as "broker non-votes" on those proposals.

3

Vote Required

The votes required to approve the respective proposals to be considered at the Annual Meeting are as follows:

Proposal No. 1 Election of Class II Directors. The directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast in the election.

Proposal Nos. 2 through 6 Amendment of the Supermajority Provisions. Each proposed amendment to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation requires the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the combined voting power of the shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock.

Proposal Nos. 7 and 8 Approval of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan and the Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Each plan must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

Proposal No. 9 Ratification of Selection of Auditors. The appointment of the independent auditor must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

VOTING SECURITIES

The Common Stock and the Preferred Stock are the only voting securities of the Company currently outstanding. As of the close of business on March 24, 2004, the record date for the Annual Meeting, there were 13,113,934 shares of Common Stock and 2,634,016 shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. Each share of Common Stock and each share of Preferred Stock is entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, and the Common Stock and Preferred Stock will vote together as a single class on all matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting. Therefore, an aggregate of 15,747,950 votes could possibly be cast at the Annual Meeting.

2

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth (a) as of the date indicated in the applicable Schedule 13D or 13G with respect to each person identified as having filed a Schedule 13D or 13G and (b) as of March 24, 2004 with respect to the other persons listed in the table, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock and the percentage of each class beneficially owned:

by each person known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of any outstanding class of voting securities of the Company;

by each current director, nominee for election as a director and by each current or former executive officer identified in the Summary Compensation Table; and

by all current directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Except as otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table, and subject to applicable community property laws, each person has the sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned. The address of each person listed is in care of 3D Systems Corporation, 26081 Avenue Hall, California 91355, unless otherwise specified.

		Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned(1)		eferred Stock V Owned(1)
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Number of	Percentage	Number of	Percentage
	Shares	Ownership	Shares	Ownership

		Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned(1)		Shares of Preferred Stock Beneficially Owned(1)		
The Clark Estates, Inc. One Rockefeller Plaza, New York, New York 10020	2,061,301(2)	15.7%	833,333	31.6%		
T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. 100 East Pratt Street Baltimore, Maryland 21202	1,747,348(3)	13.3%	263,482	10.0%		
Daruma Asset Management, Inc. 60 East 42nd Street, Suite 1111, New York, New York 101651	1,524,400(4)	11.6%				
St. Denis J. Villere & Company 210 Baronne Street, Suite 808, New Orleans, Louisiana 70112	1,393,914(5)	10.6%				
3D Systems 2003 Grat Lisa P. Selz Trustee c/o Bernard Selz ING Furman Selz 230 Park Ave. New York, NY 10169	665,000(6)	5.1%	665,000	25.2%		
Austin W. Marxe and David M. Greenhouse 153 East 53rd Street 55th Floor New York, New York 10022	832,975(7)	6.3%				
Goldsmith & Harris Incorporated 80 Pine Street New York, New York 10005	705,141(8)	5.4%	66,700	2.5%		
Philip W. Goldsmith 350 East 72nd Street New York, New York 10021	732,641(9)	5.6%	66,700	2.5%		
Jay R. Harris 130 East End Avenue New York, New York 10028	925,526(10)	7.1%	99,700	3.8%		

5

Miriam V. Gold	51,132(11)	*		
Charles W. Hull	580,933(12)	4.4%	8,333	*
Jim D. Kever	137,282(13)	1.0%		
G. Walter Loewenbaum II	1,423,798(14)	10.9%	208,334	7.9%
Kevin S. Moore	2,081,944(15)	15.9%	833,333	31.6%
Abraham N. Reichental	152,578(16)	1.2%		
Richard C. Spalding	9,298(17)	*		
Kevin McAlea, Ph.D.	42,798(18)	*	3,333	*
Ray R. Saunders	41,833(19)	*	2,833	*
Robert M. Grace, Jr.	14,912(20)	*		
Fred R. Jones	10,000	*		
G. Peter V. White	21,250(21)	*		
Kevin M. McNamara	33,333(22)	*		
Grant R. Flaharty	198,960(23)	1.5%		
Brian K. Service	295,900(24)	2.2%	25,000	*
All current directors and executive officers as a				
group (12 persons)	4,567,758(25)	34.8%	1,056,166	40.1%

*

Less than one percent

- The percentage ownership is based on 13,113,934 shares of Common Stock and 2,634,016 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding as of March 24, 2004, the record date for the Annual Meeting. Common Stock numbers include, with respect to the stockholder in question, (a) shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of March 1, 2004 (b) shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of outstanding 6% and 7% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company and (c) shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. All outstanding 6% and 7% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company and all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock currently are convertible into Common Stock. Each share of Preferred Stock is convertible into one share of Common Stock.
- Includes 833,333 shares of Preferred Stock that are convertible into 833,333 shares of Common Stock and 294,696 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company. The Clark Estates, Inc. is a private investment firm. Kevin S. Moore, a director of the Company, is the President and a director of The Clark Estates, Inc. and is the President of Ninth Floor Corporation, which is the general partner of Clark Partners I, L.P. The Clark Estates, Inc. provides management and administrative services to Clark Partners I, L.P., which in turn owns certain of the Company's securities. Information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's securities by The Clark Estates, Inc. is taken exclusively from Amendment No. 4 to the Schedule 13D filed by The Clark Estates, Inc. on December 10, 2003.
- These securities are owned by various individual and institutional investors, including T. Rowe Price Small-Cap Value Fund, Inc. (which owns 1,032,000 shares of Common Stock directly, 263,482 shares of Preferred Stock that are convertible into 263,482 shares of Common Stock and 451,866 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company, representing in the aggregate 12.8% of the shares of the Common Stock outstanding assuming such conversion), for which T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. serves as investment advisor with power to direct and/or sole power to vote the securities. For purposes of the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, T. Rowe Price is deemed to be a beneficial owner of these securities; however, T. Rowe Price expressly disclaims that it is the beneficial

6

owner of these securities. All information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's securities by T. Rowe Price, other than ownership of Preferred Stock and the 6% convertible subordinated debentures, is taken exclusively from Amendment No. 2 to the Schedule 13G filed by T. Rowe Price on February 12, 2004.

- Daruma Asset Management, Inc., a New York corporation, is an investment advisor registered under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940. These securities are beneficially owned by one or more investment advisory clients whose accounts are managed by Daruma. The investment advisory contracts relating to these accounts grant to Daruma sole investment and/or voting power over the securities owned by the accounts. Therefore, Daruma may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these securities for purposes of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act. Daruma has sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of 1,524,400 shares of Common Stock and sole power to vote or direct the vote of 723,700 shares of Common Stock. Mariko O. Gordon owns in excess of 50% of the outstanding voting stock and is the president of Daruma. Ms. Gordon may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of securities held by persons and entities advised by Daruma for purposes of Rule 13d-3. Daruma and Ms. Gordon each disclaims beneficial ownership in any of these securities. Daruma and Ms. Gordon are of the view that they are not acting as a "group" for purposes of Section 13(d) under the Exchange Act and that they are not otherwise required to attribute to each other the "beneficial ownership" of securities held by any of them or by any persons or entities advised by Daruma. All information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's securities by Daruma is taken exclusively from Amendment No. 3 to the Schedule 13G filed by Daruma and Mrs. Gordon on February 12, 2004.
- St. Denis J. Villere & Company is a Louisiana limited liability company and an investment advisor registered under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940. As of December 31, 2003, Villere was deemed to have or share voting or dispositive power over, and therefore to own beneficially, 1,393,914 shares of Common Stock. Of that amount, Villere has sole voting and dispositive power over 106,033 shares of Common Stock and shared voting and dispositive power over 1,287,881 shares of Common Stock. All information regarding the beneficial ownership of Company securities by Villere is taken exclusively from Amendment No. 3 to the Schedule 13G filed by Villere on February 10, 2004.
- (6) Represents 665,000 shares of Preferred Stock that are convertible into 665,000 shares of Common Stock.

- Austin W. Marxe and David M. Greenhouse jointly filed a Schedule 13G dated February 17, 2004 which states that they share sole voting and investment power over a total of 145,352 shares of Common Stock and an additional 687,623 shares of Common Stock that are issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company, which shares and debentures are owned by the investment funds listed below. Such Schedule 13G states that Messrs. Marxe and Greenhouse are the controlling principals of AWM Investment Company, Inc. ("AWM"), the general partner of and investment adviser to Special Situations Cayman Fund, L.P. AWM also serves as the general partner of and investment adviser to Special Situations Technology Fund, II, L.P. Such Schedule 13G states that the principal business of each fund is to invest in equity and equity-related securities and other securities of any kind or nature.
- Goldsmith & Harris Incorporated filed a Schedule 13G on February 12, 2004 that states that, through its executive officers, it is the beneficial owner of 705,141 shares of Common Stock, including 66,700 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 66,700 shares of Preferred Stock and 29,469 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Company's 6% convertible debentures, by virtue of its investment discretion over accounts of its clients that hold shares of Common Stock or such convertible securities. Goldsmith & Harris has the sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of such shares. Such Schedule 13G states that Goldsmith &

7

Harris is a broker-dealer registered under Section 15 of the Exchange Act and an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

- Mr. Goldsmith filed a Schedule 13G on February 12, 2004 that states that he is the beneficial owner of 732,641 shares of Common Stock, including the 705,141 shares beneficially owned by Goldsmith & Harris (see note 8 above). Such Schedule 13G indicates that, in addition to the Goldsmith & Harris shares, Mr. Goldsmith has the sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 27,000 shares of Common Stock and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 27,500 shares of the Common Stock. Such Schedule 13G states that Mr. Goldsmith is the beneficial owner of such shares of through his IRA, his power of attorney for various accounts, and his position as Chairman of Goldsmith & Harris.
- Mr. Harris filed a Schedule 13G on February 12, 2004 that states that he is the beneficial owner of 925,526 shares of Common Stock, including the 705,141 shares beneficially owned by Goldsmith & Harris (see note 8 above). Such Schedule 13G indicates that, in addition to the Goldsmith & Harris shares, Mr. Harris has the sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 205,785 shares of Common Stock, and the sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of 220,385 shares of Common Stock, including 33,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of 33,000 shares of Preferred Stock held and 49,115 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company. Such Schedule 13G indicates that Mr. Harris' beneficial ownership of such shares is derived through his direct, personal ownership of shares of Common Stock, his IRA, his power of attorney for various accounts, his position as General Partner of One GT Associates, and his position as President of Goldsmith & Harris.
- (11)
 Includes 50,832 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004.
- Includes (a) 82,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) 490,100 shares of Common Stock and 8,333 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 8,333 shares of Common Stock held in the Charles William Hull and Charlene Antoinette Hull 1992 Revocable Living Trust for which Mr. and Mrs. Hull serve as trustees. Mr. Hull disclaims beneficial ownership, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein, of the 8,333 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the shares of Preferred Stock described above.
- Includes (a) 47,499 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004, (b) 29,167 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 7% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company and (c) 49,116 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company. Mr. Kever disclaims beneficial ownership of 8,333 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the 7% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company and 24,558 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company, which debentures are held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Kever's minor children.

Includes (a) 45,371 shares held in the name of Lillian Shaw Loewenbaum, Mr. Loewenbaum's wife, (b) 1,181 shares held in the name of The Lillian Shaw Loewenbaum Trust for which Mr. and Mrs. Loewenbaum serve as trustees, (c) 55,219 shares held in the name of The Loewenbaum 1992 Trust for which Mr. and Mrs. Loewenbaum serve as trustees, (d) 151,900 shares held in the name of G. Walter Loewenbaum CGM Profit Sharing Custodian, G. Walter Loewenbaum Trustee, Mr. Loewenbaum's pension plan, (e) 16,594 shares held in the name of the Anna Willis Loewenbaum 1993 Trust for which Mr. and Mrs. Loewenbaum serve as trustees, (f) 16,594 shares held in the name of the Elizabeth Scott Loewenbaum 1993 Trust for which Mr. and Mrs. Loewenbaum serve as trustees, (g) 10,947 shares held in the name of Wally's Trust u/w/o Joel Simon Loewenbaum for which Mr. Loewenbaum serves as trustee, (h) 200,000 shares of Common

8

Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004, (i) 208,334 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 208,334 shares of Common Stock, (j) 83,334 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 7% convertible subordinated debentures, and (k) 152,259 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures. Mr. Loewenbaum disclaims beneficial ownership except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein of (i) the 83,334 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the 7% convertible subordinated debentures, (ii) 83,496 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the 6% convertible subordinated debentures and (iii) any other securities not directly held by him.

- Includes (a) 20,643 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) all shares shown above as being beneficially owned by The Clark Estates, Inc., with respect to which Mr. Moore disclaims beneficial ownership except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. See Note 2 above.
- Includes (a) 3,462 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) 49,116 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company.
- (17)
 Represents 9,298 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004.
- Includes (a) 37,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004, (b) 3,333 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 3,333 shares of Common Stock and (c) 1,965 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures.
- (19) Includes (a) 39,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) 2,833 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 2,833 shares of Common Stock.
- (20) Includes 4,912 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures.
- (21)
 Represents 21,250 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004.
- Includes (a) 25,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) 8,333 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 7% convertible subordinated debentures. Mr. McNamara served as Interim Chief Financial Officer from August 15, 2003 until December 25, 2003.
- Includes 187,500 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004. Mr. Flaharty ceased to be an executive officer effective May 23, 2003.

(24)

Includes (a) 270,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004 and (b) 25,000 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 25,000 shares of Common Stock. Mr. Service ceased to be a director and executive officer effective August 8, 2003.

(25)

Includes an aggregate of (a) 515,317 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options exercisable within 60 days after March 1, 2004, (b) 1,056,166 shares of Preferred Stock which are convertible into 1,056,166 shares of Common Stock, (c) 112,501 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 7% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company and (d) 552,064 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 6% convertible subordinated debentures of the Company. The amounts of these securities held by the respective directors and executive officers are referenced in the notes above.

9

PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF CLASS II DIRECTORS

The Company's Certificate of Incorporation currently divides the Board of Directors into three classes serving staggered terms of three years. Currently, there are three directors in Class I, two directors in Class II and two directors in Class III.

The current Class II Directors, whose term of office expires at the 2004 Annual Meeting, have been nominated for re-election by the Board of Directors. If the Class II nominees are re-elected at the Annual Meeting, their new term of office will continue until the 2007 Annual Meeting. The current term of office of the Class I directors continues until the 2006 Annual Meeting, and the current term of office of Class III Directors continues until the 2005 Annual Meeting. If the proposal to amend the Supermajority Provision of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation calling for a classified Board of Directors is approved at the Annual Meeting, Directors elected after the Annual Meeting will serve for only one-year terms and until their successors are elected and qualified.

Shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock represented by a valid proxy will be voted in accordance with the voting instructions specified on the proxy. In the absence of specific voting instructions, shares represented by a valid proxy will be voted FOR the election of the of the Class II nominees named below. Each Class II nominee listed below has consented to being named in this Proxy Statement and to serve as a director if elected. If either Class II nominee is unable to stand for election or is unable or unwilling to serve as a director if elected, the shares represented by valid proxies may be voted in favor of such other person as may be recommended by the present Board of Directors. The Company is not aware of any nominee who is unwilling or will be unable to serve as a director if elected.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS YOU VOTE "FOR" THE CLASS II NOMINEES LISTED BELOW

The Class II Directors will be elected by the plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Broker non-votes and votes to "withhold" will be treated as described in "Quorum; Broker Non-Votes; Abstentions" above.

Information Regarding Class II Nominees and Continuing Directors

The following table sets forth for each Class II nominee and for each continuing Class I and Class III Director his or her business experience for the past five years, the year in which he or she first became a director of the Company, and his or her age as of March 1, 2004.

Name	Business Experience	Director Since	Age
CLASS II DIRECTOR NOMINEE:			
Miriam V. Gold	Ms. Gold has been Deputy General Counsel of Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corporation, a specialty chemicals company, since July 2002. Previously, Ms. Gold served as Assistant General Counsel of Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corporation, and its predecessors, Novartis Inc. and Ciba-Geigy Corporation.	1994	53

Name	Business Experience	Director Since	Age
	10		
Abraham N. Reichental	Mr. Reichental became the Company's President and Chief Executive and director effective September 19, 2003. For more than five years prior to joining the Company, Mr. Reichental served in executive management positions with Sealed Air Corporation, a global manufacturer of food, protective and specialty packaging materials, most recently serving as a corporate officer and Vice President and General Manager of its Shrink Packaging Division from May 2001 until September 2003 and previously as Vice President Asia-Pacific.	2003	47
CONTINUING CLASS I DIR	RECTORS: TERMS EXPIRE AT 2006 ANNUAL MEETING		
G. Walter Loewenbaum II	Mr. Loewenbaum has been the Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors since September 1999. He is also a director, and previously served as Managing Director, of LeCorgne Loewenbaum LLC, an investment banking firm, since 2000. Previously, he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Loewenbaum & Company (formerly Southcoast Capital Corp.), an investment banking and investment management firm that he founded. Mr. Loewenbaum also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Luminex Corporation, a manufacturer of laboratory testing equipment.	1999	58
Jim D. Kever	Mr. Kever has been a Principal in Voyent Partners, LLC, a venture capital partnership, since 2001. Previously, Mr. Kever was associated with WebMD Corporation (formerly Envoy Corporation), an internet-based healthcare services company, in its Transaction Services Division as the President and Co-Chief Executive Officer beginning in August 1995. Mr. Kever is also a director of Transaction Systems Architects, Inc., a supplier of electronic payment software products and network integration solutions, as well as Luminex Corporation, and Tyson Foods, Inc., an integrated processor of food products.	1996	51
Richard C. Spalding	Mr. Spalding has been a Partner of Thomas Weisel Healthcare Venture Partners, a venture capital group that he co-founded, since April 2003. He has also served as a General Partner of ABS Ventures, a venture capital group, since January 2000. Prior to that, he served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Portal Software, an internet billing company, between February 1997 and March 1999.	2001	52
	March 1999.		

Charles W. Hull	Mr. Hull has served as Chief Technology Officer of the Company since April 1997 and, since May 2000, as Executive Vice President. From August 8, 2003 until September 19, 2003, Mr. Hull served as Interim Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Hull also has served as Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company.	1993	64
Kevin S. Moore	Mr. Moore has been with The Clark Estates, Inc., a private investment firm, for more than five years, where he is currently President and a director. Mr. Moore is also a director of Cyberonics, Inc., a manufacturer of implantable medical devices, Aspect Resources LLC, The Clark Foundation and the National Baseball Hall of Fame & Museum, Inc.	1999	49

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Company's Board of Directors is comprised of a majority of independent directors. The Board has determined that Miriam V. Gold, Jim D. Kever, Kevin S. Moore and Richard C. Spalding are independent directors as defined in the listing standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD").

MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company's Board of Directors maintains an Audit Committee, a Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and a Compensation Committee. The Board of Directors has determined that each of the members of these committees is an independent director, as described above. Each of these committees operates under a written charter approved by the Board of Directors, as described below.

2003 Meetings of the Board of Directors

During 2003, the Board of Directors held 18 meetings (excluding actions by unanimous written consent). The Board of Directors holds executive sessions with only non-management directors in attendance at its regular meetings and at other meetings when circumstances warrant those sessions. Each current member of the Board of Directors, except for Mr. Kever, attended at least 75 percent of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board of Directors and of the committees of the Board on which he or she served during 2003.

Audit Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities for monitoring and overseeing the Company's systems of internal accounting and financial controls; the public reporting processes of the Company; the retention, performance, qualifications and independence of the Company's independent auditor; the performance of the Company's internal audit function; the annual independent audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements; the integrity of the Company's consolidated financial statements; and the Company's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee has the ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate, approve terms of retention and compensation of, and,

12

where appropriate, replace the independent auditor, subject to ratification of the selection of the independent auditor by the Company's stockholders at the annual meeting of stockholders. The Audit Committee operates under an amended and restated Audit Committee Charter, a copy of which is attached as Annex A to this Proxy Statement.

The current members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Spalding (Chairman), Kever and Moore. The Board of Directors has determined that all members of the Audit Committee meet the independence standards for audit committee members set forth in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the listing standards of the NASD. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in Item 401(h)(1) of Regulation S-K and therefore meets the NASD listing standards requirement of having accounting or related financial management expertise. The Audit Committee held eight meetings in 2003 (excluding actions by unanimous written consent). During 2003, the Audit Committee also held private sessions with the Company's independent auditor and the

Director of Internal Audit at several of its meetings, and the Chairman of the Audit Committee holds regular conferences with the Director of Internal Audit.

The report of the Audit Committee is set forth beginning on page 35 of this Proxy Statement.

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

In March 2004, the Board of Directors expanded the authority of its Corporate Governance Committee to include the responsibilities of a nominating committee and re-designated the committee the "Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee."

The principal responsibilities of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are to assist the Board of Directors in identifying individuals qualified to become Board members, to recommend to the Board of Directors director nominees for the next annual meeting of stockholders and to fill vacancies or newly-created directorships at other times; to recommend to the Board the corporate governance guidelines applicable to the Company; to lead the Board of Directors in its annual review of the performance of the Board of Directors and its committees; and to recommend to the Board of Directors director nominations for each committee. The current members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are Messrs. Moore (Chairman), Kever and Ms. Gold, each of whom is an independent director as defined in the listing standards of the NASD. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will consider director nominees recommended by stockholders of the Company in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Company's Amended and Restated By-Laws the "By-Laws"). A copy of the By-Law provisions relating to nomination of directors may be obtained from the Secretary of the Company, 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355. See "Stockholder Proposals for the 2005 Annual Meeting" below. The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting in 2003 (excluding actions by unanimous written consent).

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee operates under a written charter, a copy of which is posted at our website at www.3DSystems.com.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is comprised solely of "independent" directors, as that term is defined in the listing standards of the NASD and Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The members of the Compensation Committee are also "Non-Employee Directors" as defined in Rule 16b-3(b)(3)(i) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The principal responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are to determine the compensation of all executive officers of the Company and of the other employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with a base annual salary of \$200,000 or more; to review the performance and compensation of the Chief

13

Executive Officer of the Company; to administer the Company's stock option plans and to authorize the issuance of shares of Common Stock under the Company's stock option plans; and to perform the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors under the Company's Section 401(k) Plan. Consistent with the requirements of the listing standards of the NASD, the Chief Executive Officer may not be present during voting or deliberations regarding his or her compensation. The current members of the Compensation Committee are Ms. Gold (Chair) and Mr. Moore. The Compensation Committee held six meetings in 2003 (excluding actions by unanimous written consent).

The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter, a copy of which is posted at our website at www.3DSystems.com.

Policy on Attending Annual Meetings

The Company encourages, but does not require, all incumbent directors and director nominees to attend the Company's annual meetings of stockholders. At the Company's 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, five of the six directors then in office were in attendance.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

In addition to Ms. Gold and Mr. Moore, who served as members of the Compensation Committee during 2003, Mr. Loewenbaum served as a member of that committee from November 18, 2002 until August 26, 2003. See "Director Compensation" and "Certain Transactions" below. None of the Company's current executive officers served during 2003 as a director of any entity with which any of the Company's outside directors is associated.

Availability of Information

The Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, a Code of Conduct for employees of the Company and a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Executives and Directors, which are available on the Company's web site at www.3DSystems.com. See also "Code of Ethics" below.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Stockholders may communicate with the Board of Directors by sending an email to GraceB@3DSystems.com or by sending a letter to Board of Directors of 3D Systems Corporation, c/o Corporate Secretary, 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355. All communications must contain a clear notation indicating that they are a "Stockholder Board Communication" or a "Stockholder Director Communication" and must identify the author as a stockholder. The office of the Corporate Secretary will receive the correspondence and forward appropriate correspondence to the Chairman of the Board or to any individual director or directors to whom the communication is directed. The Company reserves the right not to forward to the Board of Directors any communication that is hostile, threatening, illegal, does not reasonably relate to the Company or its business, or is similarly inappropriate. The office of the Corporate Secretary has authority to discard or disregard any inappropriate communication or to take any other action that it deems to be appropriate with respect to any inappropriate communications.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Each of the independent directors of the Company is entitled to receive a cash retainer of \$15,000 per year for serving as a director and a fee of \$1,500 for each regular or special Board meeting he or she attends. The Chairman of the Audit Committee also receives a cash retainer of \$15,000 per year for serving as chairman of the Audit Committee, each other member of the Audit Committee receives a cash retainer of \$5,000 per year for serving as a member of that committee, and the Chairs of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee receive a cash

14

retainer of \$5,000 per year for serving as the chairpersons of those committees. Each of these directors also receives a fee of \$1,500 for each committee meeting attended on a day other than a day on which a regular meeting of the Board of Directors is held. Ms. Gold and Messrs. Kever, Moore and Spalding receive these directors' fees.

In addition to serving as a director and as Chairman of the Board, prior to November 2002, Mr. Loewenbaum was an employee of and a consultant to the Company. In November 2002, Mr. Loewenbaum ceased his employment with the Company, and the Board of Directors approved the payment to him of \$180,000 per year for his services as Chairman of the Board, which is the same rate of base compensation he had been paid as an employee of the Company.

The Company also maintains its 1996 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, under which each non-employee director of the Company receives stock options covering 10,000 shares of Common Stock at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the stockholders. Ms. Gold and Messrs. Kever, Loewenbaum, Moore and Spalding are entitled to participate in this Plan.

In addition, the 1996 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan provides that, if a non-employee director is elected or appointed a director at other than an annual meeting of stockholders, that person will be granted at the time of his or her election stock options covering a pro-rata portion of 10,000 shares of Common Stock multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which equals 365 minus the number of days between the last annual meeting of stockholders and the date of grant, and the denominator of which is 365.

The exercise price for options granted under the 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan is 100% of the fair market value of the Company's Common Stock on the date of grant. These options are not exercisable in the first six months following their grant (except in the case of death), vest as to one-third of the shares covered by each option on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant of each option, and are thereafter exercisable until the tenth anniversary of the grant date, subject to certain limitations if the person ceases to be a director. See "Approval of Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors" below.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth, as to the Company's current President and Chief Executive Officer, its former Chief Executive Officer and President, and as to each of the other most highly compensated officers, information concerning all compensation paid to each of those individuals for services to the Company in all capacities for each of the three years ended December 31, 2003 during which such individuals served as executives of the Company, as indicated below. Because of the changes that were made in the Company's management in 2003, information is set forth in the following table for each of the Company's current executive officers, regardless of whether their actual compensation exceeded \$100,000 in 2003.

			Annual Compensation(1)					g-Term tion Awards	
Name and Principal Position	Year Ended December 31	Salary		Bonus	Number of Securities Underlying Options	(Stock Grants(2)		All Other Compensation
Abraham N. Reichental(3) President and Chief Executive Officer	2003 \$	5 114,231	\$	100,000	400,000	\$	725,000	\$	14,916(4)
Brian K. Service(5) Former Chief Executive Officer and President	2003 \$ 2002 \$ 2001 \$	87,264(5)	*		350,000			\$ \$	362,450 130,587
Charles W. Hull(6) Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer	2003 \$ 2002 \$ 2001 \$	275,000			10,000			\$ \$	2,040(7) 26,679(7)
Kevin McAlea, Ph.D. Senior Vice President	2003 \$	217,724			55,000			\$	23,062(4)
G. Peter V. White(8) Vice President, Finance	2003 \$	5 176,000			85,000			\$	3,096(4)
Robert M. Grace, Jr.(9) Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary	2003 \$	30,288			40,000	\$	96,000		
Fred R. Jones(10) Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2003 \$	5			100,000	\$	98,000		
Ray R. Saunders Senior Vice President	2003 \$ 2002 \$ 2001 \$	173,046	\$	8,727	25,000 10,000 11,500			\$ \$	1,839(7) 1,753(7)
Grant R. Flaharty(11) Former President and Chief Operating Officer	2003 \$ 2002 \$ 2001 \$	314,000	\$ \$ \$		25,000 10,000			\$ \$ \$	10,663(4) 1,823(7) 9,941(7)
Kevin M. McNamara(12) Interim Chief Financial Officer	2003 \$	3	\$		25,000				

⁽¹⁾ Perquisites, other personal benefits, securities and property paid or accrued during each year not otherwise reported did not exceed for any named executive officer the lesser of \$50,000 or 10% of the annual compensation reported in the Summary Compensation Table for that individual.

Represents the fair market value on the date of hire of a grant of shares of Common Stock. The total number of shares of Common Stock covered by grants made to each named executive officer as of December 31, 2003 is set forth in the following table together with the fair market values of such shares at December 31, 2003:

Name	Number of Shares	Value at December 31, 2003		
Abraham N. Reichental	100,000	\$	1,015,000	
Robert M. Grace, Jr.	10,000		101,500	
Fred R. Jones	10,000		101,500	

- (3)
 Mr. Reichental was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Company effective September 19, 2003. For additional information concerning Mr. Reichental's compensation, see "Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers" below.
- (4) Consists of relocation expenses.
- Mr. Service served as Chief Executive Officer and President and as a director of the Company from September 16, 1999 until August 8, 2003. Prior to September 2002, Mr. Service was compensated for his services by Regent Pacific Management Corporation under an agreement pursuant to which that corporation provided management services to the Company, including the services of Mr. Service, at an aggregate fee of \$45,000 per week. That management agreement terminated in September 2002. Amounts shown as salary for Mr. Service are amounts paid to him under an employment agreement with the Company dated October 16, 2002 and salary continuation under a letter agreement dated August 8, 2003. Amounts shown as Other Compensation for Mr. Service consist of consulting fees paid to him directly or to Brian K. Service, Inc., a consulting firm controlled by Mr. Service. See "Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers" below.
- (6)
 Mr. Hull, who has been an officer of the Company for many years, served as interim Chief Executive Officer from August 9 until September 18, 2003.
 See "Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers" and "Certain Transactions" below.
- (7)

 Consists of the value of insurance premiums for employer paid group-term life insurance and employer matching contributions made pursuant to the Company's Section 401(k) plan and includes for Mr. Hull, in 2001, loan forgiveness of \$23,671. See "Certain Transactions" below.
- (8)
 Mr. White was elected to his position effective March 5, 2003.
- (9)
 Mr. Grace was elected to his position effective November 3, 2003.
- (10)
 Mr. Jones became the Company's Vice President and Chief Financial Officer effective December 26, 2003. For information concerning Mr. Jones' compensation, see "Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers" below.
- (11) Mr. Flaharty ceased to be an executive officer effective May 23, 2003.
- Mr. McNamara served as the Company's Interim Chief Financial Officer from August 15, 2003 until December 25, 2003 under a month-to-month consulting agreement dated as of June 2, 2003 pursuant to which he was paid \$240,000 in 2003 and was granted 25,000 fully vested 10-year options on June 2, 2003 exercisable at \$5.91 per share, which was the closing market price of the Common Stock on that date.

Report of the Compensation Committee on Executive Compensation

The following report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors sets forth information about the Company's executive compensation program and the 2003 compensation of the current executive officers of the Company named above in the Summary Compensation Table.

Compensation Philosophy

The Company's executive compensation program consists of salaries, annual bonuses tied to performance, and awards under the Company's stock option plans, including its 1996 Stock Incentive Plan and its 2001 Stock Option Plan. The Company's executive compensation philosophy

is to provide compensation at a level that will permit it to retain its existing executives and to attract new executives with the skills and attributes needed by the Company. In reaching its decisions, the Committee is guided by its own judgment and those sources of information (including compensation surveys) that the Committee considers relevant.

17

This program is designed to provide appropriate incentives toward achieving the Company's annual and long-term strategic objectives, to support a performance-oriented environment based on the attainment of goals and objectives intended to benefit the Company and its stockholders and to create an identity of interests between the Company's executives and its stockholders as well as to attract, retain and motivate key executives.

Salaries and Annual Bonuses

The Committee is responsible for setting the compensation of all executive officers, including the executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table, and other employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with base salaries of \$200,000 or more. The Committee conducts an annual compensation review during the first quarter of the year. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company submits salary and bonus recommendations to the Committee for the other executive officers and employees whose compensation is set by the Committee. Following a review of those recommendations, the Committee approves cash bonuses for the prior year and salary rates and cash bonus objectives for the current year for the other executive officers and employees, with such modifications to the Chief Executive Officer's recommendations as the Committee considers appropriate. Also, the Committee may adjust salaries for specific executive officers or employees at other times during the year when there are significant changes in the responsibility of such officers or employees.

The Committee's review of the Chief Executive Officer's compensation is subject to separate procedures that are discussed below.

The Committee bases its decisions on adjustments to salary and cash bonus objectives principally on the responsibilities of the particular executive and on the Committee's evaluation of the market demand for executives of the capability and experience employed by the Company in relation to the total compensation paid to the particular executive. The Committee sets annual cash bonus objectives at a level that links a substantial portion of each individual's annual cash compensation to attaining the performance objectives discussed below in order to provide appropriate incentives to attaining such objectives.

Cash bonuses are determined based upon the attainment of corporate and individual performance objectives for the year in question. The Committee generally places greater emphasis on financial performance than on other personal performance objectives. The principal measure of corporate performance used to establish annual cash bonuses is the extent to which the Company achieved its business plan for the year in question. Such business plan is developed by management and approved by the Board of Directors early in the year. The Committee does not rely exclusively on any single measure of financial performance to measure achievement of the Company's business plan. However, the greatest weight is given to the achievement of budgeted targets for net sales, operating income, net earnings, return on operating assets, measures of expense control, balance sheet items and cash flow as measured by earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (commonly called "EBITDA"). The Company does not make its business plans public. Accordingly, the specific financial targets upon which annual cash bonus objectives are based are not publicly available. Executives, including the Chief Executive Officer, are also evaluated based upon their attainment of individual management objectives within their particular areas of responsibility.

During the first quarter of 2004, the Compensation Committee conducted a compensation review for the current executive officers of the Company named in the Summary Compensation Table in connection with which Mr. Reichental submitted recommendations to the Committee. Based on those recommendations and the Committee's evaluation of the performance of the Company in 2003, no adjustments were made to the salaries of any of the named executive officers, nor were any bonuses awarded to them. The Committee recognized the substantial contributions that the current executive officers made in 2003 to improving the Company's operations and financial condition during the latter

18

part of the year but determined that the Company's current operating results and financial condition would not warrant any salary increases or 2003 bonus awards. The Committee also approved 2004 bonus goals and objectives for such individuals.

Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer

The Compensation Committee, after receiving the views of other Non-Employee Directors, evaluates the performance of the Chief Executive Officer, reviews the Committee's evaluation with him, and based on that evaluation and review decides his compensation and performance and bonus objectives. Consistent with the requirements of the listing standards of the NASD, the Chief Executive Officer may not be present during voting or deliberations regarding his or her compensation.

Mr. Reichental joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer on September 19, 2003 and entered into an employment agreement at that time which sets forth his initial salary, the range of his cash bonus objectives and certain equity and other compensation that was awarded to him at the time he joined the Company. See "Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers" below for a description of Mr. Reichental's employment agreement. In considering the overall compensation package offered to Mr. Reichental, the directors reviewed, among other things, the extensive search conducted with the assistance of a reputable executive search firm and that firm's input in terms of industry norms and compensation packages provided by similarly situated public companies, the immediate and significant need of the Company to retain a qualified candidate to serve in the position of Chief Executive Officer, the existence of competitive offers of employment for Mr. Reichental's services, the amount of compensation that Mr. Reichental otherwise would receive at his current place of employment but would forgo in light of his termination of employment, the amount of compensation that the Company likely would be able to afford taking into account its current cash position and its projections, the portion of the compensation package that is dependent upon the satisfaction of performance objectives to be established by the Compensation Committee, and any executive benefits or perquisites included in the compensation package.

During the first quarter of 2004, the Committee conducted a review of Mr. Reichental's compensation. Notwithstanding the strong leadership that Mr. Reichental has demonstrated since he joined the Company, in view of the Company's performance in 2003, Mr. Reichental was not granted a bonus for 2003, and his salary was not increased. The amount of the bonus shown for him in the Summary Compensation Table was paid to him in 2003 as an inducement to his becoming the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. In the course of such review, the Committee also approved Mr. Reichental's 2004 bonus goals and objectives.

Stock Option Plans

The Committee administers the Company's 1996 Stock Incentive Plan and 2001 Stock Option Plan, and it is authorized to grant stock options and other awards that are provided for under those Plans. The number of options granted to an individual is based upon a number of factors, including his or her position, salary and performance, and the overall performance of the Company.

During 2003, the Company granted stock options to certain of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, including Mr. Reichental. Certain of these named executive officers received such stock option grants as part of their compensation package at the time they joined the Company and were also granted shares of Common Stock at that time. These awards were designed to more closely align the interests of the recipients with the interests of the stockholders and to provide them an incentive to work toward the creation of long-term stockholder value. See "Option Grants in 2003" below and Note 2 to the Summary Compensation Table above.

As is discussed below in this Proxy Statement, the Company proposes to replace its existing stock option program with a new 2004 Incentive Stock Plan that will provide for the issuance of restricted

19

stock awards, incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options. This 2004 Incentive Stock Plan is intended to provide an effective method of motivating performance of key employees, including executive officers of the Company, and of creating an identity of interests in participating employees with the interests of the stockholders. See "Proposal No. 7 Approval of 2004 Incentive Stock Plan" below for a discussion of this proposal.

Compliance with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code

Under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a public company is generally not entitled to a deduction for Federal tax purposes for non-performance-based compensation paid to its executive officers who are named in the Summary Compensation Table to the extent any such individuals' compensation in any year exceeds \$1.0 million. Special rules apply for "performance-based" compensation, including the pre-approval of performance goals applicable to that compensation.

All compensation paid to the Company's named executive officers in fiscal 2003 was fully deductible. With respect to compensation to be paid to named executive officers in 2004 and future years, in certain instances their compensation may exceed \$1.0 million. However, in order to maintain flexibility in compensating executive officers in a manner designed to promote varying corporate goals, the Committee has not adopted a policy that all compensation must be deductible for Federal income tax purposes.

Compensation Committee

Miriam V. Gold, Chair Kevin S. Moore

20

Employment and Other Agreements with Executive Officers

Abraham N. Reichental

Effective September 19, 2003, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Abraham N. Reichental pursuant to which he was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of Directors. Pursuant to this agreement, his annual base salary is \$450,000 per year, subject to increase at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. In addition to standard benefits, he participates in an incentive compensation plan, based upon performance, with a target bonus of \$250,000 per year, subject to a maximum potential bonus equal to 100% of his base salary, as further described in Mr. Reichental's employment agreement. At the time he was hired, Mr. Reichental received a \$100,000 cash bonus and a stock grant of 100,000 shares of Common Stock. He also received stock options covering 400,000 shares of Common Stock subject to a four-year vesting schedule. Of the stock options received, 55,401 shares are incentive stock options and 344,599 shares are non-qualified stock options. Mr. Reichental's agreement has a term of two years commencing September 19, 2003 and is renewable automatically for succeeding terms of one year, unless the Company or Mr. Reichental gives written notice of intent not to renew. If the Company gives notice to Mr. Reichental of its intention not to renew the employment agreement, or if Mr. Reichental's employment is terminated by reason of death or by the Company without cause (as defined in the employment agreement), Mr. Reichental will receive as severance: (a) the same health and disability benefits as he receives under the employment agreement for two years or until he obtains other employment providing for these benefits, (b) two years of his then current base salary, in the total sum of at least \$900,000, together with a bonus with respect to the year of termination equal to a pro-rata amount of the bonus which he would have received for that year based on the annualized performance of the Company up to the date of termination, and (c) all unvested stock options, which shall fully vest upon and no later than the termination of Mr. Reichental's employment.

Fred R. Jones

Effective December 26, 2003, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Fred R. Jones pursuant to which he was appointed Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr. Jones' annual base salary is \$250,000 per year, subject to increase at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. In addition to standard benefits, he participates in an incentive compensation plan, based upon performance, with a target bonus equal to 50% of his base salary, subject to a maximum potential bonus equal to 100% of his base salary, as further described in his employment agreement. At the time he was hired, he received a stock grant of 10,000 shares of Common Stock and stock options for 100,000 shares of Common Stock subject to a four-year vesting schedule. Of the stock options received, 40,800 shares are incentive stock options and 59,200 shares are non-qualified stock options. The term of his agreement is for two years commencing December 26, 2003. The agreement is renewable automatically for succeeding terms of one year, unless the Company or Mr. Jones gives written notice of intent not to renew. If the Company gives notice to Mr. Jones of its intention not to renew the employment agreement, or Mr. Jones' employment is terminated by reason of death or by the Company without cause (as defined in the employment agreement), or under certain circumstances following a change of control, as defined in the employment agreement, Mr. Jones will receive as severance: (a) the same health and disability benefits as he receives under the employment agreement for two years or until he obtains other employment providing for these benefits, (b) two years of his then current base salary, in the total sum of at least \$500,000, together with a bonus with respect to the year of termination equal to a pro-rata amount of the bonus which he would have received for that year, and (c) all unvested stock options, which shall fully yest upon and no later than the termination of his employme

21

Brian K. Service

From September 10, 2002 through October 15, 2002, the Company engaged Mr. Service on an interim consulting basis for which he was paid \$79,999. Prior to September 2002, Mr. Service was compensated for his services by Regent Pacific Management Corporation, which the Company had retained to provide management services to the Company, including the services of the Chief Executive Officer, at an aggregate fee of \$45,000 per week.

On October 15, 2002, Mr. Service entered into an employment agreement with the Company under which he was entitled to be paid an annual base salary of \$463,000 and was awarded fully vested options, with a term of five years, to purchase 350,000 shares of Common Stock at

a price of \$5.78 per share, which was the closing price of the Common Stock on October 15, 2002. From October 15, 2002 until his resignation as an officer and director of the Company on August 8, 2003, Mr. Service was employed by the Company as Chief Executive Officer and President and served as a director of the Company.

On November 18, 2002, the Company and Brian K. Service, Inc. ("BKS"), a corporation in which Mr. Service was a stockholder, officer and director, entered into a consulting agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay to BKS over an initial 11-month term a monthly fee \$15,000 plus additional consultant-based fees at the rate of \$15,000 per week per consultant furnished by BKS during such week to perform consulting services to the Company. The agreement provided that the amount to be paid to BKS for such consultant-based fees was to be subject to a maximum of \$130,000 in excess of the costs incurred by BKS for such consultants.

On August 8, 2003, the Company and Mr. Service entered into a letter agreement pursuant to which he resigned from his offices with the Company and from the Board of Directors, his employment and consulting agreements with the Company were amended to provide for him to receive a total of \$300,211 for the remainder of 2003, and those agreements were terminated except for an indemnification obligation of the Company set forth in his consulting agreement. The August 8, 2003 agreement also provided that Mr. Service would remain an employee of the Company for a period extending up to August 8, 2005 at a base salary of \$94,000 per year.

From September 10, 2002 through December 31, 2003, the Company paid Mr. Service \$87,264 in salary in 2002 and \$511,692 in salary in 2003 and paid to Mr. Service and BKS \$130,587 in consulting fees in 2002 and \$362,450 in consulting fees in 2003.

Charles W. Hull

Mr. Hull and the Company are parties to a consulting agreement pursuant to which, upon his retirement, Mr. Hull will become a consultant to the Company for a period of four years at a fixed consulting fee that will decline from \$275,000 in the first year to \$100,000 in the fourth year, and he will remain entitled to certain customary benefits provided by the Company to employees during the term of that agreement.

Certain Transactions

From January 1980 to March 1986, Mr. Hull was Vice President of UVP, Inc. ("UVP"), a systems manufacturing company, where he developed the Company's stereolithography technology. In 1990, the Company acquired the patents for this technology from UVP. Under the terms of that transaction, the Company is obligated to pay certain amounts, subject to certain conditions, based upon the Company's sales of stereolithography systems and licensing of the acquired patents. Pursuant to a 1987 contract between UVP and Mr. Hull, he is entitled to receive from UVP 10% of all royalties or other amounts that the Company pays to UVP with respect to the acquired patents after recoupment of certain

22

expenses by UVP. The Company has been advised that, through December 31, 2003, Mr. Hull has received \$704,000 from UVP under that contract.

Pursuant to a 1998 Executive Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, the Company offered loans to its executive officers of up to \$60,000 to purchase shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Company's 1996 Stock Incentive Plan. In 1998, Mr. Hull borrowed \$60,000 pursuant to this program at an interest rate of 6% per year in order to purchase 9,619 shares of Common Stock. That note was secured by the shares of Common Stock purchased. In July 2003, pursuant to the terms of the note and related transaction documents, the \$45,232 remaining principal amount of this note, including accrued interest, was retired in exchange for 6,031 shares of Common Stock having a then current market value equivalent to the outstanding principal amount of that note.

In June 2000, the Company entered into a distribution agreement for ThermoJet® printers with 3D Solid Solutions ("3DSS"), a partnership controlled by Mr. Loewenbaum, the Chairman of the Board of Directors. In 2003, 3DSS purchased no products or services from the Company.

In connection with the Company's private placement of its Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in May 2003, Messrs. Loewenbaum, Service and Hull, purchased \$1.5 million of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock out of the total \$15.8 million issue of these securities. In addition, Clark Partners I, L.P., a New York limited partnership, purchased \$5.0 million of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Kevin S. Moore, a member of the Board of Directors, is the president of the general partner of Clark Partners I, L.P. See "Voting Securities-Beneficial Ownership Table" above. In connection with this offering, Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin rendered its opinion that the terms of the offering were fair to the Company from a financial point of view. A special committee of the Board of Directors, composed entirely of disinterested independent directors, approved the offer and sale of the preferred shares and recommended the transaction to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also approved this transaction, with interested Board members not participating in the vote.

In connection with the Company's private placement of its 6% convertible subordinated debentures in November and December 2003, Messrs. Reichental, Loewenbaum, Kever, McAlea and Grace purchased an aggregate of \$2.6 million of the total of \$22.7 million of the 6% convertible subordinated debentures that were issued. In addition, Clark Partners I, L.P. purchased \$3.0 million of the 6% convertible subordinated debentures. See "Voting Securities-Beneficial Ownership Table" above. In connection with this offering, Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin rendered its opinion that the terms of the offering were fair to the Company from a financial point of view. A special committee of the Board of Directors, composed entirely of disinterested independent directors, approved the offer and sale of the 6% convertible subordinated debentures and recommended the transaction to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also approved this transaction.

23

OPTION GRANTS IN 2003

The following table sets forth certain information regarding stock options granted during 2003 to the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table.

	Number of Shares of Common Stock Underlying	Percent of Total Options Granted To	Exercise or	_	Potential Realizable Value at Assumed Rates of Stock Price Appreciation for Option Term(3)		
Name	Options Granted	Employees in 2003(1)	Base Price(2)	Expiration Date	5%	10%	
Abraham N. Reichental	400,000	38.5%	\$ 7.22	9/19/13	\$ 2,318,347 \$	5,402,001	
Kevin McAlea, Ph.D	55,000	5.3%	5.31	5/15/13	183,669	465,452	
G. Peter V. White	85,000	8.2%	7.25	3/5/13	387,289	981,466	
Robert M. Grace, Jr.	40,000	3.9%	9.60	11/3/13	218,691	575,685	
Fred R. Jones	100,000	9.6%	9.80	12/26/13	608,172	1,548,899	
Ray R. Saunders	25,000	2.4%	5.31	5/15/13	83,485	211,569	
Kevin M. McNamara	25,000	2.4%	5.91	6/2/13	101,471	249,093	

- (1) Options to purchase an aggregate of 1,038,500 shares of Common Stock were granted to employees in 2003.
- (2)

 The exercise price and tax withholding obligations related to exercise may be paid by delivery of already owned shares, subject to certain conditions.
- The potential realizable value is based on the assumption that the Common Stock appreciates at the annual rate shown (compounded annually) from the date of grant until the expiration of the option term. These amounts are calculated pursuant to the applicable requirements of Item 402(c) of Regulation S-K and do not represent a forecast of the future value of the Common Stock.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN 2003 AND 2003 YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

The following table sets forth, for each of the current executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, certain information regarding the exercise of stock options during 2003, the number of shares of Common Stock underlying stock options held at the end of 2003 and the value of options held at the end of 2003 based upon the last reported sales price (\$10.15 per share) of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq National Market on December 31, 2003.

Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options

Value of Unexercised In-the-Money Options

		at December 3df 2003 Securities Underlying Unexercised Options at December 31, 2003			at December 31, 2003		
Name	Shares Acquired on Exercise	Value Realized					
				Unexercisable	Exercisable	Unexercisable	
Abraham N. Reichental			3,462	396,538	\$ 10,147	\$ 1,162,253	
Brian K. Service			350,000		1,566,250		
Charles W. Hull			80,000	5,000			
Kevin McAlea, Ph.D.			Exercisable 37,500	92,500		266,200	
G. Peter V. White				85,000		246,925	
Robert M. Grace, Jr.				40,000		22,000	
Fred R. Jones				100,000		35,000	
Ray R. Saunders			39,000	37,500		121,000	
Grant R. Flaharty			185,000	15,000	519,186	4,937	
Kevin M. McNamara			25,000 24		106,000		

PROPOSAL NOS. 2 THROUGH 6 AMENDMENT OF SUPERMAJORITY PROVISIONS

The Company's Certificate of Incorporation contains certain provisions, referred to in this Proxy Statement as the "Supermajority Provisions," that provide that:

special meetings of the stockholders of the Company for any purpose may be called only by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President of the Company (Article Fifth);

the directors of the Company, other than those who may be elected by class or series of Preferred Stock or other capital in the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, are to be divided into three classes, as nearly equal in number as possible, with the members of each class of directors to be elected for terms of three years, and directors of the Company may be removed by the stockholders only for cause, subject to the rights of the holders of any class or series of Preferred Stock or other capital stock as set forth in the Company's Certificate of Incorporation (Article Sixth);

actions of the stockholders by written consent pursuant to Delaware law are prohibited (Article Seventh);

the Board of Directors shall have the sole authority to adopt, repeal, alter, amend or rescind the Company's By-Laws (Article Tenth); and

amendments to any of the foregoing provisions, or the provision specifying the vote required to amend the Certificate of Incorporation, requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least $66^2/3\%$ of the outstanding Common Stock and Preferred Stock of the Company (Article Eleventh).

As provided in Article Eleventh of the Certificate of Incorporation, these provisions cannot be amended without the affirmative vote of stockholders owning at least $66^2/3\%$ of the combined voting power of the outstanding Common Stock and Preferred Stock, therefore it is very important that you vote *your* shares on these proposals.

These provisions limit the ability of the holders of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock to influence the corporate governance of the Company and to take certain actions that stockholders would be permitted to take under Delaware law. In connection with its ongoing review of the Company's corporate governance profile, the Board of Directors has concluded that the amendment of the Supermajority Provisions would be beneficial to the Company and its stockholders.

The proposed amendments to the Certificate of Incorporation will effectively repeal the provisions described above and replace them with provisions that the Board of Directors believes give the Company's stockholders more customary rights with respect to the Company's affairs.

The election of directors is the primary avenue for stockholders to influence corporate policies and to hold management accountable for its implementation of those policies. The Company's management and the Board of Directors believe that the accountability of the Board of Directors to the stockholders is enhanced when the directors are required to stand for election each year and when the stockholders have the right to remove directors who do not perform their responsibilities to the stockholders. A classified board with staggered three-year terms, as required by one of the Supermajority Provisions, deprives the stockholders of the ability to express their evaluation of the performance of the whole Board of Directors annually. In keeping with the goal of maximizing director accountability to the stockholders, the Board of Directors has determined that having all of the Company's directors elected annually would best serve the interests of the Company and its stockholders.

25

Although the authority of the stockholders to amend or repeal by-laws of a publicly owned corporation such as the Company is rarely exercised, the Board of Directors believes the ability to exercise that right by a majority of the voting power is an important element of corporate governance, as are the rights of the stockholders under Delaware law to act by written consent, to remove directors, with or without cause, and to call special meetings of the stockholders.

The forms of Articles FIFTH, SIXTH, SEVENTH, TENTH and ELEVENTH of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation attached to this Proxy Statement in Annex B illustrate how these provisions of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation would read if the Supermajority Provisions are amended pursuant to Proposal Nos. 2 through 6. Also included in Annex B is a version of the Supermajority Provisions, marked to show the specific changes that would be made to the existing provisions of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation if the Supermajority Provisions are amended at the Annual Meeting.

Approval of each of Proposal Nos. 2 through 6 requires the affirmative vote of at least 66²/₃% of the outstanding Common Stock and Preferred Stock of the Company, voting together as a single class.

For the reasons set forth above, the Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR each of Proposal Nos. 2 through 6 to amend the Supermajority Provisions.

The following describes the separate proposals to amend the Certificate of Incorporation:

Proposal No. 2 Proposal Regarding Special Meetings of Stockholders

Pursuant to Proposal No. 2, Article FIFTH of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation will be amended by deleting the second sentence thereof, which currently prohibits stockholders from calling special meetings of stockholders. If this amendment is approved, stockholders of the Company will be entitled to call special meetings of the stockholders of the Company, as provided in the Company's By-Laws.

As currently in effect, the By-Laws provide that, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and to procedures set forth in the By-Laws, special meetings of the stockholders shall be called by the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary of the Company at the request in writing of stockholders owning a majority in voting power of the Company's then outstanding voting stock.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 2.

Proposal No. 3 Proposal to De-Classify the Board and Permit Removal of Directors Without Cause

Pursuant to Proposal No. 3, Article SIXTH of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation will be amended in its entirety, thereby eliminating the current provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation which provide for a classified Board of Directors and prohibit the removal of directors other than for cause. Under the proposed amended text of Article SIXTH, in the future each director (other than a director who may be elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other series or class of stock as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation)

would be elected to hold office until a successor is elected at the next succeeding annual meeting of stockholders and qualified or until that director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Article SIXTH also contains a provision for the phase-out of the Company's current classified Board of Directors, as their classified terms expire.

If Proposal No. 3 is approved, in order to provide for an orderly transition, the Class II Directors elected at the Annual Meeting will serve out a normal three-year terms ending at the 2007 Annual Meeting. The terms of the Class III Directors will continue until the 2005 Annual Meeting, and the terms of the Class I Directors will continue until the 2006 Annual Meeting. After the end of the respective classified terms, nominees for election will stand for re-election for one-year terms, consistent with the amended language of Article SIXTH described above and in Annex B. In addition,

26

if Proposal No. 3 is approved, the Board of Directors may consider alternative measures to implement the intent of the amendment.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 3.

Proposal No. 4 Proposal to Permit Written Consents

Pursuant to Proposal No. 4, the second paragraph of Article SEVENTH will be amended by deleting the second paragraph thereof. As a result of this amendment, stockholders will be entitled to act by written consent in lieu of a meeting as permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 4.

Proposal No. 5 Proposal Regarding Amendments to Certificate of Incorporation

Pursuant to Proposal No. 5, Article TENTH will be amended by deleting the language in that Article granting to the Board of Directors the sole authority to adopt, repeal, alter, amend or rescind the Bylaws of the Company and replacing that language with language granting non-exclusive authority over those matters to the Board of Directors. As a result of this amendment, stockholders will be entitled to adopt, amend or repeal the Company's By-Laws by the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock, as provided in the By-Laws of the Company.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 5.

Proposal No. 6 Proposal Regarding Amendments to Supermajority Provisions

Pursuant to Proposal No. 6, Article ELEVENTH will be amended by deleting the proviso to that Article, thereby deleting from the Company's Certificate of Incorporation the requirement of a two-thirds vote in order to amend or repeal the Supermajority Provisions.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 6.

27

PROPOSAL NO. 7 APPROVAL OF 2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN

On March 2, 2004, the Board of Directors approved the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan for submission to the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will become effective upon approval by the stockholders. A copy of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan is attached as Annex C to this Proxy Statement.

The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan is intended to give the Company greater flexibility in providing competitive incentive compensation that closely aligns the interests of key employees and officers with those of the Company's stockholders. Notwithstanding this flexibility, it is the Company's intention to move its equity compensation practices for senior management and key employees primarily towards restricted stock

awards. If the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan is approved, any existing stock option plan of the Company for executives and key employees (including most notably its 1996 Stock Incentive Plan and its 2001 Stock Option Plan) will be terminated except with respect to options that are outstanding under those plans immediately prior to the Annual Meeting. The Company currently expects that its Employee Stock Purchase Plan, a broad-based plan, will remain in effect.

The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will provide for the grant of restricted stock awards as well as incentive stock options ("ISOs"), non-qualified stock options ("NQSOs") and performance awards. Any person who is an employee of or consultant to the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates will be eligible to be considered for awards under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will have the authority, without limitation, to select the employees and consultants to whom awards will be granted. As of the date of this proxy statement, approximately 100 persons would qualify as eligible participants under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan.

Future awards under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be discretionary so that it is impossible to determine who will receive awards and in what amounts in the event the plan is approved. There currently is no intention to make any award of any specific amount to any specific individual in the event that the plan is approved by the stockholders, although it is anticipated that each of the Company's current executive officers would be eligible to participate.

The total number of shares of Common Stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be 1,000,000 shares. The number of shares of Common Stock that can be made subject to stock options under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan to any one person per year will be 100,000. Each of the limits described above may be adjusted equitably to accommodate a change in the capital structure of the Company. Otherwise, no repricing of stock options or other awards under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be permitted. As of March 30, 2004, the per share closing price of the Company's Common Stock as reported on The Nasdaq Stock Market's National Market was \$11.30.

The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which will be comprised of individuals who are "Non-Employee Directors" as defined in Rule 16b-3(b)(3)(i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and "outside directors" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"). The Committee will have broad discretion to determine the terms and conditions of awards made under the Plan and to amend or terminate the Plan. The "plan year" will be the calendar year. See "Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors Compensation Committee" above.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock granted under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be Common Stock that either (a) is granted outright or (b) is granted subject to a three-year option in favor of the Company to repurchase the Common Stock at its issue price, which option will become exercisable only if the

28

participant terminates employment or service other than as a result of death or disability (as defined in the Plan). The issue price of restricted stock will be no less than par value and no more than ten percent of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant. Participants must pay the issue price for restricted stock in cash. While restricted, certificates evidencing shares of restricted stock will bear a legend describing the restrictions, which will be exchanged for unlegended certificates once the restrictions expire. Apart from the Company's option to repurchase, holders of restricted stock will have all rights of stockholders during the term of the restrictions provided that the administrative terms of the restricted stock awards are complied with (e.g., the participant executes an award agreement, etc.).

Other Awards

The terms and conditions of stock options granted under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will be set forth in individual grant agreements, subject to the following limitations. The exercise price per share of an option will not be less than the fair market value per share of the Company's Common Stock on the date the option is granted. Although there currently are no such individuals, in the case of an ISO granted to a person beneficially owning more than ten percent of the voting power of the Company, the exercise price per share of the ISO will not be less than 110% of the fair market value per share of the Company's Common Stock on the date the ISO is granted. The maximum term of any stock option will be ten years from the date of grant. Stock options may be exercised by paying the exercise price in cash or through a "cashless exercise," which will be conducted in a manner acceptable to the Company through a third party broker, and otherwise in compliance with Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

If a participant terminates employment or service with the Company by reason of death or disability (as defined in the Plan), any stock option held by that participant may be exercised by that participant until the expiration of twelve months after the date of such death or disability, provided that such stock option was exercisable on such date. If a participant is terminated without cause (as defined in the Plan),

retires or resigns from employment or service, any stock option held by that participant will be exercisable until the expiration of ninety days from the date of the participant's termination, but only to the extent that the stock option already was exercisable as of that date. Any stock options held by a participant who is terminated for cause will expire immediately.

The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code, so that any compensation granted under the plan that, when combined with other compensation paid to the same individual during a fiscal year, exceeds \$1 million, will be deductible by the Company (provided the other requirements of Section 162(m) are met). The restrictions under Section 162(m) apply only the Company's Chief Executive Officer or any other of the top four highest-paid executive officers. Awards paid to these individuals under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan will, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 162(m) (and unless the Committee determines otherwise), be "Performance Awards." Performance Awards are awards that vest only upon the achievement of certain performance goals that are specified in advance by the Committee, and that relate to business criteria (such as cash flow, earnings per share, etc.) that are set forth in the Plan. The maximum aggregate amount that can be awarded to any one participant pursuant to Performance Awards in a single plan year is proposed to be \$1 million.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences

Restricted Stock

The tax consequences to the participant of receiving restricted stock will vary depending on whether the stock is subject to an option to repurchase in favor of the Company or is received outright, and whether the participant makes an election under Section 83(b) of the Code. In all cases, the

29

Company will be entitled to take a deduction at the same time as, and in the same amount as, the participant recognizes ordinary income on account of the restricted stock.

Non-Qualified Stock Options

A participant generally will not realize taxable income upon the grant of a NQSO. Upon the exercise of a NQSO, the participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Common Stock being purchased and the exercise price. The Company generally will be entitled to take a federal income tax deduction in the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant. If the participant exercises a NQSO and subsequently sells the option shares, any appreciation will be taxed as capital gain in an amount equal to the excess of the sales proceeds for the option shares over the participant's basis in the option shares. The participant's basis in the option shares generally will be the exercise price plus the amount included in the participant's ordinary income upon exercise.

Incentive Stock Options

In general, a participant will have no income tax consequences at the time of grant or exercise of an ISO (except for purposes of computing liability for alternative minimum tax, if any). Upon sale of the underlying stock after satisfying applicable holding period requirements, any amount realized by the participant in excess of the exercise price paid will be taxed to him or her as capital gain. If the holding period requirements are not satisfied, at the time the underlying stock is sold (a "disqualifying disposition") the participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the excess of the fair market value of the Common Stock at the time of exercise over the exercise price, and also will realize capital gain (if any) equal to the excess of the sales proceeds for the option shares over the participant's basis in the option shares. The participant's basis in the option shares generally will be the exercise price plus the amount included in the participant's ordinary income upon exercise. The Company will be entitled to a deduction on account of an ISO only if there is a disqualifying disposition. In that case, the Company will be entitled to a deduction in the amount of ordinary income realized by the participant.

While the exercise of an ISO does not result in current taxable income, there are implications with regard to the alternative minimum tax ("AMT"). The "spread" between the exercise price of an ISO and the fair market value of the underlying stock at the time of exercise will be considered as part of AMT income for the year in which the option is exercised. If, however, a disqualifying disposition occurs in the year in which the option is exercised, the gain on the disposition of the ISO stock, rather than the "spread," is the amount that will be considered as part of AMT income. Should there be a disqualifying disposition in a year other than the year of exercise, the ordinary income element on the disqualifying disposition will not be considered income for AMT purposes, but the capital gain element will be either short- or long-term capital gain for AMT purposes. The basis of the ISO stock for determining gain or loss for AMT purposes will be the exercise price for the ISO stock plus the amount already treated as income for AMT purposes at the time of exercise.

Withholding Taxes

The Company generally will be entitled to withhold any required tax in connection with the exercise or payment of any award, and may require the participant to pay such tax as a condition to exercise of an award.

Approval of Proposal No. 7 requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 7.

30

PROPOSAL NO. 8 APPROVAL OF RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

On March 2, 2004, the Board of Directors approved the Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "Directors Stock Plan") for submission to the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. The Directors Stock Plan will become effective upon its approval by the stockholders. A copy of the Directors Stock Plan is attached to this Proxy Statement as Annex D.

The Directors Stock Plan is intended to enhance the Company's ability to attract, retain and motivate Non-Employee Directors (as defined below) of exceptional ability, and to promote the common interest of Non-Employee Directors and stockholders in enhancing the value of the Company's Common Stock. If the Directors Stock Plan is approved, the 1996 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan will be terminated except with respect to options that are outstanding under that Plan immediately prior to the Annual Meeting. See "Director Compensation" above. Each director of the Company who is not an officer or employee of the Company or of its subsidiaries or affiliates (each a "Non-Employee Director") will be eligible to receive grants of Common Stock under the Directors Stock Plan as described below. Of the Company's current directors, Ms. Gold and Messrs. Kever, Loewenbaum, Moore and Spalding will be entitled to receive grants under the Directors Stock Plan.

If the Directors Stock Plan is approved by the stockholders, each Non-Employee Director will receive certain grants of the Company's Common Stock for serving as a director of the Company. The stock grants that would be made under the Directors Stock Plan are as follows:

Annual Grants. Upon the adjournment of each annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company, each Non-Employee Director who has been elected a director of the Company at such annual meeting or who was not a nominee for election at such annual meeting because his or her term extends past such annual meeting shall receive a grant of 3,000 shares of Common Stock.

Interim Grants. Any Non-Employee Director who is elected a director at other than an annual meeting shall receive on the date of such election a pro-rata portion of the annual grant that such director would have received if elected at an annual meeting.

Initial Grants. Each newly elected Non-Employee Director will receive an initial grant of 1,000 shares of Common Stock when he or she is first elected to the Board of Directors.

At the \$11.30 per share closing price of the Company's Common Stock as reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market's National Market on March 30, 2004, a grant of 3,000 shares made on that date under the Directors Stock Plan to each of the five current Non-Employee Directors would have been valued at \$33,900 per director, and \$169,500 in the aggregate. None of the current Non-Employee Directors would be eligible to receive an initial grant or an interim grant.

The Directors Stock Plan does not prevent the Board of Directors from exercising its authority to approve the payment of additional retainer fees to Non-Employee Directors, to adopt additional plans or arrangements relating to the compensation of Non-Employee Directors or to amend the Company's existing cash fees paid to Non-Employee Directors. See "Director Compensation" above. However, as discussed above, except with respect to outstanding options, the 1996 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan would terminate upon the approval of the Directors Stock Plan. The Board of Directors does not currently intend to make changes relating to the compensation of Non-Employee Directors if the Directors Stock Plan is approved by the stockholders.

Prior to the issuance of Common Stock pursuant to the Directors Stock Plan, a Non-Employee Director will be required to pay to the Company an issue price equal to the \$0.001 par value per share of the Common Stock. The issuance of Common Stock is also contingent upon

and subject to the execution by the Non-Employee Director of an agreement to hold the shares of Common Stock

31

covered by such grant in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Directors Stock Plan (including without limitation the restrictions on transferability provided for in the Plan, and described below) and to comply with certain other terms and conditions of the grant.

Non-Employee Directors will be permitted to sell up to 50% of the number of shares of Common Stock covered by any grant under the Directors Stock Plan in order to pay the resulting taxes. Otherwise, shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Directors Stock Plan, or any interest therein, may not be sold, transferred, pledged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (including, without limitation, by way of gift or donation) by the Non-Employee Director to whom the shares are issued as long as the Non-Employee Director remains a director of the Company. Rights to receive Common Stock pursuant to the Directors Stock Plan also will not be transferable by the recipient of an award. During the period for which the Common Stock is restricted, however, as a stockholder of record the Non-Employee Director will be entitled to receive dividends or other distributions in respect of Common Stock and will have voting rights with respect to those shares. If a Non-Employee Director dies while in service, shares held by the director that are subject to the Directors Stock Plan will be permitted to be transferred to a designated beneficiary.

The restrictions on the transferability of shares issued pursuant to the Plan will terminate upon the occurrence of certain events related to change of control of the Company that are specified in the Plan. The Company currently does not contemplate any event that would lead to the termination of these restrictions.

The number of shares issuable pursuant to the Plan and the number of shares to be delivered pursuant to initial grants, annual grants and interim grants will be subject to adjustment in the event of changes in the common stock of the Company by reason of any stock dividend, split-up, combination of shares, reclassification, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, reorganization or liquidation. The Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 200,000 shares of Common Stock for awards under the Plan.

The Directors Stock Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors or a committee designated by the Board, which is anticipated to be the Compensation Committee, which will have the authority to amend or discontinue the Plan or any provision thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the approval of the stockholders of the Company is required for any amendment that would (a) increase the number of shares of Common Stock available for grant under the Plan, (b) materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan, (c) modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation under the Plan, or (d) change the Board's authority to take any of the foregoing actions or modify the foregoing requirement for stockholder approval.

Approval of Proposal No. 8 requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 8.

32

PROPOSAL NO. 9 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee has approved the retention of BDO Seidman, LLP ("BDO") as the Company's independent auditor to examine and report on the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004, subject to ratification of its retention by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. BDO was first retained on April 23, 2003 as the independent auditor for the Company in 2003, it examined and reported on the Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003, and it is considered well qualified. Valid proxies will be voted on this proposal in accordance with the voting directions specified on the proxy or, if no directions are given, will be voted FOR Proposal No. 9 to ratify the appointment of BDO as the Company's independent auditor.

Representatives of BDO are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting. The BDO representatives will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Approval of Proposal No. 9 requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting.

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends you vote FOR Proposal No. 9.

PRINCIPAL INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FEES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to the Company by BDO for professional services rendered for the year ended December 31, 2003, which was the first year in which BDO performed any services for the Company. The table also sets forth the aggregate fees billed to the Company for professional services rendered for the year ended December 31, 2002 by Deloitte & Touche, LLP which was the Company's independent auditor in 2002.

	_	2003		2002	
Audit Fees(1)	\$	380,000	\$	660,000	
Audit Related Fees(2)		39,000		35,000	
Tax Fees(3)		15,000		458,000	
All Other Fees(4)		605,000			
			_		
	\$	1,039,000	\$	1,153,000	

- (1)

 Audit fees consisted of audit work performed in the preparation of financial statements as well as work generally only the independent auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, such as statutory audits.
- (2) Audit-related fees consist primarily of procedures related to registration statement filings and consultation on accounting standards.
- (3) Tax fees include all tax services relating to tax compliance, tax planning and reporting.
- All other fees in 2003 consisted principally of fees for non-audit services billed by BDO for work involved in the 2003 investigation of the Company's revenue recognition practices in prior years. BDO was first retained by counsel to the Audit Committee in 2003 to assist such counsel and the Audit Committee in the investigation that the Audit Committee conducted with regard to the Company's revenue recognition practices. See "Report of the Audit Committee Restatement Of Prior Year Financial Statements" below.

33

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for appointing, setting the compensation of and overseeing the work of the independent auditor. In recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.

CHANGE IN INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN 2003

Deloitte and Touche LLP served as independent auditor for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. On April 16, 2003, Deloitte informed the Company that it did not intend to stand for re-election as the Company's principal independent auditor. Subsequently, on July 16, 2003, Deloitte advised the Company that the client-auditor relationship between the Company and Deloitte had ceased.

The reports of Deloitte on the Company's financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 did not include an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles, except for the 2002 report which contained an explanatory paragraph relating to a going concern uncertainty.

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the period from January 1, 2003 to July 16, 2003, (a) there were no disagreements with Deloitte on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Deloitte, would have caused Deloitte to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its report, and (b) there were no "reportable events" as the term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, except as follows:

Deloitte informed the Company that material weaknesses in the Company's internal controls existed. Specifically, Deloitte advised the Company that:

The Company's accounting and finance staff were inadequate to meet the needs of a complex, multinational SEC registrant. The Company needed to strengthen its capability to implement existing generally accepted accounting principles, as well as understand and implement new accounting standards. In addition, the Company needed to strengthen its capabilities in performing routine accounting processes involved in closing its books, such as account reconciliations and analyses.

The Company needed to strengthen its controls and processes related to revenue recognition. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, revenue was recognized for transactions that did not meet the requirements for revenue recognition under the Company's policies or United States generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company furnished Deloitte with a copy of the foregoing disclosures, which were initially made in the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2003, and requested in connection with that filing that Deloitte furnish to the Company a letter addressed to the SEC stating whether it agreed with the above statements and, if not, stating the respects in which it did not agree. A copy of the letter dated July 22, 2003 from Deloitte to the SEC stating that it agreed with the Company's statements made in that Form 8-K is attached as Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2003.

On March 27, 2003, counsel to the Audit Committee of the Company engaged BDO to assist the Audit Committee with its investigation related to certain sales transactions. As a result of the work performed, BDO orally communicated to the Company that it believed certain sales transactions were not recorded in the proper period. There were no other written or oral consultations between the

34

Company and BDO regarding either the specific application of accounting principles or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company's financial statements that was considered an important factor by the Company in reaching a decision as to an accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue, or any other matter that was the subject of a disagreement or a reportable event, that would have required disclosure under Item 304(a)(2) of Regulation S-K.

The Company requested that Deloitte furnish it with a letter addressed to the SEC stating whether it agreed with the above statements relating to the engagement of BDO as the Company's new independent auditor and, if not, stating the respects in which it did not agree. A copy of the letter dated April 29, 2003, from Deloitte to the SEC is attached as Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2003.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for providing independent, objective oversight of the Company's financial reporting processes and internal controls. The Audit Committee is currently composed of three directors, each of whom is independent as defined by the listing standards of the NASD. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter approved by the Board of Directors. A copy of the current charter is attached to this Proxy Statement as Annex A.

Management is responsible for the Company's internal controls and financial reporting processes. The independent auditor is responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and for issuing a report thereon. The Audit Committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.

2003 Consolidated Financial Statements

In connection with these responsibilities, the Audit Committee met with management and the independent auditor to review and discuss the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditor the matters required by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees). The Audit Committee also received written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditor required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), and the Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditor that firm's independence. The Audit Committee also considered whether the independent auditor's provision of non-audit services was compatible with maintaining that firm's independence.

Based upon the Audit Committee's discussions with management and the independent auditor and the Audit Committee's review of the representations of management and the independent auditor, the Audit Committee recommended that the Board of Directors include the audited consolidated financial statements in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, to be filed with the SEC.

Restatement of Prior Year Financial Statements

In connection with its audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company's independent auditor identified 12 equipment sales transactions for which revenue had been recognized in the fourth quarter of 2002, which the Company's auditor believed should have been recognized in other periods. As a result, the Audit Committee conducted an investigation into the Company's equipment revenue recognition policies generally, and specifically with regard to the identified sales transactions and other related or similar transactions. As a result of the investigation by the Audit Committee, it was determined that some transactions in 2002, 2001 and 2000 did not satisfy all criteria of the Company's revenue recognition policy, and the Company restated its

35

previously issued financial statements for the nine months ended September 27, 2002 and the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. At the direction of the Audit Committee, the Company implemented changes to its financial organization and enhanced its internal controls in response to the issues identified in the investigation and to better assure compliance with the Company's revenue recognition policy. The changes that were implemented during 2003 include the following:

replacement of the Company's chief financial officer and retention of new management in senior finance and operations positions, and in many staff positions;

termination or reassignment of other senior officers and key employees;

establishment of an internal audit function and retention of a Director of Internal Audit and a Manager of External Reporting;

clarification of the Company's revenue recognition policies by revising some of the Company's existing policies and drafting new policies, implementation of new control measures and introduction of more formalized and frequent training of finance, sales and other staff;

adoption and communication of a zero tolerance policy for employees who engage in violations of the Company's accounting policies and procedures;

establishment of an anonymous hotline for employees to report potential violations of policies and procedures or of applicable laws or regulations; and

institution of additional management oversight and detailed reviews of personnel, disclosures and reporting.

The Company is in the process of developing a comprehensive policies and procedures manual, the current version of which is available to all employees on the Company's network. The Company expects this policies and procedures manual to be completed by the end of the third quarter of 2004. The Company is also conducting the evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and expects that evaluation to be timely completed by December 31, 2004. These steps are being taken to ensure that the financial statements and other financial information fairly present in all material respects the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Audit Committee

Richard C. Spalding, Chairman Jim D. Kever Kevin S. Moore

36

COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE COMPARISONS

The graph below shows, for the five years ended December 31, 2003, the cumulative total return on an investment of \$100 assumed to have been made on December 31, 1998 in the Company's Common Stock. The graph compares such return with that of comparable investments assumed to have been made on the same date in (a) the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S. Companies) Index, and (b) the S& P Information Technology Segment, a published Standard & Poor's market segment with which the Company is sometimes compared.

Total return for the assumed investment assumes the reinvestment of all dividends on December 31 of the year in which such dividends were paid. No cash dividends were paid on the Company's Common Stock during the periods presented.

The Company's Common Stock is quoted by The Nasdaq Stock Market's National Market (trading symbol: TDSC).

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG 3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION, THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET (U.S.) INDEX
AND THE S & P INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INDEX

* \$100 invested on 12/31/98 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright © 2002, Standard & Poor's, a division of McGraw Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved www.researchdatagroup.com/S&P.htm

37

CODE OF ETHICS

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable to all of its employees worldwide as well as a Code of Ethics designed to set the standards of business conduct and ethics and to help directors and employees resolve ethical issues. The Code of Ethics applies to the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, all other senior financial executives and to directors of the Company when acting in their capacity as directors. The purpose of the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics is to ensure to the greatest possible extent that the Company's business is conducted in a consistently legal and ethical manner. Employees may submit concerns or complaints regarding ethical issues on a confidential basis by means of a toll-free telephone call to an assigned voicemail box. All concerns and complaints are investigated by the Company. Copies of the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics are posted on the Company's website at www.3DSystems.com.

The Company intends to disclose amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar functions and that relates to any element of the Code of Ethics described in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K by posting such information on its website at www.3DSystems.com.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2005 ANNUAL MEETING

Under Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, certain stockholder proposals may be eligible for inclusion in the Company's proxy statement and form of proxy. The date by which stockholder proposals must be received by the Company to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement and form of proxy for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is December 1, 2004 (or if the date of the 2005 Annual Meeting is changed by more than 30 days from the anniversary date of the 2004 Annual Meeting, a reasonable time before the Company begins to print and mail the proxy materials for the 2005 Annual Meeting).

Alternatively, the Company's By-Laws set forth certain procedures stockholders must follow in order to properly nominate a person for election to the Board of Directors or present any other business at an Annual Meeting of Stockholders, other than proposals included in the Company's Proxy Statement pursuant to the Rule 14a-8. In addition to any other applicable requirements, to properly nominate a person for election to the Board of Directors or for business to be properly brought before the 2005 Annual Meeting by a stockholder, a stockholder of record must give timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the Company. To be timely, a stockholder's notice to the Secretary must be received at the principal office of the Company no earlier than January 20, 2005 and no later than the close of business on February 22, 2005, provided that, if the 2005 Annual Meeting is called for a date that is not within 30 days before or after May 19, 2005, then the notice by the stockholder must be so received a reasonable time before the Company mails its proxy statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting. The notice also must contain specific information regarding the nomination or the business proposed to be brought before the meeting, as set forth in the Company's By-Laws. A copy of the By-Law provisions relating to advance notice of business to be transacted at annual meetings may be obtained from the Secretary of the Company upon request.

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SECURITY HOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

The Company is delivering, or making available electronically, this Proxy Statement and its 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K to all stockholders of record as of the record date. Stockholders residing in the same household who hold their shares in the name of a bank, broker or other holder of record may receive only one Annual Report and Proxy Statement if previously notified by their bank, broker or other holder. This process by which only one annual report or proxy statement, as the case may be, is delivered to multiple security holders sharing an address, unless contrary instructions are received

38

from one or more of the security holders, is called "householding." Householding may provide convenience for stockholders and cost savings for companies. Once begun, householding may continue unless instructions to the contrary are received from one or more of the stockholders within the household.

Street name stockholders in a single household who received only one copy of the Annual Report and Proxy Statement may request to receive separate copies in the future by following the instructions provided on the voting instruction form sent to them by their bank, broker or other holder of record. Similarly, street name stockholders who are receiving multiple copies may request that only a single set of materials be sent to them in the future by checking the appropriate box on the voting instruction form. Alternatively, street name stockholders whose holders of record utilize the services of ADP (as indicated on the voting instruction form sent to them) may send written instructions to Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York 11717 or call 1-800-542-1061. The instructions must include the stockholder's name and account number and the name of the bank, broker or other holder of record. Otherwise, street name stockholders should contact their bank, broker, or other holder.

Copies of this Proxy Statement and the 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K are available promptly by calling 661-295-5600, Extension 2632, or by writing to Investor Relations, 3D Systems Corporation, 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355. If you are receiving multiple copies of this Proxy Statement and the Annual Report, you also may request orally or in writing to receive a single copy of this Proxy Statement and the Annual Report by calling 661-295-5600, Extension 2632, or writing to Investor Relations, 3D Systems Corporation, 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), requires the Company's executive officers and directors and any persons owning ten percent or more of the Common or Preferred Stock to file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") to report their beneficial ownership of and transactions in the Company's securities and to furnish the Company with

copies of those reports. Based upon a review of those reports filed with the Company, along with written representations from or on behalf of certain executive officers and directors that they were not required to file any reports during 2003, the Company believes that all of these reports were timely filed during 2003, except for the following: (i) a Form 3 filed by G. Peter V. White, which reported one transaction, (ii) a Form 3 by Ray R. Saunders, which reported six transactions, (iii) a Form 3 by Kevin McAlea, which reported three transactions, (iv) a Form 4 filed by Charles W. Hull, which reported one transaction, and (v) a Form 4 by The Clark Estates, Inc., which reported one transaction.

OTHER MATTERS

This proxy statement is being delivered to you on behalf of the Company. The expenses of preparing, printing and mailing this notice of meeting and proxy material, making them available over the Internet, and all other expenses of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. The Company has retained Georgeson Shareholder Communications, Inc. ("Georgeson") to solicit proxies by personal interview, mail, telephone, facsimile, Internet or other means of electronic transmission and to request brokerage houses, banks and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries to forward soliciting material to the beneficial owners of the Common Stock or Preferred Stock held of record by those persons. The Company will pay Georgeson a fee of \$10,000 for these services and will reimburse Georgeson for payments made to brokers and other nominee holders for their expenses in forwarding soliciting material. In addition, directors, officers and employees of the Company may solicit proxies by personal interview, mail, telephone, facsimile, Internet or other means of electronic transmission, although they will receive no additional compensation for such solicitation.

39

The Company does not know of any matters to be presented at the meeting other than those set forth in this Proxy Statement. However, if any other matters come before the meeting, the proxies named in the enclosed proxy card will vote the shares represented by the proxy in the manner as the Board of Directors may recommend, and otherwise in the proxy holders' discretion.

By Order of the Board of Directors Robert M. Grace Jr. Secretary

Valencia, California March 31, 2004

40

ANNEX A

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

This CHARTER (the "Charter") of the Audit Committee (the "Committee") has been amended and restated by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of 3D Systems Corporation (the "Company") on March 2, 2004.

- A. *Purpose*. The purpose of the Audit Committee shall be to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of the quality and integrity of the accounting and reporting practices of the Company, the qualifications and independence of the public accounting firm engaged to prepare or issue an audit report on the financial statements of the Company (the "independent auditor"), performance of the internal auditor and the Company's processes to manage financial risk, and compliance with significant applicable legal, ethical and regulatory requirements. The Committee has sole authority over the appointment and replacement of the independent auditor and is directly responsible for compensation and oversight of the independent auditor.
- B. *Members*. The Committee shall consist of at least three "Independent Directors." For purposes of this Charter, "Independent Directors" shall mean directors who are determined by the Board to comply with standards of independence and experience established by the Board consistent with applicable statutes, regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and listing standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. for the Nasdaq Stock Market. Each member will be free of any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with his or her individual exercise of independent judgment. Committee members will not serve simultaneously on the audit committees of more than two other public companies. Members of the Committee shall be appointed and may be removed by the Board. The Board shall determine which member shall serve as Chairman.

- C. *Meetings*. The Committee meets at least once each quarter. Additional meetings may occur as the Committee or its chair deems advisable. The Committee will cause to be kept adequate minutes of all its proceedings, and will report its actions to the next meeting of the Board. Committee members will be furnished with copies of the minutes of each meeting and any action taken by unanimous consent. The Committee will be governed by the same rules regarding meetings (including meetings by conference telephone or similar communications equipment), action by written consent without meetings, notice, waiver of notice, and quorum and voting requirements as are applicable to the Board. The Committee is authorized and empowered to adopt its own rules of procedure not inconsistent with (a) any provision of this Charter, (b) any provision of the By-Laws of the Company, or (c) the laws of the State of Delaware.
- D. *Communications/Reporting*. The independent auditor reports directly to the Committee. The Committee is expected to maintain free and open communication with the independent auditor, the Company's internal auditors, and the Company's management. This communication will include periodic separate executive sessions with each of these parties.
- E. *Education*. The Company is responsible for providing the Committee with educational resources related to accounting principles and procedures, current accounting topics pertinent to the Company and other material as may be requested by the Committee. The Company will assist the Committee in maintaining appropriate financial literacy.
- F. *Authority*. The Committee will have the resources and authority necessary to discharge its duties and responsibilities, including the authority to retain outside counsel or other experts or consultants, as it deems appropriate. Any communications between the Committee and legal counsel in the course of obtaining legal advice will be considered privileged communications of the Company, and the Committee will take all necessary steps to preserve the privileged nature of those communications.

A-1

G. Duties and Responsibilities. The Committee's specific responsibilities in carrying out its oversight role are delineated in the Audit Committee Responsibilities Calendar. As the compendium of Committee responsibilities, the most recently updated Responsibilities Calendar will be considered to be an addendum to this Charter. The Committee will review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually to reflect changes in regulatory requirements, authoritative guidance, and evolving oversight practices and recommend any proposed changes to the Board.

The Committee relies on the expertise and knowledge of management, the internal auditor and the independent auditor in carrying out its oversight responsibilities. Management of the Company is responsible for determining that the Company's financial statements are complete, accurate and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The independent auditor is responsible for auditing the Company's financial statements. It is not the duty of the Committee to plan or conduct audits, to determine that the financial statements are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, to conduct investigations, or to assure compliance with laws and regulations or the Company's internal policies, procedures and controls.

A-2

3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES CALENDAR (Addendum to Audit Committee Charter)

WHEN PERFORMED Audit Committee Meetings

	Responsibility	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter	As Needed
1	Prepare an agenda for Committee meetings in consultation between the Committee chair (with input from the Committee members), management of the Company, the internal auditor and the independent					
	auditor.	X	X	X	X	X
2		X	X	X	X	

WHEN PERFORMED Audit Committee Meetings

	Provide oversight of the independent auditor and resolve any disagreements between management of the Company and the independent auditor about financial					
	reporting.					
3	Establish and oversee a policy designating permissible services that the independent auditor may perform for					
	the Company and providing for pre-approval of those services by the Committee, subject to any de minimis exceptions permitted under applicable rules that the					
	Committee approves.	X	X	X	X	X
4	Review with management of the Company any					
	significant changes to GAAP policies or standards.	X	X	X	X	
5	Participate (either the Chairman of the Committee					
	and/or the Committee as a whole) in a telephonic					
	meeting among management of the Company, the					
	internal auditor and the independent auditor prior to each earnings release.	X	X	X	X	
6	Review the periodic reports of the Company with	Λ	Λ	Λ	Λ	
Ü	management of the Company, the internal auditor and					
	the independent auditor prior to filing of the reports with					
	the Securities and Exchange Commission.	X	X	X	X	
7	In connection with each periodic report of the Company,					
	review					
	a. Management's disclosure to the Committee and the					
	independent auditor under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.					
	b. The contents of the Chief Executive Officer's and the					
	Chief Financial Officer's certificates to be filed under					
	Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.	X	X	X	X	
8	Review with the General Counsel legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related Company compliance policies, and					
	programs and reports received from regulators.	X	X	X	X	
	-					

A-3

9	Meet with the independent auditor in executive session					
	to discuss any matters that the Committee or the					
	independent auditor believes should be discussed					
	privately with the Committee.	X	X	X	X	
10	Meet with the internal auditor in executive session to					
	discuss any matters that the Committee or the internal					
	auditor believes should be discussed privately with the					
	Committee.	X	X	X	X	
11	Review and update the Committee Charter and					
	Responsibilities Calendar annually.	X				
12	Provide a report in the annual proxy that includes the					
	Committee's review and discussion of matters with					
	management and the independent auditor.	X				
13	Appoint and replace the independent auditor and					
	approve the terms on which the independent auditor is					
	engaged.	X				
14	Confirm annually the independence of the independent					
	auditor and quarterly review the firm's non-audit					
	services and related fees.	X				
15		X				

	_aga: 1g. 02 0 1 0	, . <u> </u>	 	
	Verify that the Committee consists of a minimum of			
	three members who are financially literate, including at			
	least one member who has financial sophistication.			
16	Review the independence of each Committee member			
	based on applicable statutes, regulations of the			
	Securities and Exchange Commission, and listing			
	standards of the National Association of Securities	37		
17	Dealers, Inc. for the Nasdaq Stock Market.	X		
17	Review with the internal auditor, the independent			
	auditor and management of the Company the audit scope and plan, and coordination of audit efforts to			
	assure completeness of coverage, reduction of redundant			
	efforts, the effective use of audit resources, and the use			
	of independent public accountants other than the			
	appointed auditors of the Company.		X	X
		A-4		
18	As required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other			
	applicable rules or regulations, consider and review with			
	management of the Company, the independent auditor			
	and the internal auditor:			
	a. The Company's annual assessment of the effectiveness of its internal controls and the independent			
	auditor's attestation and report about the Company's			
	assessment of such internal controls, including			
	computerized information system controls and security.			
	b. Any related significant findings and			
	recommendations of the independent public accountants			
	and internal audit together with management's responses			
	thereto.	X		
19	Review with management of the Company and the			
	independent auditor at the completion of the annual			
	audit:			
	a. The Company's annual financial statements and			
	related footnotes.			
	b. The independent auditor's audit of the financial statements and its report thereon.			
	c. Any significant changes required in the independent			
	auditor's audit plan.			
	d. Any serious difficulties or disputes with management			
	of the Company encountered during the course of the			
	audit, including any restrictions on the scope of their			
	work or access to required information.			
	e. Significant findings during the year and			
	management's responses thereto.			
	f. Other matters related to the conduct of the audit which			
	are to be communicated to the Committee under			
	generally accepted auditing standards.	X		X
20	Review with management of the Company and the			
	independent auditor at least annually the Company's	V		37
21	critical accounting policies.	X		X
21	Review disclosure in the Company's financial			
	statements and periodic reports of transactions between			
	the Company and officers and directors, or affiliates of			
	officers or directors, or transactions that are not a normal part of the Company's business.	X		
22	Develop and oversee procedures for (i) receipt, retention	X		X
	and treatment of complaints received by the Company	71		Λ
	regarding accounting, internal accounting controls and			
	auditing matters, and (ii) the confidential, anonymous			
	submission of employee concerns regarding accounting			
	1 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0			

or auditing matters.

A-5

23	Conduct or authorize investigations into any matters		
	within the Committee's scope of responsibilities. Retain,		
	as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate,		
	independent legal, accounting or other advisors.		X
24	Meet quarterly or more frequently as circumstances		
	require. The Committee may ask members of		
	management or others to attend the meeting and provide		
	pertinent information as necessary.		X
25	Provide an open avenue of communication between the		
	internal auditor, the independent auditor, management		
	of the Company and the Board. Report Committee		
	actions to the Board with such recommendations as the		
	Committee may deem appropriate.		X
26	Include a copy of the Committee Charter as an appendix		
	to the proxy statement at least once every three years.		X
27	Review and approve the appointment or change in the		
	internal auditor.		X
28	Inquire of management of the Company, the internal		
	auditor, and the independent auditor about significant		
	risks or exposures and assess the steps management has		
	taken to minimize such risk to the Company.		X
29	Meet with management of the Company in executive		
	sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee or		
	Finance management believes should be discussed		***
20	privately with the Committee.		X
30	Perform such other functions as assigned by law, the		
	Charter, the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or		v
	By-Laws, or the Board.	A-6	X
		A-0	

ANNEX B

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

The following sets forth how Articles FIFTH, SIXTH, SEVENTH, TENTH, and ELEVENTH of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation (the "Corporation's Charter") shall read if approved by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting.

I. ARTICLE FIFTH SHALL BE AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

FIFTH: Except and to the extent designated with respect to the Preferred Stock, all rights to vote and all voting power shall be vested in the Common Stock and the holders thereof shall be entitled at all elections of directors to one (1) vote per share.

II. ARTICLE SIXTH SHALL BE AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

SIXTH: Each director, other than those who may be elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other series or class of stock as set forth in this Certificate of Incorporation, shall hold office until a successor is elected at the next succeeding annual meeting of stockholders and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Regardless of the foregoing sentence, in the case of directors designated as Class I directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2003, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2006 and qualified or until such director's earlier resignation or removal, and in the case of directors designated as Class II directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2004, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2007 and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or

removal, and in the case of directors designated as Class III directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2002, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2005 and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. From and after the expiration of the respective terms of office described above, nominees for election to replace the directors in Class I, II or III as such directors' terms expire will be elected for one-year terms at each successive annual meeting of stockholders, to hold office until a successor is elected at the next succeeding annual meeting of stockholders and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, howsoever resulting, shall be filled according to the terms specified in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, whenever the holders of any one or more classes or series thereof of Preferred Stock issued by the Corporation shall have the right, voting separately by class or series, to elect directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, the election, term of office, filling of vacancies and other features of such directorships shall be governed by the terms of this Certificate of Incorporation or the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to the second paragraph of Article FOURTH applicable thereto.

III.

ARTICLE SEVENTH SHALL BE AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

SEVENTH: Elections of directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation shall otherwise provide.

IV.

ARTICLE TENTH SHALL BE AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

TENTH: In furtherance, and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, repeal, alter, amend or rescind the Bylaws of the Corporation.

B-1

V.

ARTICLE ELEVENTH SHALL BE AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

ELEVENTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation in the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware and all rights conferred upon stockholders are granted subject to this reservation.

The following "marked version" illustrates the changes that would be made to the existing Articles FIFTH, SIXTH, SEVENTH, TENTH, and ELEVENTH of the Corporation's Charter if approved by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. Language that would be added is double underlined and language that would be deleted is struck out.

I.

CHANGES THAT WOULD BE MADE TO ARTICLE FIFTH:

FIFTH: Except and to the extent designated with respect to the Preferred Stock, all rights to vote and all voting power shall be vested in the Common Stock and the holders thereof shall be entitled at all elections of directors to one (1) vote per share. Special meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation for any purpose or purposes may be called only by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive officer or the President of the Corporation.

II.

CHANGES THAT WOULD BE MADE TO ARTICLE SIXTH:

SIXTH: The directors of the Corporation shall be divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class II and Class III. The term of the initial Class I directors shall terminate on the date of the 1994 annual meeting of stockholders; the term of the initial Class II directors shall terminate on the date of the 1995 Annual meeting of stockholders; and the term of the Initial Class III directors shall terminate on the date of the 1996 annual meeting of stockholders beginning in 1994, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that annual meeting shall be elected for a three year term. If the number of directors is changed, any increase or decrease shall be

apportioned among the classes so as to maintain the number of directors in each class as nearly equal as reasonably possible, and any additional directors of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in such class shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of that class, but in no class will a decrease in the number of directors shorten the term of any incumbent directors. A director shall hold office until the annual meeting for the year in which his term expires and until his successor shall be elected and shall qualify, subject, however, to prior death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, howsoever resulting, shall be filled according to the terms specified in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of shares of Preferred Stock then outstanding, any or all of the directors of the Corporation may be removed from office at any time, only for cause in the manner specified in Section 141(k)(1) of the GCL.

Each director, other than those who may be elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock or any other series or class of stock as set forth in this Certificate of Incorporation, shall hold office until a successor is elected at the next succeeding annual meeting of stockholders and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Regardless of the foregoing sentence, in the case of directors designated as Class I directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2003, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2006 and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal, and in the case of directors designated as Class II directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2007 and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal, and in the case of directors designated as Class III directors elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2002, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in 2002, such directors shall hold office until a successor is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in

B-2

2005 and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, howsoever resulting, shall be filled according to the terms specified in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, whenever the holders of any one or more classes or series thereof of Preferred Stock issued by the Corporation shall have the right, voting separately by class or series, to elect directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, the election, term of office, filling of vacancies and other features of such directorships shall be governed by the terms of this Certificate of Incorporation or the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to the second paragraph of Article FOURTH applicable thereto, and such directors so elected shall not be divided into classes pursuant to this Article SIXTH unless expressly provided by much terms.

III.

CHANGES THAT WOULD BE MADE TO ARTICLE SEVENTH:

SEVENTH: Elections of directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation shall otherwise provide.

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders may be taken only upon the vote of the stockholders at an annual or special meeting duly noticed and called, as provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation, and may not be taken by written consent of the stockholders pursuant to the GCL; provided, however, if the Corporation has only one stockholder, then any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or spatial meeting of stockholders may be taken by the written consent of such stockholder.

IV.

CHANGES THAT WOULD BE MADE TO ARTICLE TENTH:

TENTH: In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors <u>is expressly authorized</u> shall have the sole authority to adopt, repeal, alter, amend or rescind the Bylaws of the Corporation.

V.

CHANGES THAT WOULD BE MADE TO ARTICLE ELEVENTH:

ELEVENTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation in the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware and all rights conferred upon stockholders are granted subject to this reservation; provided, however, that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of law which might otherwise permit a lesser vote, but in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series thereof of the stock of this Corporation required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3 percent of the combined voting power of the outstanding shares of stock of all classes and series thereof of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to amend, repeal or adopt any provision inconsistent with (i) the second sentence of Article FIFTH, (ii) Article

SIXTH, (iii) the second paragraph of Article SEVENTH, (iv) Article TENTH or (v) this Article ELEVENTH.

B-3

ANNEX C

2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN

Section 1. Purpose; Effective Date; Definitions

The purpose of the 3D Systems Corporation 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (the "Plan") is to assist the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates in attracting and retaining employees and consultants of outstanding competence by providing an incentive that permits the persons responsible for the Company's growth to share directly in that growth and to further the identity of their interests with the interests of the Company's stockholders. Subject to stockholder approval on or before such date, this Plan is effective as of May 19, 2004.

For purposes of the Plan, the following terms shall be defined as set forth below:

- (a) "Affiliate" means any current or future entity other than the Company and its Subsidiaries that is designated by the Board as a participating employer under the Plan.
 - (b) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (c) "Cause" means, but is not limited to, any of the following actions: embezzlement; fraud; nonpayment of any obligation owed to the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate; breach of fiduciary duty; deliberate disregard of the Company's rules resulting in loss, damage or injury to the Company; unauthorized disclosure of any trade secret or confidential information; conduct constituting unfair competition; and the inducement of any customer of the Company to breach a contract with the Company. The determination of whether Cause exists shall be made in the Company's sole discretion.
- (d) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
 - (e) "Committee" means the Committee referred to in Section 2 of the Plan.
 - (f) "Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Company.
- (g) "Company" means 3D Systems Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, or any successor corporation.
 - (h) "Disability" means disability as determined under procedures established by the Committee for purposes of this Plan.
 - $(i) \quad \text{"} \textbf{Exchange Act"} \text{ means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.}$
- (j) "Fair Market Value" means, as of any given date, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in good faith, the mean between the highest and lowest quoted selling price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market (or such other principal stock exchange on which the Company's shares are listed on such date, as applicable) or, if no such sale of Common Stock occurs on the Nasdaq Stock Market (or such other principal stock exchange, as applicable) on such date, the fair market value of the Common Stock as determined by the Committee in good faith.
- (k) "Incentive Stock Option" means any Stock Option and designated as an "incentive stock option" within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
 - (l) "**Issue Price**" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(b).
 - (m) "Nonqualified Stock Option" means any Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

(n) "Participant" means an employee or consultant who receives an award under this Plan.

C-1

- (o) "Performance Award" means an award under Section 8 that is based on the level of attainment of performance goals related to objective business criteria.
- (p) "**Person**" means "person" as defined in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and as used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a "group" as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act but excluding the Company, any Subsidiary or any Affiliate, and any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate (including any trustee of such plan acting in the capacity of trustee).
- (q) "Plan" means this 3D Systems Corporation 2004 Incentive Stock Plan, and any successor thereto, as amended from time to time.
 - (r) "Plan Year" shall mean the calendar year.
 - (s) "Restricted Stock" means an award of shares of Common Stock that is subject to restrictions under Section 6.
- (t) "Retirement" means retirement from active employment by or service with the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate on or after age 65.
- (u) "Stock Option" or "Option" means any option to purchase shares of Common Stock (including Restricted Stock, if the Committee so determines) granted pursuant to Section 5.
- (v) "Subsidiary" means those corporations fifty percent (50%) or more of whose outstanding voting stock is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Company and those partnerships and joint ventures in which the Company owns directly or indirectly a fifty percent (50%) or more interest in the capital account or earnings.

Section 2. Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee, which consists of two or more members of the Board, each of whom shall be both a "Non-Employee Director," as that term is defined in Rule 16b-3(b)(3)(i) of the Exchange Act, and an "outside director" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

The Committee shall have full authority to grant, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, to employees and consultants eligible under Section 4: (i) Stock Options, (ii) Restricted Stock; and/or (iii) Performance Awards.

In particular the Committee shall have the authority, without limitation:

- (i) To select the employees and consultants to whom Stock Options, Restricted Stock, and/or Performance Awards may be granted hereunder, separately or in tandem, from time to time;
- (ii) Subject to the provisions of Sections 3 and 8, to determine the number of shares of Common Stock to be covered by each such award granted hereunder;
- (iii)

 To determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any award granted hereunder, which terms and conditions are not required to be the same in respect of each Participant;
- (iv)

 To designate the Corporate Secretary of the Company, other officers or employees of the Company or competent professional advisors to assist the Committee in the administration of the Plan, and to grant authority to such persons to execute agreements or other documents on its behalf.

The Committee shall have the authority to adopt, alter, and repeal such rules, guidelines and practices governing the Plan as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable; to interpret the terms and

C-2

provisions of the Plan and any award issued under the Plan (and any agreements relating thereto); and to otherwise supervise the administration of the Plan.

All decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan shall be made in the Committee's sole discretion and shall be final and binding on all persons, including the Company and Plan Participants.

Section 3. Common Stock Subject to Plan

(a) *Number of Shares Available for Award.* Effective May 19, 2004, the total number of shares of Common Stock reserved and available for distribution under the Plan shall be one million (1,000,000) shares.

If shares of Common Stock cease to be subject to a Stock Option, or if shares of Common Stock that are subject to any Restricted Stock award or Performance Award granted hereunder are repurchased by the Company or forfeited (as applicable), or any such award otherwise terminates without a payment being made to the Participant in the form of Common Stock, such shares shall not be counted against the share limits set forth in this Section 3 and shall again be available for distribution in connection with future awards under the Plan.

In the event of any change in the outstanding shares of Common Stock or other securities then subject to the Plan by reason of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination or exchange of shares or other similar corporate change, or if the outstanding securities of the class then subject to the Plan are exchanged for or converted into cash, property or a different kind of security, or if cash, property or securities are distributed in respect of such outstanding securities (other than a regular cash dividend), then, unless the terms of such transaction shall provide otherwise, such equitable adjustments shall be made in the Plan and the awards thereunder (including, without limitation, appropriate and proportionate adjustments in (i) the number and type of shares or other securities that may be acquired pursuant to awards thereafter granted under the Plan; (ii) the maximum number and type of shares or other securities that may be issued pursuant to awards thereafter granted under the Plan; (iii) the number of shares of Restricted Stock that are outstanding; and (iv) the maximum number of shares or other securities with respect to which awards may thereafter be granted to any Participant in any Plan Year) as the Committee determines are necessary or appropriate, including, if necessary, any adjustment in the maximum number of shares of Common Stock available for distribution under the Plan as set forth in this Section 3. Such adjustments shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes of the Plan.

(b) *Limitation on Shares Subject to Stock Options*. Subject to adjustment from time to time pursuant to Section 3(a) above, not more than one-hundred thousand (100,000) shares of Common Stock, in the aggregate, may be made subject to Stock Options under the Plan in respect of any one Participant during any Plan Year.

Section 4. Eligibility

Any person who is an employee of or consultant to the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate shall be eligible to be considered for the grant of Stock Options, Restricted Stock, and/or Performance Awards under the Plan.

Section 5. Stock Options

Stock Options granted under the Plan may be of two types: (i) Incentive Stock Options and (ii) Nonqualified Stock Options. Any Stock Option shall be in such form as the Committee may from time to time approve; shall be subject to the following terms and conditions; and shall contain such

C-3

additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, as the Committee shall deem desirable:

- (a) *Exercise Price*. The exercise price per share of Common Stock purchasable under a Stock Option shall be determined by the Committee at the time of grant but shall be not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date of the grant, *provided*, *however*, that the exercise price per share of Common Stock purchasable under an Incentive Stock Option that is granted to an individual who, at the time of the grant, owns stock possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, shall not be less than one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date of the grant.
- (b) *Option Term and Exercisability*. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee, but no Stock Option shall be exercisable more than ten (10) years after the date such Option is granted; *provided, however*, that no Incentive Stock Option that is granted to an individual who, at the time of the grant, owns Common Stock possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, shall be exercisable more than five (5) years after the date such Incentive Stock Option is granted. Stock Options shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Committee and set forth in an agreement evidencing the award.
- (c) *Method of Exercise.* Stock Options may be exercised in whole or in part subject to the terms of the agreement evidencing such Stock Options by giving written notice of exercise to the Company, or its designated representative, specifying the number of shares to be purchased.

Such notice shall be accompanied by payment in full of the exercise price, either by check, note or such other instrument as the Committee may accept. As determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, payment in full or in part also may be made through a "cashless exercise" (which will be conducted in a manner acceptable to the Company through a third party broker, and otherwise in compliance with Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) in which the exercise price is subtracted from the number of shares of Common Stock received by the Participant upon exercise of the Stock Option (based on the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date the Option is exercised), *provided, however*, that in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the number of shares used or deemed to be used to satisfy the exercise price will not be treated as having been purchased through the exercise of an Incentive Stock Option.

No shares of Common Stock shall be issued until full payment has been made. No Participant shall have interest in or be entitled to voting rights or dividends or other rights or privileges of stockholders of the Company with respect to shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the Plan unless, and until, shares of Common Stock actually are issued to such person and then only from the date such person becomes the record owner thereof and, if requested, has given the representation described in Section 14.

- (d) *Termination by reason of Death or Disability*. If a Participant's employment by or service with the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate terminates by reason of death or Disability, any Stock Option held by such optionee thereafter may be exercised until the expiration of twelve (12) months after the date of such termination, provided such Stock Option was exercisable on such date of termination.
- (e) *Termination by the Company without Cause, Retirement, Resignation.* If a Participant's employment by or service with the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate is terminated (other than as provided in subsection (d) above) by the Company without Cause, by reason of Retirement, or on account of voluntary resignation provided that it is determined by the Committee that Cause

C-4

did not exist as of the time of resignation, any Stock Option held by such Participant thereafter may be exercised until the expiration of ninety (90) days after the date of such termination, provided such Stock Option was exercisable on such date of termination.

- (f) *Other Termination*. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, if a Participant's employment by or service with the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate is terminated for any reason other than as specified in subsections (d) and (e) above, including termination with Cause, any unexercised Stock Option granted to such Participant shall be cancelled on the date of such termination, whether or not exercisable on such date.
- (g) *Incentive Stock Options*. Anything in the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no term of this Plan relating to Incentive Stock Options shall be interpreted, amended or altered, nor shall any discretion or authority granted under the Plan be so exercised, without the consent of the Participant(s) affected, to disqualify any Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code. If an Incentive Stock Option is exercised other than in accordance with the exercise periods that apply for purposes of Section 422 of the

Code, such Stock Option thereafter will be treated as a Nonqualified Stock Option.

Section 6. Restricted Stock

- (a) Exercise of Right to Purchase Shares. A Participant who has been granted an award of Restricted Stock may exercise his or her right to purchase shares of Common Stock during the sixty (60) day period beginning immediately after the grant of the award, provided that such individual still is an employee of or consultant to the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate on the date of such exercise. The Participant shall exercise his or her right to purchase by giving written notice to the Company. The Issue Price of the Common Stock to be issued shall be tendered in cash at the time such notice is given.
- (b) *Issue Price*. Prior to the issuance of Common Stock, the Participant shall pay to the Company any amount of money per share (the "Issue Price") to be determined by the Committee that shall take into consideration the value of the services performed and to be performed by the Participant, and which amount shall not be less than par value, nor more than ten percent (10%) of the Fair Market Value per share on the date of the award. If the Issue Price (as determined by the Committee on the date of the award) exceeds ten percent (10%) of the Fair Market Value per share, the Issue Price shall be reduced to an amount that shall represent ten percent (10%) of the Fair Market Value per share.

(c) Company Option to Repurchase.

- Unless a different period is specified by the Committee at the time an award of Restricted Stock is granted, for a period beginning on the date of the grant and ending on the third anniversary of such date or the date specified in paragraph (ii) below, whichever is later, the Common Stock underlying such award shall be subject to an option in favor of the Company to repurchase at a price per share equal to the Issue Price. The option of the Company only shall become exercisable upon the termination of employment or service of the Participant with the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate, other than by reason of death or Disability.
- (ii)

 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the case of a Participant who terminates employment or service within 120 days or less before the third anniversary of the grant date, the option of the Company to repurchase the Restricted Stock shall not expire until 120 days after the date of such termination.
- (ii)

 The decision to exercise any such option as to all or part of the Common Stock subject thereto shall be made by the Committee and communicated to the Chief Executive Officer or

C-5

other appropriate officer of the Company authorized to take any action necessary to effectuate such decision.

- (iv)

 Neither the Common Stock underlying an award of Restricted Stock nor any interest therein shall be sold, transferred or encumbered until such option expires.
- (d) Exercise of Option to Repurchase. The Company shall exercise its option to repurchase the Common Stock underlying a grant of Restricted Stock, in whole or part, by sending written notice to the Participant at the address specified by the Participant for such purpose no later than 120 days after the Participant's termination of employment or service. The notice shall set forth all necessary information to instruct the Participant in respect of endorsing and returning to the Company the certificates representing such Common Stock, including the date on which such certificates should be returned. Written notice also may be delivered in person to the Participant, at any location, provided that such delivery occurs no later than 120 days after the Participant's termination of employment or service. The Participant or any successor in interest with respect to such Common Stock shall have no further rights as a stockholder of the Company from and after the date specified in the notice. If certificates duly are delivered in accordance with the written notice, the Company promptly shall send the Participant a check in repayment of the Issue Price. The Company shall affix to such certificates any required stock transfer stamps. If certificates are not so delivered, the Company shall deposit the required amount of payment in an escrow account in the name of the Participant to be held pending delivery of the certificates, and the Company immediately shall advise its transfer agent of such action.
- (e) *Legend on Certificate.* All shares of Common Stock underlying a grant of Restricted Stock that are subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company shall be issued with a legend substantially in the following form:

This certificate and the shares represented hereby are held subject to the terms of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (the "Plan") of 3D Systems Corporation (the "Company"), which Plan provides that the shares issued pursuant thereto are subject to an option in favor of the Company to reacquire such shares at a price that may be significantly lower than their fair market value and that neither such shares nor any interest therein may be sold, transferred or encumbered until the expiration of such option. If such option is exercised, the holder of the shares represented by this certificate will have no further rights with respect to such shares and this certificate will be deemed void. A copy of such Plan is available for inspection at the executive offices of the Company.

Upon the expiration of the Company's option to reacquire the shares of Common Stock, the Participant may surrender to the Company the certificate(s) representing such Common Stock in exchange for a new certificate(s), free of the above legend, or for a statement from the Company representing such shares in book entry form free of such legend.

(f) *Rights as Stockholder*. The prospective recipient of a Restricted Stock award shall not have any right with respect to such award, unless and until the recipient has executed an agreement evidencing the award, delivered a fully executed copy thereof to the Company, and otherwise complied with the terms and conditions of such award and of this Section 6, and then only from the date such person becomes the record owner of the shares of Restricted Stock. Once the conditions in the foregoing sentence have been satisfied, and except as provided in Section 6(c), the Participant shall have with respect to an award of Restricted Stock all the rights of a stockholder of the Company, including the right to vote and to receive cash dividends (if any). The Committee, in its sole discretion, as determined at the time of the award, may permit or require such cash dividends (if any) to be reinvested in additional Restricted Stock, provided that sufficient shares of Common Stock are available under Section 3 for such reinvestment (taking into account then outstanding awards under the Plan). Stock dividends issued with respect to Restricted Stock shall be treated as additional shares of

C-6

Restricted Stock that are subject to the same restrictions and other terms and conditions that apply to the shares with respect to which such dividends are issued.

Section 7. Performance Awards

- (a) *Performance Goals*. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Plan to the contrary, unless the Committee otherwise determines at the time of grant, any Restricted Stock granted to an officer who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended, *and* whose compensation is subject to the limitation on deductibility of compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, shall be a Performance Award and shall vest or otherwise become exercisable only upon the determination by the Committee that performance goals established by the Committee have been attained, in whole or in part. Such performance goals, the business criteria upon which they are based, and the weights or other formulas to be applied to any such business criteria shall be set forth in writing by the Committee not later than ninety (90) days after the start of each Plan Year; *provided, however*, that if the performance goals are to be measured over a period shorter than the Plan Year, the above items are to be set forth in writing by the Committee before twenty-five percent (25%) of the measurement period has elapsed. The relevant business criteria include, either individually or in combination, applied to the Participant or to the Company, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate as a whole or to individual units thereof, and measured either absolutely or relative to a designated group of comparable companies: (i) cash flow, (ii) earnings per share, (iii) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA), (iv) return on equity, (v) total stockholder return, (vi) return on capital, (vii) return on assets or net assets, (viii) revenue, (ix) income or net income, (x) operating income or net operating profit or net operating profit, (xiii) operating margin, and (xiii) return on operating revenue.
- (b) *Maximum Performance Award*. The maximum, aggregate amount that can be awarded to any one Participant pursuant to Performance Awards in one (1) Plan Year is one million dollars (\$1,000,000).
- (c) *Interpretation.* The Committee shall not have the discretion to accelerate the vesting or other lapse of restrictions relating to any Performance Award, or to decrease the Issue Price or other exercise price of any Performance Award, once granted. Notwithstanding anything else in the Plan to the contrary, the Committee shall not be entitled to exercise any discretion if it would cause a Performance Award to fail to qualify as performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

Section 8. Change in Control

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, in the event that (i) the Company is merged into or consolidated with another corporation or other entity and as a result of such merger or consolidation less than seventy percent (70%) of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the surviving or resulting corporation or other entity shall, after giving effect to such merger or consolidation, be

"beneficially owned" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of Exchange Act) in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, by the former stockholders of the Company (excluding from such computation any such securities beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by "affiliates" of the Company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) and such securities so beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by a party to such merger or consolidation), (ii) the Company shall sell all or substantially all of its assets, (iii) any "person" is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as the terms "person" and "beneficial owner" are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing thirty percent (30%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities, (iv) as a result of any solicitation subject to Rule 14a-11 under the Exchange Act (or any successor rule thereto) one or more persons not recommended by or opposed for election to the Board by one-third or more of the directors of the

C-7

Company then in office is or are elected a director of the Company, or (v) the Company shall become subject for any reason to a voluntary or involuntary dissolution or liquidation, then, in any such event, as of the close of business at the principal executive office of the Company on the business day immediately preceding the date on which such event occurs, for purposes of the Plan and to the extent that the provisions of the Plan remain applicable to shares granted under the Plan, (x) Stock Options granted under the Plan, to the extent not already vested, shall immediately vest and become exercisable; (y) the restriction provided for in Section 6(c) of the Plan in respect of Restricted Stock shall without further act expire and cease to apply, and the requirement of a legend on stock certificates provided for in Section 6 of the Plan shall without further act expire and cease to apply, and each Participant holding Restricted Stock shall thereupon have the right to receive an unlegended certificate as set forth in the last sentence of Section 6(e) of the Plan; and (z) the performance goals to which the vesting of Performance Awards are subject shall be deemed to be met at target, such that Performance Awards immediately become fully vested.

Section 9. Transferability; Successors

Stock Options, Restricted Stock or Performance Awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred or disposed of in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may permit further transferability, on a general or specific basis, and may impose conditions and limitations on any permitted transferability.

The provisions of the Plan shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of all successors of any person receiving Common Stock of the Corporation pursuant to the Plan, including, without limitation, the estate of such person and the executors, administrators or trustees thereof, the heirs and legatees of such person, and any receiver, trustee in bankruptcy or representative of creditors of such person.

Section 10. Amendments and Termination

The Board may amend, alter or discontinue the Plan at any time, provided that (i) no amendment, alteration or discontinuation shall be made which would impair the rights of a Participant in respect of any outstanding award hereunder without such Participant's prior consent; and (ii) the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan (subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 3), either in the aggregate, or, pursuant to Stock Options granted to any one person, shall not be increased; the minimum Stock Option exercise prices set forth in Section 5(a) shall not be decreased; the minimum Issue Price set forth in Section 6(b) shall not be decreased; and any provision of Section 8 relating to Performance Awards shall not be changed, without further approval of the stockholders of the Company.

Subject to the above provisions, the Board shall have broad authority to amend the Plan to take in to account changes in applicable securities and tax laws and accounting rules, as well as other developments.

Section 11. Company's Right to Terminate Retention; Exclusivity

Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or additional compensation arrangements or modifying existing compensation arrangements for Participants, subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required by applicable statute, rule or regulation; and such arrangements either may be generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases. Neither the adoption of the Plan nor a grant to a Participant of any Stock Option, Restricted Stock award or Performance Aware shall confer upon any Participant any right to continued employment or service with the Company.

C-8

Section 12. Tax Withholding

The Company shall make appropriate provisions for the payment of any Federal, state or local taxes or any other charges that may be required by law to be withheld by reason of a grant or the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan.

Section 13. Choice of Law

The Plan and all awards made and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 14. Governmental and Other Regulations and Restrictions

- (a) *In General.* The issuance by the Company of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and to such approvals by governmental agencies as may be required.
- (b) Registration of Shares. The Company shall use its reasonable commercial efforts to cause the shares of Common Stock issuable in connection with this Plan to be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), but shall otherwise be under no obligation to register any shares of Common Stock issued under the Plan under the Securities Act or otherwise. If, at the time any shares of Common Stock are issued pursuant to the Plan, there shall not be on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission an effective Registration Statement under the Securities Act covering such shares of Common Stock, the Participant to whom such shares are to be issued will execute and deliver to the Company upon receipt by him or her of any such shares an undertaking, in form and substance satisfactory to the Company, that (i) such Participant has had access or will, by reason of such person's employment or service with the Company, or otherwise, have access to sufficient information concerning the Company to enable him or her to evaluate the merits and risks of the acquisition of shares of the Company's Common Stock pursuant to the Plan, (ii) such Participant has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that such person is capable of evaluating such acquisition, (iii) it is the intention of such Participant to acquire and hold such shares for investment and not for the resale or distribution thereof, (iv) such Participant will comply with the Securities Act and the Exchange Act with respect to such shares, and (v) such Participant will indemnify the Company for any cost, liability and expense that the Company may sustain by reason of any violation of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act occasioned by any act or omission on his or her part with respect to such shares.
- (c) *Resale of Shares.* Without limiting the generality of Section 9, shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan shall not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of unless and until either (i) such shares shall have been registered by the Company under the Securities Act, (ii) the Company shall have received either a "no action" letter from the Securities and Exchange Commission or an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Company to the effect that such sale, transfer or other disposition of the shares may be effected without such registration, or (iii) such sale, transfer or disposition of the shares is made pursuant to Rule 144 of the General Rules and Regulations promulgated under the Securities Act, as the same may from time to time be in effect, and the Company shall have received an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Company to such effect.
- (d) **Legend on Certificates.** The Company may require that any certificate evidencing shares issued pursuant to the Plan bear a restrictive legend and be subject to stop-transfer orders or other actions, intended to effect compliance with the Securities Act or any other applicable regulatory measure.

C-9

Section 15. Election With Respect to Restricted Property

A Participant who receives an award of Restricted Stock shall be entitled to make, at his or her discretion, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such restricted property and in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, the election provided for under Section 83(b) of the Code to be taxed on the fair market value of such restricted property at the time it is received. Participants should consult their individual tax advisors as to the tax consequences to them of the election under Section 83(b).

C-10

RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

Section 1. Purpose.

This Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "Plan") of 3D Systems Corporation (the "Company") is designed to enhance the ability of the Company to attract, retain and motivate Non-Employee Directors (as defined in Section 3) of exceptional ability and to promote the common interest of directors and stockholders in enhancing the value of the Company's Common Stock. It is the intention of the Company to provide for payment in shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("Common Stock"), of all or a portion of the annual retainer paid to each Non-Employee Director.

Section 2. Stock Available.

The stock subject to the Plan shall be such authorized but unissued or treasury shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be available for issuance pursuant to the Plan. The total amount of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to the Plan is two hundred thousand (200,000) shares, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 7.

Section 3. Eligibility.

Each Non-Employee Director of the Company shall be eligible to participate in the Plan. As used in the Plan, the term "Non-Employee Director" shall include any person who, at the time of his or her election to the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board"), is not an officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates (as such terms are defined in Section 16). Any Non-Employee Director who becomes an officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates shall cease to be eligible to participate in the Plan for so long as such person remains such an officer or employee.

Section 4. Grants of Shares.

Grants of Common Stock under the Plan shall be made as follows:

- (a) *Initial Grants*. On the date any Non-Employee Director first is elected a director of the Company on or after the Effective Date (as defined in Section 19) of the Plan, such Non-Employee Director shall receive a grant of one thousand (1,000) shares of Common Stock; provided that such grant shall not be made (i) to a Non-Employee Director who was, within twelve (12) months immediately preceding his or her election as a director, an officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; or (ii) to a Non-Employee Director who, within twelve (12) months immediately preceding his or her election as a director, already was a director on the Company's Board.
- (b) **Annual Grants.** At the close of business on the date of each annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company, a grant of three thousand (3,000) shares of Common Stock shall be awarded to (i) each Non-Employee Director who is elected on such date; and (ii) each Non-Employee Director whose term of service extends past such date.
- (c) *Interim Grants*. In the event that, on or after the Effective Date of the Plan, any Non-Employee Director is elected a director at other than an annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company, in addition to any Common Stock granted pursuant to Section 4(a), such Non-Employee Director shall receive on the date of such Non-Employee Director's election a grant of that number of shares of Common Stock that is equal to the product of three thousand (3,000) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days remaining

D-1

from the date of such Non-Employee Director's election to the date of the next annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company provided for in accordance with the By-Laws of the Company as then in effect, and the denominator of which shall be 365.

(d) *Non-Transferability of Grants*. Except as provided below in this Section 4(d) and in Section 4(e), no right to receive shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan shall be transferable by any Non-Employee Director and no shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan, or any interest therein, may be sold, transferred, pledged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (including,

without limitation, by way of gift or donation) by the Non-Employee Director to whom such shares are issued, as long as such Non-Employee Director shall remain a director of the Company. In the case that a Non-Employee Director becomes an employee of the Company, but retains his or her position as a director, the restriction on transferability described in this Section 4(d) shall remain on the Common Stock granted pursuant to this Plan as long as such employee shall remain a director of the Company. Each Non-Employee Director may provide the Company with a written designation in form satisfactory to the Company's counsel designating a person or persons ("Beneficiary") entitled to receive shares to be issued pursuant to a grant of shares under the Plan upon the death of such Non-Employee Director after such grant but prior to the issuance of shares pursuant to such grant. The Company shall honor each such written designation, provided that the Beneficiary named shall take all steps necessary to comply with the Plan, including the payment of the Issue Price (as defined below) if not paid by the Non-Employee Director and the execution of any agreement reasonably required by counsel to the Company in order to comply with the Plan or with federal or state securities laws or other legal requirements.

- (e) Sale of Shares to Satisfy Tax Obligation. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, Non-Employee Directors shall be permitted to sell up to fifty percent (50%) of the shares of Common Stock covered by any grant in order to satisfy any tax obligation arising from such grant or grants.
- (f) *Execution of Agreement*. Each grant of Common Stock pursuant to this Section 4 shall be contingent on and subject to (i) payment by the Non-Employee Director (or by his or her Beneficiary) pursuant to Section 5 of the Issue Price for the shares covered by such grant; and (ii) execution by the Non-Employee Director (or by his or her Beneficiary) of a document agreeing to hold the shares of Common Stock covered by such grant in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan (including, without limitation, Sections 4(d), 4(e) and 13) and containing such other terms and conditions as may be required by counsel to the Company in order to comply with federal or state securities laws or other legal requirements.

Section 5. Issue Price of Common Stock.

Prior to the issuance of Common Stock to a Non-Employee Director pursuant to the Plan, the Non-Employee Director shall pay to the Company an amount of money per share ("Issue Price") equal to the par value per share of the Common Stock. The Issue Price for shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the Plan shall be tendered to the Company within thirty (30) days after notice of the amount thereof is given by the Company to the recipient of such shares.

Section 6. Change in Control.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, in the event that (i) the Company is merged into or consolidated with another corporation or other entity and as a result of such merger or consolidation less than seventy percent (70%) of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the surviving or resulting corporation or other entity shall, after giving effect to such merger or consolidation, be "beneficially owned" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Securities Exchange Act")) in the aggregate,

D-2

directly or indirectly, by the former stockholders of the Company (excluding from such computation any such securities beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by "affiliates" of the Company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act) and any such securities so beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by a party to such merger or consolidation); (ii) the Company sells all or substantially all of its assets; (iii) any "person" is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as the terms "person" and "beneficial owner" are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing thirty percent (30%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities; (iv) as a result of any solicitation subject to Rule 14a-11 under the Securities Exchange Act (or any successor rule thereto), one or more persons not recommended by or opposed for election to the Board of Directors by one-third or more of the directors of the Company then in office is or are elected a director of the Company; or (v) the Company shall become subject for any reason to a voluntary or involuntary dissolution or liquidation, then, as of the close of business at the principal executive office of the Company on the business day immediately preceding the date on which such event occurs, for purposes of the Plan and to the extent that the provisions of the Plan remain applicable to shares granted under the Plan, the restriction provided in Section 4(d) of the Plan shall without further act expire and cease to apply to any securities granted under the Plan, and each Non-Employee Director holding shares issued under the Plan shall thereupon have the right to receive an unlegended certificate as set forth in the last sentence of Section 9.

Section 7. Adjustments.

In the event of changes in the common stock of the Company after the Effective Date by reason of any stock dividend, split-up, combination of shares, reclassification, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, reorganization or liquidation: (a) the restriction provided in Section 4(d) and the requirement of a legend on stock certificates provided in Sections 9 and 10(d) shall apply to any securities issued in connection with any such change in respect of stock which has been granted under the Plan; and (b) appropriate adjustments shall be made by the Board as to (i) the number of shares to be delivered and the Issue Price where such change occurred after the date of the grant but before the date the stock covered by the grant is delivered; and (ii) the number and class of shares available under the Plan in the aggregate, which changes shall be made in the same manner as such items are adjusted for purposes of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan of 3D Systems Corporation as then in effect.

Section 8. Action by Company.

Neither the existence of the Plan nor the issuance of Common Stock pursuant thereto shall impair the right of the Company or its stockholders to make or effect any adjustment, recapitalization or other change in the Common Stock referred to in Section 7, any change in the Company's business, any issuance of debt obligations or stock by the Company, or any grant of options on stock of the Company.

Section 9. Legend on Stock Certificates.

Every certificate of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan shall, so long as the restriction provided in Section 4(d) remains in effect, bear a legend in substantially the following form:

This certificate and the shares represented hereby are held subject to the terms of the Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "Plan") of 3D Systems Corporation, which provides that neither the shares issued pursuant thereto, nor any interest therein, may be sold, transferred, pledged, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (including, without limitation, by way of gift or donation) except in accordance with the Plan. A copy of the Plan is available for inspection at the executive offices of 3D Systems Corporation.

D-3

Each Non-Employee Director may surrender to the Company the certificate or certificates representing such shares in exchange for a new certificate or certificates, free of the above legend, at any time after either such Non-Employee Director has ceased to be a director of the Company or the restriction provided in Section 4(d) otherwise has ceased to apply to the shares covered by such certificate.

Section 10. Government and Other Regulations and Restrictions.

- (a) *In General.* The issuance by the Company of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and to such approvals by governmental agencies as may be required.
- (b) Registration of Shares. The Company shall use its reasonable commercial efforts to cause the Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Plan to be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), but otherwise shall be under no obligation to register shares of Common Stock issued under the Plan under the Securities Act or otherwise. If, at the time shares of Common Stock are issued pursuant to the Plan, there shall not be on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering such shares of Common Stock, the Non-Employee Director to whom such shares are to be issued will execute and deliver to the Company upon receipt by him or her of any such shares an undertaking, in form and substance satisfactory to the Company, that (i) such Non-Employee Director has had access or will, by reason of such person's service as a director of the Company, or otherwise, have access to sufficient information concerning the Company to enable him or her to evaluate the merits and risks of the acquisition of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan; (ii) such Non-Employee Director has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that such person is capable of evaluating such acquisition; (iii) it is the intention of such Non-Employer Director to acquire and hold such shares for investment and not for the resale or distribution thereof; (iv) such Non-Employer Director will comply with the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act with respect to such shares; and (v) such Non-Employer Director will indemnify the Company for any cost, liability and expense that the Company may sustain by reason of any violation of the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act occasioned by any act or omission on his or her part with respect to such shares.
- (c) **Resale of Shares.** Without limiting the generality of Section 4(d), shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan shall not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of unless and until either (i) such shares shall have been registered by the Company under the Securities Act; (ii) the Company shall have received either a "no action" letter from the Securities and Exchange Commission or an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Company to the effect that such sale, transfer or other disposition of the shares may be effected without such registration; or (iii) such sale, transfer or other disposition of the shares is made pursuant to Rule 144 of the General Rules and Regulations promulgated under the Securities Act, as the same may from time to time be in effect, and the Company shall have received an opinion of

counsel acceptable to the Company to such effect.

(d) *Legend on Certificates.* The Company may require that any certificate or certificates evidencing shares issued pursuant to the Plan bear a restrictive legend, and be subject to stop-transfer orders or other actions, intended to effect compliance with the Securities Act or any other applicable regulatory measures.

Section 11. Company's Right to Terminate Retention; Non-Exclusivity.

Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or additional compensation arrangements or modifying existing compensation arrangements for Non-Employee Directors, subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required by applicable statute, rule or regulation; and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific

D-4

cases. The adoption of the Plan shall not confer upon any member of the Board any right to continued membership on the Board.

Section 12. No Rights in Common Stock.

No Non-Employee Director or Beneficiary shall have any interest in or be entitled to voting rights or dividends or other rights or privileges of stockholders of the Company with respect to shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the Plan unless, and until, shares of Common Stock actually are issued to such person and then only from the date such person becomes the record owner thereof.

Section 13. Tax Withholding.

The Company shall make appropriate provisions for the payment of any Federal, state or local tax or any other tax that may be required by law to be withheld by reason of a grant or the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan.

Section 14. No Liability.

No member of the Board, or any officer or employee of the Company acting on behalf of the Board, shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation taken or made in good faith with respect to the Plan, and all members of the Board and any officer or employee of the Company acting on their behalf shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protected by the Company in respect of any such action, determination or interpretation.

Section 15. Successors.

The provisions of the Plan shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of all successors of any person receiving Common Stock pursuant to the Plan, including, without limitation, the estate of such person and the executors, administrators or trustees thereof, the heirs and legatees of such person, and any receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, or representative of creditors of such person.

Section 16. Subsidiaries and Affiliates.

For purposes of the Plan, term (a) the term "Subsidiaries" includes those corporations fifty percent (50%) or more of whose outstanding voting stock is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Company and those partnerships and joint ventures in which the Company owns, directly or indirectly, a 50 percent (50%) or more interest in the capital account or earnings; and (b) the term "Affiliates" means any current or future entity other than the Company and its Subsidiaries that is designated by the Board as participating under the Plan.

Section 17. Expenses.

The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company.

Section 18. Termination and Amendment.

The Board (or any committee thereof, as designated by the board to administrate the Plan) may from time to time amend or discontinue the Plan or any provision thereof; provided that no amendment or modification of the Plan shall, without the prior approval of the stockholders of

the Company:

- (a) increase the number of shares of Common Stock available for grant;
- (b) materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan;
- (c) modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation; or

D-5

(d) change any of the provisions of this Section 18.

No amendment or discontinuation of the Plan or any provision thereof shall, without the written consent of the participant, adversely affect any shares theretofore granted to such participant under the Plan.

Section 19. Effective Date.

The Plan shall become effective on May 19, 2004, subject to the approval of the stockholders of the Company.

D-6

- DETACH PROXY CARD HERE -

PROXY

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION

The undersigned hereby appoints Abraham N. Reichental, Robert M. Grace, Jr. and Fred R. Jones, or any of them, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, with full power of substitution, on behalf and in the name of the undersigned, to represent the undersigned and, to vote the shares of the undersigned which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if then and there personally present at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of 3D Systems Corporation (the "2004 Annual Meeting") to be held at 10:00 a.m., P.D.T., on May 19, 2004 at the offices of the Company at 26081 Avenue Hall, Valencia, California 91355 and at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

This proxy will be voted as directed, or, if no contrary direction is indicated, will be voted FOR the Election of the Class II Director Nominees, FOR Proposal Nos. 2 through 9, as recommended by the Board of Directors on any other matters that may come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof or, in the absence of a board recommendation on any such other proper matters, in the proxy holders' discretion.

SEE REVERSE SIDE

Your vote is important. Please vote Today!

Please mark, sign, date and return your proxy form in the envelope provided.

Address Change/Comments (Mark the corresponding box on the reverse side)

3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION

YOU MAY VOTE BY TELEPHONE It's Fast and Convenient

TWO WAYS TO VOTE:

TELEPHONE OR MAIL 1-888-426-7035 Mark, date and sign your proxy card and return it in the enclosed Use any touch-tone telephone to vote your proxy. postage-paid envelope. Have your proxy card in hand when you call. You will be prompted to enter your control number, located in the box below, and then follow the directions given. You can vote by telephone 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, but no telephone voting will be availabe after Midnight, E.D.T., on May 18, 2004. Your telephone vote authorizes the named proxies to vote your shares in the same manner as if you marked, signed and returned your proxy card. If you have submitted your vote by telephone there is no need for you to mail back your proxy card. - DETACH PROXY CARD HERE IF YOU ARE NOT VOTING BY TELEPHONE -The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 1 Election of Class II Director Nominees: o FOR ALL WITHHOLD Please Mark Here for Address o 0 **NOMINEES** FROM ALL Change or Comments NOMINEES SEE REVERSE SIDE Nominees: 01 Miriam V. Gold, 02 Abraham N. Reichental The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 6 Approval of the amendment of Article ELEVENTH of the Certification To withhold authority to vote for one or more of the Class II Nominees, check the "FOR ALL NOMINEES" box and write the nominee(s) name(s) of Incorporation. from whom you want to withhold votes in the space below. FOR **AGAINST** ABSTAIN 0 The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 7 The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 2 Approval of the amendment of Article FIFTH of the Certificate of Approval of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. 7. Incorporation. **FOR AGAINST** ABSTAIN FOR ABSTAIN AGAINST The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 3 The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 8 Approval of the amendment of Article SIXTH of the Certificate of 8. Approval of the Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Incorporation. FOR **AGAINST** ABSTAIN **FOR AGAINST** ABSTAIN The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 4 The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 9 Approval of the amendment of Article SEVENTH of the Certificate of Ratification of the appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as the Incorporation. independent auditor for the year ending December 31, 2004.

FOR

o

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

1.

2

3.

4.

5.

FOR

Incorporation.

0

AGAINST

The Board of Directors Recommends a vote FOR Proposal No. 5

Approval of the amendment of Article TENTH of the Certificate of

ABSTAIN

Λ	FOR	Λ	AGAINST	Λ	ABSTAIN

The undersigned hereby revokes all proxies previously given by the undersigned to vote at the 2004 Annual Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof and acknowledges receipt of 3D Systems Corporation's Proxy Statement dated March 31, 2004 for the 2004 Annual Meeting.

PLEASE MARK THIS BOX IF YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING. $\;\;$ o

By checking the box to the right, I consent to future delivery of annual reports, proxy statements, prospectuses and other materials and stockholder communications electronically via the Internet at a webpage which will be disclosed to me. I understand that the Company may no longer distribute printed materials to me for any future stockholder meeting until such consent is revoked. I understand that I may revoke my consent at any time by contacting 3D Systems Corporation's transfer agent, US Stock Transfer Corporation, at 1745 Gardena Ave., Glendale, California 91204, and that costs normally associated with electronic delivery, such as usage and telephone charges as well as any costs I may incur in printing documents, will be my responsibility.

Signature(s):	Date:	 ,200

NOTE: Please sign EXACTLY as name appears above. When signing on behalf of a corporation, estate, trust or other stockholder, please give its full name and state your full title or capacity or otherwise indicate that you are authorized to sign.

Please Detach Here
-You Must Detach This Portion of the Proxy Card Before Returning it in the Enclosed Envelope

QuickLinks

CONTENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

VOTING MATTERS

VOTING SECURITIES

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF CLASS II DIRECTORS

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

OPTION GRANTS IN 2003

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN 2003 AND 2003 YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

PROPOSAL NOS. 2 THROUGH 6 AMENDMENT OF SUPERMAJORITY PROVISIONS

PROPOSAL NO. 7 APPROVAL OF 2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN

PROPOSAL NO. 8 APPROVAL OF RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

PROPOSAL NO. 9 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PRINCIPAL INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FEES

CHANGE IN INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN 2003

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE COMPARISONS

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* AMONG 3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION, THE NASDAO STOCK

MARKET (U.S.) INDEX AND THE S & P INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INDEX

CODE OF ETHICS

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2005 ANNUAL MEETING

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SECURITY HOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

OTHER MATTERS

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

3D SYSTEMS CORPORATION AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES CALENDAR (Addendum to Audit Committee Charter)

2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

tions.

We cannot predict if, how or when such proceedings or investigations will be resolved or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief, if any, may be. A large number of factors may contribute to this inherent unpredictability: the proceeding is in its early stages; the damages sought are unspecified, unsupported or uncertain; it is unclear whether a case brought as a class action will be allowed to proceed on that basis; the other party is seeking relief other than or in addition to compensatory damages (including, in the case of regulatory and governmental proceedings, potential fines and penalties); the matters present significant legal uncertainties; we have not engaged in settlement discussions; discovery is not complete; there are significant facts in dispute; and numerous parties are named as defendants (including where it is uncertain how liability might be shared among defendants).

We contest liability and/or the amount of damages, as appropriate, in each pending matter. Over the last several years, the level of litigation and investigatory activity (both formal and informal) by government and self-regulatory agencies has increased significantly in the financial services industry. While we have identified below certain proceedings that we believe could be material, individually or collectively, there can be no assurance that material losses will not be incurred from claims that have not yet been asserted or are not yet determined to be material.

We may include in some of the descriptions of individual matters below certain quantitative information about the plaintiff's claim against us as alleged in the plaintiff's pleadings or other public filings. Although this information may provide insight into the potential magnitude of a matter, it does not represent our estimate of reasonably possible loss or our judgment as to any currently appropriate accrual related thereto.

Subject to the foregoing, we believe, after consultation with counsel and consideration of the accrued liability amounts included in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements, that the outcome of such litigation and regulatory proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition. However, the outcome of such litigation and proceedings could be material to our operating results and cash flows for a particular future period, depending on, among other things, our revenues or income for such period.

With respect to legal and regulatory matters for which management has been able to estimate a range of reasonably possible loss (and excluding amounts subject to the below-described indemnification from Regions Financial Corporation ("Regions")), as of March 31, 2018, we estimated the upper end of the range of reasonably possible aggregate loss to be approximately \$75 million in excess of the aggregate reserves for such matters. Refer to Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K for a discussion of our criteria for recognizing liabilities for contingencies.

46

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Morgan Keegan Litigation

Indemnification from Regions

Under the agreement with Regions governing our 2012 acquisition of Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc., and MK Holding, Inc. and certain of its affiliates (collectively referred to as "Morgan Keegan"), Regions is obligated to indemnify us for losses we may incur in connection with any Morgan Keegan legal proceedings pending as of the closing date for that transaction, which was April 2, 2012, or commenced after the closing date but related to pre-closing matters that were received prior to April 2, 2015.

The Morgan Keegan matter described below is subject to such indemnification provisions. As of March 31, 2018, management estimated the range of potential liability of all Morgan Keegan matters subject to indemnification, including the cost of defense, to be from \$12 million to \$53 million. Any loss arising from such matters, after application of any contractual thresholds and other reductions, as set forth in the agreement, will be borne by Regions. As of March 31, 2018 our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition included an indemnification asset of \$25 million which was included in "Other assets," and a liability for potential losses of \$25 million which was included within "Other payables," pertaining to the Morgan Keegan matters subject to indemnification. The amount included within "Other payables" is the amount within the range of potential liability related to such matters which management estimated was more likely than any other amount within such range.

Morgan Keegan matter (subject to indemnification)

In July 2006, Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc., a Morgan Keegan affiliate, and one of its former analysts were named as defendants in a lawsuit filed by Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited and an affiliate in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, in Morris County, New Jersey. Plaintiffs made claims under a civil RICO statute, for commercial disparagement, tortious interference with contractual relationships, tortious interference with prospective economic advantage and common law conspiracy. Plaintiffs alleged that defendants engaged in a multi-year conspiracy to publish and disseminate false and defamatory information about plaintiffs in order to improperly drive down the stock price of Fairfax, so that others could profit from short positions. Plaintiffs alleged that the defendants' actions disparaged them and harmed their business relationships. Plaintiffs alleged various categories of damages, including lost insurance business, losses on stock and bond offerings, reputational loss, increased audit fees and directors' and officers' insurance premiums, and lost acquisitions. They requested actual and punitive damages and treble damages under their RICO claims. On May 11, 2012, the trial court dismissed the plaintiffs' RICO claims. On June 27, 2012, the trial court dismissed plaintiffs' tortious interference with prospective relations claim, but allowed the other claims to go forward. Prior to commencement of a jury trial, the court dismissed the remaining claims with prejudice, and the plaintiffs appealed. On April 27, 2017, the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division, affirmed the trial court's dismissal of certain claims against Morgan Keegan, including RICO allegations, while remanding to the trial court the claims of disparagement, tortious interference with prospective business relations, and civil conspiracy, and limiting the actual damages to certain lost insurance business. Plaintiffs petitioned the Supreme Court of New Jersey for review of the Appellate Division's opinion, but on October 17, 2017, the Supreme Court of New Jersey denied the petition. Trial of the matter is currently set to begin in June 2018.

During the current period, we adopted new accounting guidance to allow a reclassification from AOCI to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Act. See Notes 2 and 13 for additional information. Our policy is to release tax effects remaining in AOCI on an individual security basis.

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

The activity in other comprehensive income/(loss), net of the respective tax effect, was as follows:

	ended March 31,	March 31,
\$ in thousands	2018 2017	2018 2017
Net change in unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities and non-credit portion of other-than-temporary impairment losses	\$(16,627) \$1,952	2 \$(28,580) \$(2,194)
Net change in unrealized gain/(loss) on currency translations, net of the impact of net investment hedges	(2,035) 2,223	(2,222) 3,224
Net change in unrealized gain on cash flow hedges Net other comprehensive income/(loss)	, ,	23,478 27,269 5 \$(7,324) \$28,299

Three months

Six months ended

47

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)

All of the components of other comprehensive income/(loss) described below, net of tax, are attributable to RJF. The following table presents the changes, and the related tax effects, of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss):

\$ in thousands	Net investment hedges	Currency	Subtotal: net investment s hedges and currency translations	securities	Cash flow hedges	Total
Three months ended March 31, 2018 Accumulated other comprehensive						
income/(loss) as of the beginning of the period	\$ 65,774	\$(85,437) \$(19,663) \$(14,425)	\$13,634	\$(20,454)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before reclassifications and taxes	25,840	(20,999) 4,841	(24,136	22,600	3,305
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income, before tax	_	_	_	_	606	606
Pre-tax net other comprehensive income/(loss)	25,840	(20,999) 4,841	(24,136	23,206	3,911
Income tax effect	(6,929	. —	(6,929	9,441	(8,850)	(6,338)
Reclassification of tax effects related to the	53		53	,	2,237	358
Tax Act	33	_	33	(1,932	1 2,231	338
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax	18,964	(20,999) (2,035	(16,627	16,593	(2,069)
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) as of end of period Six months ended March 31, 2018	\$ 84,738	\$(106,436	\$ (21,698)	\$(31,052)	\$30,227	\$(22,523)
Accumulated other comprehensive						
income/(loss) as of the beginning of the period	\$ 60,201	\$(79,677) \$ (19,476	\$(2,472)	\$6,749	\$(15,199)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before reclassifications and taxes	33,447	(26,759) 6,688	(39,685	29,374	(3,623)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), before tax	_	_		_	2,015	2,015
Pre-tax net other comprehensive income/(loss)	33,447	(26,759) 6,688	(39,685	31,389	(1,608)
Income tax effect	(8,963	· —	(8,963	13,037	(10,148)	(6,074)
Reclassification of tax effects related to the Tax Act	53	_	53	(1,932	2,237	358
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) for	24,537	(26,759) (2,222	(28,580)	23,478	(7,324)
the period, net of tax	\$ 84,738	\$(106,436) \$ (21,698) \$(31.052)	\$30,227	\$(22,523)
	•			, , , ,		. , ,

Accumulated other comprehensive										
income/(loss) as of end of period										
Three months ended March 31, 2017										
Accumulated other comprehensive										
income/(loss) as of the beginning of the	\$ 97,808		\$(131,901)	\$ (34,093)	\$(8,302)	\$9,255	\$(33,140)
period										
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before	(7,253	`	7,151		(102	`	3,055		970	3,923
reclassifications and taxes	(7,233)	7,131		(102	,	3,033		970	3,923
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other							94		1,498	1,592
comprehensive income/(loss), before tax	_		_		_		94		1,490	1,392
Pre-tax net other comprehensive	(7.252	`	7 151		(102	`	2 140		2 160	5 5 1 5
income/(loss)	(7,253)	7,151		(102)	3,149		2,468	5,515
Income tax effect	2,714		(389)	2,325		(1,197))	(937)	191
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) for	(4,539	`	6,762		2,223		1,952		1,531	5,706
the period, net of tax	(4,33)	,	0,702		2,223		1,932		1,331	3,700
Accumulated other comprehensive	\$ 93,269		\$(125,139	`	\$ (21.970	`	\$ (6.250	`	¢ 10 796	\$(27,434)
income/(loss) as of end of period	\$ 93,209		\$(123,139)	\$ (31,670	,	\$(0,550)	\$10,780	\$(27,434)
Six months ended March 31, 2017										
Accumulated other comprehensive										
income/(loss) as of the beginning of the	\$ 86,482		\$(121,576)	\$ (35,094)	\$(4,156)	\$(16,483)	\$(55,733)
period										
Other comprehensive income/(loss) before	10,845		(10,605	`	240		(3,803	`	40,911	37,348
reclassifications and taxes	10,843		(10,003)	240		(3,803)	40,911	37,348
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other			6,537		6,537		82		3,070	9,689
comprehensive income/(loss), before tax	_		0,337		0,337		02		3,070	9,069
Pre-tax net other comprehensive	10,845		(4,068	`	6,777		(3,721	`	43,981	47,037
income/(loss)	10,843		(4,008)	0,777		(3,721))	43,981	47,037
Income tax effect	(4,058)	505		(3,553)	1,527		(16,712)	(18,738)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) for	6,787		(3,563	`	3,224		(2,194	`	27,269	28,299
the period, net of tax	0,787		(3,303)	3,224		(2,194)	21,209	20,299
Accumulated other comprehensive	¢ 02 260		\$(125,139	`	¢ (21 970	`	\$ (6.250	`	¢ 10 796	¢(27.424)
income/(loss) as of end of period	\$ 93,269		φ(123,139)	φ (31,0/0)	Φ(0,330)	φ10,/00	\$(27,434)

Our net investment hedges and cash flow hedges relate to our derivatives associated with RJ Bank's business operations (see Note 6 for additional information on these derivatives).

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)

The following table presents the income statement line items impacted by reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), and the related tax effects:

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) components: \$ in thousands	Increase/(decrease in amounts reclassified from accumulated othe comprehensive income/(loss)	Affected line items in income			
Three months ended March 31, 2018	\$ 606	Interest avnance			
RJ Bank cash flow hedges Total before tax	606	Interest expense			
Income tax effect	(173)	Provision for income taxes			
	\$ 433	Net of tax			
Total reclassifications for the period Six months ended March 31, 2018	Ф 433	Net of tax			
•	\$ 2,015	Interest avnance			
RJ Bank cash flow hedges Total before tax	2,015	Interest expense			
Income tax effect	· ·	Provision for income taxes			
	(575)				
Total reclassifications for the period	\$ 1,440	Net of tax			
Three months ended March 31, 2017	Φ 04	0.1			
RJ Bank available-for-sale securities	\$ 94	Other revenue			
RJ Bank cash flow hedges	1,498	Interest expense			
Total before tax	1,592				
Income tax effect	(605)	Provision for income taxes			
Total reclassifications for the period	\$ 987	Net of tax			
Six months ended March 31, 2017					
RJ Bank available-for-sale securities	\$ 82	Other revenue			
RJ Bank cash flow hedges	3,070	Interest expense			
Currency translations	6,537	Other expense			
Total before tax	9,689				
Income tax effect	(3,681)	Provision for income taxes			
Total reclassifications for the period	\$ 6,008	Net of tax			

During the six months ended March 31, 2017, we sold our interests in a number of Latin American joint ventures which had operations in Uruguay and Argentina. As a component of our computation of the gain or loss resulting from such sales, we recognized the sold entities' cumulative currency translation balances which, prior to such reclassification, had been a component of the accumulated other comprehensive loss.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

NOTE 16 – INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

The components of interest income and interest expense were as follows:

The components of microst means and microst empense were as force.			Six months March 31,	s ended
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017
Interest income:	2010	2017	2010	2017
Margin loans	\$24,886	\$20,312	\$48,981	\$40,293
Assets segregated pursuant to regulations and other segregated assets	13,942	8,988	26,064	16,158
Bank loans, net of unearned income	172,524	137,786	332,544	273,311
Available-for-sale securities	12,492	5,675	23,207	9,075
Trading instruments	5,333	5,391	10,471	10,397
Securities loaned	3,391	3,914	6,449	6,646
Loans to financial advisors	3,460	3,269	6,962	6,577
Corporate cash and all other	12,818	7,209	25,897	12,869
Total interest income	\$248,846	\$192,544	\$480,575	\$375,326
Interest expense:				
Brokerage client payables	\$3,224	\$852	\$5,753	\$1,528
Bank deposits	12,187	3,397	19,696	6,180
Trading instruments sold but not yet purchased	1,620	1,460	3,326	2,788
Securities borrowed	1,693	1,944	3,172	3,172
Other borrowings	5,422	3,908	11,287	7,627
Senior notes payable	18,180	23,665	36,360	48,364
Other	2,276	1,451	4,439	2,984
Total interest expense	44,602	36,677	84,033	72,643
Net interest income	204,244	155,867	396,542	302,683
Bank loan loss provision	(7,549)	(7,928)	(8,565)	(6,888)
Net interest income after bank loan loss provision	\$196,695	\$147,939	\$387,977	\$295,795

Interest expense related to bank deposits in the above table for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 excludes interest expense associated with affiliate deposits, which has been eliminated in consolidation.

NOTE 17 - SHARE-BASED AND OTHER COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation plans

We have one share-based compensation plan for our employees, Board of Directors and non-employees (comprised of independent contractor financial advisors). The Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2012 Plan") authorizes us to grant 40,244,000 new shares, including the shares available for grant under six predecessor plans. We generally issue new shares under the 2012 Plan; however, we are also permitted to reissue our treasury shares. Our share-based compensation accounting policies are described in Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K. Other information related to our share-based awards are presented in Note 20 of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Stock options

Expense and income tax benefits related to our stock option awards granted to employees and independent contractor financial advisors is presented below:

	Three r	nonths	Six months	
	ended March 31,		ended March	
			31,	
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017
Total share-based expense	\$2,036	\$3,196	\$5,148	\$7,372
Income tax benefit related to share-based expense	157	426	464	971

For the six months ended March 31, 2018, we realized \$1 million of excess tax benefits related to our stock option awards which favorably impacted income tax expense in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

50

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2018, we granted no stock options to employees and the stock option awards granted to independent contractor financial advisors were not material.

The following table presents pre-tax compensation costs not yet recognized for stock option awards granted to employees and independent contractor financial advisors, net of estimated forfeitures, and the remaining period over which the expense will be recognized as of March 31, 2018:

Pre-tax

compensation Remaining weighted-average amortization period

costs not yet

recognized

(in thousands) (in years)

Employees \$ 10,854 2.2

Independent contractor financial advisors 4,077 3.4

Restricted stock and RSU awards

The following table presents expense and income tax benefits related to our restricted equity awards granted to employees and members of our Board of Directors for the periods indicated:

Three months ended ended March 31, March 31, 2018 in thousands 2018 2017 2018 2017

Total share-based expense \$20,490 \$18,415 \$50,967 \$46,100 Income tax benefit related to share-based expense 5,432 5,640 13,522 15,689

Total share-based expense during the six months ended March 31, 2017 included \$5 million, which was included as a component of "Acquisition-related expenses" on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

For the six months ended March 31, 2018, we realized \$9 million of excess tax benefits related to our restricted equity awards which favorably impacted income tax expense in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2018, we granted 71,000 and 1,160,000 RSUs, respectively, to employees and outside members of our Board of Directors with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of \$90.58 and \$86.75, respectively.

As of March 31, 2018, there was \$169 million of total pre-tax compensation costs not yet recognized, net of estimated forfeitures, related to restricted equity awards granted to employees and members of our Board of Directors. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.

There were no outstanding RSUs related to our independent contractor financial advisors as of March 31, 2018.

RSU awards associated with Alex. Brown

As part of our acquisition of Alex. Brown, we assumed certain DBRSU awards, including the associated plan terms and conditions. Refer to Note 20 of our 2017 Form 10-K for additional information regarding these awards. The DBRSUs are accounted for as derivatives. See Note 6 for additional information regarding these derivatives.

The net impact of the DBRSUs in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, including the related income tax effects, is presented below:

	Three mo	onths	Six months ended	
	ended March 31,		March 31,	
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017
Amortization of DBRSU prepaid compensation asset	\$1,080	\$1,238	\$2,392	\$2,778
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of derivative liability	(7,278)	(1,477)	(4,665)	7,852
Net expense/(gain) before tax	\$(6,198)	\$(239)	\$(2,273)	\$10,630
Income tax benefit	\$(2,142)	\$1,028	\$(1,038)	\$3,948

The table above includes the impact of DBRSUs forfeited during the periods indicated.

As of March 31, 2018, there was a \$7 million prepaid compensation asset included in "Other assets" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition related to these DBRSUs. This asset is expected to be amortized over a weighted-average period

51

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

of 1.6 years. As of March 31, 2018, there was a \$19 million derivative liability included in "Accrued compensation, commissions and benefits" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition based on the March 31, 2018 share price of DB shares of \$13.98.

We held shares of DB as of March 31, 2018 as an economic hedge against this obligation. Such shares are included in "Other investments" on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The gains/losses on this hedge are included as a component of "Compensation, commissions and benefits expense" and offset a portion of the gains/losses on the DBRSUs.

NOTE 18 - REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

RJF, as a bank holding company and financial holding company, RJ Bank, and our broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to capital requirements by various regulatory authorities. Capital levels of each entity are monitored to ensure compliance with our various regulatory capital requirements. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on our financial results.

As a bank holding company, RJF is subject to the risk-based capital requirements of the Federal Reserve Board. These risk-based capital requirements are expressed as capital ratios that compare measures of regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets, which involve quantitative measures of our assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting guidelines. RJF's and RJ Bank's capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk-weightings, and other factors.

In July 2013, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"), the Fed and the FDIC released final U.S. rules implementing the Basel III capital framework developed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and certain Dodd-Frank Act and other capital provisions and updated the prompt corrective action framework to reflect the new regulatory capital minimums (the "U.S. Basel III Rules"). RJF and RJ Bank report regulatory capital under the Basel III standardized approach.

RJF and RJ Bank are required to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), Tier 1 capital to average assets (as defined), and under rules defined in Basel III, Common equity Tier 1 capital ("CET1") to risk-weighted assets. RJF and RJ Bank each calculate these ratios in order to assess compliance with both regulatory requirements and their internal capital policies. The minimum CET1, Tier 1 Capital, and Total Capital ratios of RJF and RJ Bank are supplemented by an incremental capital conservation buffer, consisting entirely of capital that qualifies as CET1, that began phasing in on January 1, 2016 in increments of 0.625% per year until it reaches 2.5% of risk weighted assets on January 1, 2019. Failure to maintain the capital conservation buffer could limit our ability to take certain capital actions, including dividends and common equity repurchases, and to make discretionary bonus payments. As of March 31, 2018, both RJF's and RJ Bank's capital levels exceeded the fully-phased in capital conservation buffer requirement, and are each categorized as "well capitalized."

For further discussion of regulatory capital requirements applicable to certain of our businesses and subsidiaries, see Note 21 of our 2017 Form 10-K.

To meet requirements for capital adequacy purposes or to be categorized as "well capitalized," RJF must maintain minimum CET1, Tier 1 capital, Total capital and Tier 1 leverage amounts and ratios as set forth in the table below.

·	Actual		Requirement for capital adequacy purposes		To be well capitalized under regulatory provisions	
\$ in thousands	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio
RJF as of March 31, 2018:						
CET1	\$5,273,020	23.3%	\$1,018,681	4.5%	\$1,471,428	6.5 %
Tier 1 capital	\$5,273,020	23.3%	\$1,358,241	6.0%	\$1,810,988	8.0 %
Total capital	\$5,489,436	24.3%	\$1,810,988	8.0%	\$2,263,735	10.0%
Tier 1 leverage	\$5,273,020	15.0%	\$1,408,251	4.0%	\$1,760,314	5.0 %
RJF as of September 30, 2017:						
CET1	\$5,081,335	23.0%	\$994,950	4.5%	\$1,437,150	6.5 %
Tier 1 capital	\$5,081,335	23.0%	\$1,326,600	6.0%	\$1,768,800	8.0 %
Total capital	\$5,293,331	23.9%	\$1,768,800	8.0%	\$2,211,000	10.0%
Tier 1 leverage	\$5,081,335	15.0%	\$1,359,168	4.0%	\$1,698,960	5.0 %

52

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

The increase in RJF's Tier 1 capital and Total capital ratios at March 31, 2018 compared to September 30, 2017 was primarily the result of positive earnings during the six months ended March 31, 2018, offset by an increase in goodwill and identifiable intangible assets related to the Scout Group acquisition and the growth of the corporate loan portfolio at RJ Bank.

To meet the requirements for capital adequacy or to be categorized as "well capitalized," RJ Bank must maintain CET1, Tier 1 capital, Total capital and Tier 1 leverage amounts and ratios as set forth in the table below.

	Actual capital adequacy		Requirement capital adequacy purposes	nt for	To be well capitalized regulatory provisions	under
\$ in thousands	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio
RJ Bank as of March 31, 2018:						
CET1	\$1,916,577	12.5%	\$690,000	4.5%	\$996,667	6.5 %
Tier 1 capital	\$1,916,577	12.5%	\$920,000	6.0%	\$1,226,667	8.0 %
Total capital	\$2,108,406	13.8%	\$1,226,667	8.0%	\$1,533,333	10.0%
Tier 1 leverage	\$1,916,577	8.8 %	\$875,217	4.0%	\$1,094,022	5.0 %
RJ Bank as of September 30, 2017:						
CET1	\$1,821,306	12.5%	\$654,901	4.5%	\$945,968	6.5 %
Tier 1 capital	\$1,821,306	12.5%	\$873,201	6.0%	\$1,164,268	8.0 %
Total capital	\$2,003,461	13.8%	\$1,164,268	8.0%	\$1,455,335	10.0%
Tier 1 leverage	\$1,821,306	8.9 %	\$816,304	4.0%	\$1,020,379	5.0 %

RJ Bank's Tier 1 and Total capital ratios at March 31, 2018 were flat compared to September 30, 2017 as the growth in earnings at RJ Bank was offset by the growth of the corporate loan portfolio.

Certain of our broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to the requirements of the Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15c3-1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The following table presents the net capital position	on of RJ&A:		
	As of		
\$ in thousands	March 31, 2018	September 2017	30,
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.:			
(Alternative Method elected)			
Net capital as a percent of aggregate debit items	26.79 %	21.37	%
Net capital	\$769,672	\$ 589,420	
Less: required net capital	(57,459)	(55,164)
Excess net capital	\$712,213	\$ 534,256	

The following table presents the net capital position of Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. ("RJFS"):

As of

\$ in thousands

March 31, September 30,

2018 2017

Raymond James Financial Services, Inc.:

(Alternative Method elected)

 Net capital
 \$38,796
 \$34,488

 Less: required net capital
 (250
) (250
)

 Excess net capital
 \$38,546
 \$34,238

The following table presents the risk adjusted capital of RJ Ltd. (in Canadian dollars):

As of

March 31, September 30,

\$ in thousands 2018 2017

Raymond James Ltd.:

Risk adjusted capital before minimum \$85,059 \$108,985 Less: required minimum capital (250) (250) Risk adjusted capital \$84,809 \$108,735

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

At March 31, 2018, all of our other active regulated domestic and international subsidiaries were in compliance with and met all applicable capital requirements.

NOTE 19 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share:

	Three months ended		Six months ended		
	March 31,		March 31,		
in thousands, except per share amounts	2018	2017	2018	2017	
Income for basic earnings per common share:					
Net income attributable to RJF	\$242,847	\$112,755	\$361,689	\$259,322	
Less allocation of earnings and dividends to participating securities	(440)	(262)	(614)	(576)	
Net income attributable to RJF common shareholders	\$242,407	\$112,493	\$361,075	\$258,746	
Income for diluted earnings per common share:					
Net income attributable to RJF	\$242,847	\$112,755	\$361,689	\$259,322	
Less allocation of earnings and dividends to participating securities	(431)	(258)	(602)	(566)	
Net income attributable to RJF common shareholders	\$242,416	\$112,497	\$361,087	\$258,756	
Common shares:					
Average common shares in basic computation	145,385	143,367	144,920	142,732	
Dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and certain RSUs	3,652	3,412	3,610	3,387	
Average common shares used in diluted computation	149,037	146,779	148,530	146,119	
Earnings per common share:					
Basic	\$1.67	\$0.78	\$2.49	\$1.81	
Diluted	\$1.63	\$0.77	\$2.43	\$1.77	
Stock options and certain RSUs excluded from weighted-average diluted common shares because their effect would be antidilutive	303	408	1,159	1,652	

The allocation of earnings and dividends to participating securities in the table above represent dividends paid during the period to participating securities plus an allocation of undistributed earnings to participating securities. Participating securities represent unvested restricted stock and certain RSUs and amounted to weighted-average shares of 268 thousand and 342 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Participating securities for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to weighted-average shares of 253 thousand and 326 thousand, respectively. Dividends paid to participating securities were insignificant for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. Undistributed earnings are allocated to participating securities based upon their right to share in earnings if all earnings for the period had been distributed.

Dividends per common share declared and paid were as follows:

Three months ended March 31, 2018 2017 2018 2017

Dividends per common share - declared \$0.25 \$0.22 \$0.50 \$0.44

Dividends per common share - paid \$0.25 \$0.22 \$0.47 \$0.42

NOTE 20 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

We currently operate through the following five business segments: Private Client Group ("PCG"); Capital Markets; Asset Management; RJ Bank; and Other.

The business segments are determined based upon factors such as the services provided and the distribution channels served and are consistent with how we assess performance and determine how to allocate our resources throughout our subsidiaries. For a further discussion of our business segments, see Note 24 of our 2017 Form 10-K.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

The following tables present information concerning operations in these segments of business:

	Three month March 31,	s ended	Six months e 31,	nded March
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017
Revenues:				
Private Client Group	\$1,277,903	\$1,088,561	\$2,515,943	\$2,131,877
Capital Markets	236,615	260,480	459,149	497,462
Asset Management	163,196	116,520	313,807	230,616
RJ Bank	196,430	148,697	374,571	293,214
Other	20,679	16,009	37,062	31,468
Intersegment eliminations	(37,589)	(29,953)	(77,706)	(55,555)
Total revenues	\$1,857,234	\$1,600,314	\$3,622,826	\$3,129,082
Income/(loss) excluding noncontrolling interests and before provided	vision for inco	ome taxes:		
Private Client Group	\$157,586	\$29,372	\$312,649	\$102,730
Capital Markets	16,203	41,251	21,010	62,695
Asset Management	55,866	37,797	113,265	79,706
RJ Bank	118,086	91,911	232,241	196,032
Other	(16,370)	(34,818)	(36,551)	(69,271)
Pre-tax income excluding noncontrolling interests	331,371	165,513	642,614	371,892
Net income/(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	(282)	(4,210)	159	(3,074)
Income including noncontrolling interests and before provision for income taxes	\$331,089	\$161,303	\$642,773	\$368,818

No individual client accounted for more than ten percent of total revenues in any of the periods presented.

	Three mon	ths ended	Six months	ended
	March 31,		March 31,	
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017
Net interest income/(expense):				
Private Client Group	\$40,431	\$33,671	\$78,918	\$64,058
Capital Markets	1,586	2,166	3,042	4,674
Asset Management	411	72	741	135
RJ Bank	172,123	138,511	335,162	272,783
Other	(10,307)	(18,553)	(21,321)	(38,967)
Net interest income	\$204,244	\$155,867	\$396,542	\$302,683

The following table presents our total assets on a segment basis:

\$ in thousands	March 31, 2018	September 30, 2017
Total assets:		
Private Client Group	\$9,754,969	\$9,967,320
Capital Markets	2,637,822	2,396,033
Asset Management	358,203	151,111
RJ Bank	21,699,132	20,611,898
Other	1,580,745	1,757,094

Total \$36,030,871 \$34,883,456

Total assets in the PCG segment included \$276 million and \$277 million of goodwill as of March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. Total assets in the Capital Markets segment included \$134 million of goodwill at both March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017. Total assets in the Asset Management segment included \$69 million of goodwill as of March 31, 2018 which was entirely attributable to our fiscal year 2018 acquisition of the Scout Group.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

We have operations in the U.S., Canada and Europe. Substantially all long-lived assets are located in the U.S. Revenues and income before provision for income taxes and excluding noncontrolling interests, classified by major geographic areas in which they were earned, were as follows:

	Three mont	hs ended	Six months ended Marc			
	March 31,		31,			
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	2018	2017		
Revenues:						
U.S.	\$1,711,177	\$1,478,278	\$3,344,199	\$2,894,559		
Canada	109,394	92,186	208,680	177,031		
Europe	36,663	30,256	69,947	53,226		
Other		(406)		4,266		
Total	\$1,857,234	\$1,600,314	\$3,622,826	\$3,129,082		
Pre-tax income/(loss) excluding noncontrolling interests:						
U.S.	\$316,164	\$156,605	\$621,453	\$370,810		
Canada	14,443	6,362	23,108	4,825		
Europe	764	2,101	(1,947)	(587)		
Other		445		(3,156)		
Total	\$331,371	\$165,513	\$642,614	\$371,892		

The following table presents our total assets classified by major geographic area in which they were held:

\$ in thousands $\frac{\text{March 31}}{2018}$ September 30, $\frac{30}{2017}$

Total assets:

U.S. \$33,117,577 \$32,200,852 Canada 2,825,921 2,592,480 Europe 78,610 81,090 Other 8,763 9,034 Total \$36,030,871 \$34,883,456

Total assets in the U.S. included \$425 million and \$356 million of goodwill at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. Total assets in Canada included \$44 million and \$45 million of goodwill at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. Total assets in Europe included \$10 million of goodwill at both March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INDEX

	PAGE
Introduction	<u>58</u>
Factors affecting "forward-looking statements"	<u>58</u>
Executive overview	<u>58</u>
Segments	<u>61</u>
Reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures	<u>62</u>
Net interest analysis	<u>62</u>
Results of Operations	
Private Client Group	<u>67</u>
Capital Markets	<u>70</u>
Asset Management	<u>72</u>
RJ Bank	<u>74</u>
Other	<u>79</u>
Certain statistical disclosures by bank holding companies	<u>80</u>
Liquidity and capital resources	<u>80</u>
Sources of liquidity	<u>81</u>
Statement of financial condition analysis	<u>84</u>
Contractual obligations	<u>85</u>
Regulatory	<u>85</u>
Critical accounting estimates	<u>85</u>
Recent accounting developments	<u>86</u>
Off-Balance sheet arrangements	<u>87</u>
Effects of inflation	<u>87</u>
Risk management	<u>87</u>

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help the reader understand the results of our operations and financial condition. This MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. Where "NM" is used in various percentage change computations, the computed percentage change has been determined to be not meaningful.

Factors affecting "forward-looking statements"

Certain statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may constitute "forward-looking statements" under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include information concerning future strategic objectives, business prospects, anticipated savings, financial results (including expenses, earnings, liquidity, cash flow and capital expenditures), industry or market conditions, demand for and pricing of our products, acquisitions and divestitures, anticipated results of litigation, changes in tax rules, regulatory developments, effects of accounting pronouncements and general economic conditions. In addition, words such as "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "estimates," "projects," "forecasts," and future or conditional verbs such as "will," "may," "c "should," and "would," as well as any other statement that necessarily depends on future events, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees, and they involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Although we make such statements based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. We caution investors not to rely unduly on any forward-looking statements and urge you to carefully consider the risks described in our filings with the SEC from time to time, including our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which are available at www.raymondjames.com and the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. We expressly disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statement in the event it later turns out to be inaccurate, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Executive overview

We operate as a financial holding company and a bank holding company. Results in the businesses in which we operate are highly correlated to general economic conditions and, more specifically, to the direction of the U.S. equity and fixed income markets, market volatility, corporate and mortgage lending markets and commercial and residential credit trends. Overall market conditions, interest rates, economic, political and regulatory trends, and industry competition are among the factors which could affect us and which are unpredictable and beyond our control. These factors affect the financial decisions made by market participants which include investors, borrowers, and competitors, impacting their level of participation in the financial markets. These factors also impact the level of investment banking activity, including public offerings, as well as trading profits and asset valuations, which ultimately affect our business results.

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

We achieved net revenues of \$1.81 billion for the quarter, a \$249 million, or 16%, increase. Our pre-tax income was \$331 million, an increase of \$166 million, or 100%, over the prior year, which included a large legal charge related to the Jay Peak matter. Our net income of \$243 million reflected an increase of \$130 million, or 115%, and our earnings per diluted share amounted to \$1.63, a 112% increase.

Our PCG and Asset Management segments experienced significant growth in net revenues as a result of the increase in client assets in fee-based accounts compared with the prior year period. Net revenues in RJ Bank also increased significantly, reflecting an increase in average interest-earning assets and an increase in net interest margin. Net revenues in our Capital Markets segment declined, as institutional equity and fixed income commissions continued to face market-driven challenges. Total client assets under administration reached \$729.5 billion at March 31, 2018, a 14% increase, primarily attributable to strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results, as well as equity market appreciation.

Non-interest expenses increased \$79 million, or 6%. The increase primarily resulted from increased compensation, commissions and benefits expenses, primarily associated with the increase in net revenues, as well as increased staffing levels required to support our continued growth and regulatory and compliance requirements. Communications and information processing expenses also increased compared with the prior year period as a result of our continued investment in technology infrastructure to support our growth. Offsetting these increases was a \$100 million decrease in expenses related to the Jay Peak matter, which was settled in the prior fiscal year.

Our effective tax rate was 26.7% for the current quarter, a decrease from 31.9% in the prior year quarter. The decrease was primarily attributable to the impact of a reduced federal statutory tax rate as a result of the Tax Act implemented in December 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

A summary of our financial results by segment as compared to the prior year quarter is as follows:

Our PCG segment generated net revenues of \$1.27 billion, a 17% increase, and pre-tax income of \$158 million, a 437% increase. The increase in net revenues was primarily attributable to an increase in securities commissions and fees, driven by higher equity markets and strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results. The segment also benefited from higher short-term interest rates, resulting in an increase in account and service fees related to client cash balances in the RJBDP. Non-interest expenses increased \$58 million, or 6%, primarily resulting from increases in compensation, commissions and benefits expenses and communications and information processing expenses, largely offset by a decrease in the aforementioned legal expenses.

The Capital Markets segment generated net revenues of \$231 million, a 10% decrease over the prior year period, and pre-tax income of \$16 million, a 61% decrease. The decrease in net revenues was primarily driven by lower institutional equity and fixed income commissions and equity underwriting fees, partially offset by a significant increase in merger & acquisition and advisory fee revenues. Non-interest expenses decreased \$3 million, or 2%.

Our Asset Management segment benefited from increased client assets, generating a 40% increase in net revenues to \$163 million, while pre-tax income increased 48% to \$56 million. The increase in net revenues primarily reflected an increase in advisory fee revenues from managed programs, as assets in managed programs were 55% higher than the prior year, including the addition of \$27 billion of assets under management in November 2017 resulting from the Scout Group acquisition. Non-discretionary asset-based administration fees also increased as a result of higher assets in such programs. Non-interest expenses increased \$28 million, or 36%, resulting from an increase in compensation and benefits expenses due to the growth of the business, including the acquisition of the Scout Group, as well as an increase in sub-advisory fees due to an increase in assets under management in applicable programs.

RJ Bank generated a 26% increase in net revenues to \$179 million, while pre-tax income increased 28% to \$118 million. The increase in pre-tax income resulted primarily from an increase in net interest income, partially offset by higher affiliate deposit fees paid to PCG due to an increase in client account balances as compared to the prior year quarter. Net interest income increased due to growth in average interest-earning assets as well as an increase in net interest margin.

Our Other segment reflected a pre-tax loss of \$16 million, which was \$18 million, or 53%, less than the loss in the prior year quarter, primarily due to a loss on the extinguishment of our senior notes payable in the prior year quarter which did not recur in the current year quarter, as well as a decrease in interest expense on our senior notes payable related to a lower average balance outstanding and a decrease in the average rate on such balances.

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

We achieved net revenues of \$3.54 billion, a \$482 million, or 16%, increase. Our pre-tax income was \$643 million, an increase of \$271 million, or 73%, over the prior year period, which included a large legal charge related to the Jay Peak matter. Our net income of \$362 million increased \$102 million, or 39%, and our earnings per diluted share were \$2.43, a 37% increase.

During the six months ended March 31, 2018, earnings were negatively affected by the estimated discrete impact of the Tax Act of \$117 million, primarily related to the remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax assets at a lower enacted corporate tax rate. Excluding this discrete impact and \$4 million of acquisition-related expenses, adjusted net income was \$482 million (1), an increase of 32% compared with adjusted net income of \$365 million (1) in the prior year period, which excluded expenses related to the Jay Peak matter, acquisition-related expenses and losses on the

extinguishment of certain of our senior notes. Adjusted earnings per diluted share were \$3.24 ⁽¹⁾, a 30% increase compared with adjusted earnings per diluted share of \$2.49 ⁽¹⁾ in the prior year period.

Net revenues increased significantly in the PCG, Asset Management and RJ Bank segments. PCG and Asset Management benefited from growth in client assets in fee-based accounts. RJ Bank had significant growth due to an increase in interest-earning assets and an increase in net interest margin. Net revenues in our Capital Markets segment declined compared with the prior year period, reflecting a market-driven decline in institutional equity and fixed income commissions. Total client assets under administration reached \$729.5 billion at March 31, 2018, a 14% increase, primarily attributable to strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results, as well as equity market appreciation.

(1) "Adjusted net income," and "adjusted earnings per diluted share" are each non-GAAP financial measures. Please see the "reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures" in this MD&A, for a reconciliation of our non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures, and for other important disclosures.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Non-interest expenses increased \$208 million, or 8%. The increase primarily resulted from increased compensation, commissions and benefit expenses associated with the increase in net revenues, as well as increased staffing levels required to support our continued growth and regulatory and compliance requirements. Communications and information processing expenses also increased compared with the prior year period as a result of our continued investment in technology infrastructure to support our growth. Offsetting these increases was a \$130 million decrease in expenses related to the Jay Peak matter, which was settled in the prior fiscal year.

Our effective tax rate was 43.7% for the six months ended March 31, 2018, reflecting the estimated discrete impact of the Tax Act of \$117 million, partially offset by a lower blended federal corporate statutory tax rate of 24.5%. Excluding the estimated discrete impact of the Tax Act, our adjusted effective tax rate was 25.5% (1) for the six months ended March 31, 2018. We estimate our effective tax rate to be approximately 27%-28% for the remainder of our fiscal year ending September 30, 2018, which reflects the blended federal corporate statutory tax rate, and approximately 24%-25% for fiscal year 2019, reflecting the lower federal corporate statutory tax rate of 21% for the full year. Our future effective tax rates are estimates based on our current interpretation of the Tax Act and may change, possibly materially, as we complete our analysis. Our future effective tax rate will also be impacted positively or negatively by non-taxable items (such as the gains or losses earned on our COLI and tax-exempt interest), non-deductible expenses (such as meals and entertainment) and vesting and exercises of equity compensation. See Note 13 of this Form 10-Q for further information on the Tax Act.

A summary of our financial results by segment as compared to the prior year period is as follows:

Our PCG segment generated net revenues of \$2.50 billion, an 18% increase, and pre-tax income of \$313 million an increase of 204% over the prior year period, which included \$130 million of legal expenses related to the Jay Peak matter. The increase in net revenues was primarily attributable to an increase in securities commissions and fees, driven by higher equity markets and continued strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results. The segment also benefited from the impact of higher short-term interest rates, resulting in an increase in account and service fees related to client cash balances in the RJBDP. Non-interest expenses increased \$170 million, or 8%, primarily resulting from increases in compensation, commissions and benefits expenses and communications and information processing expenses, offset by a decrease in the aforementioned legal expenses.

The Capital Markets segment generated net revenues of \$447 million, a 9% decrease over the prior year period. The decrease in net revenues was primarily due to market-driven decreases in both institutional equity and fixed income commissions. Investment banking revenues increased due to higher merger & acquisition and advisory fees, partially offset by lower equity underwriting fees and tax credit fund syndication fees. Non-interest expenses were relatively flat compared with the prior year period which, combined with the decline in net revenues, contributed to a 66% decline in pre-tax income.

Our Asset Management segment benefited from increased fee-based client assets, generating a 36% increase in net revenues to \$314 million, and a pre-tax income increase of 42% to \$113 million. The increase in net revenues primarily reflected increases in advisory fee revenues from managed programs and, to a lesser degree, non-discretionary asset-based administration fee revenues. Financial assets under management increased 55% over the prior year, aided by the acquisition of the Scout Group, which added \$27 billion of additional assets under management in November 2017. Non-interest expenses increased \$47 million, or 32%, primarily resulting from incremental expenses related to the Scout Group acquisition and increased investment sub-advisory fees.

RJ Bank generated a 23% increase in net revenues to \$344 million, while pre-tax income increased 18% to \$232 million. The increase in pre-tax income resulted primarily from an increase in net interest income, partially offset by

higher affiliate deposit fees paid to PCG due to increased client account balances. Net interest income increased due to growth in interest-earning assets and an increase in the net interest margin.

Our Other segment reflected a pre-tax loss that was \$33 million, or 47%, less than the loss in the prior year period, primarily due to a decrease in net interest expense, lower acquisition-related expenses and losses on the extinguishment of certain of our senior notes in the prior year period. The decline in net interest expense reflected lower interest expense due to a decrease in the outstanding balance and average interest rate of our senior notes payable, as well as an increase in interest income related to the increased interest rates earned on corporate cash balances.

(1) "Adjusted effective tax rate" is a non-GAAP financial measure. Please see the "reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures" in this MD&A, for a reconciliation of our non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measures, and for other important disclosures.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Segments

We currently operate through four operating segments and our Other segment. The four operating segments are PCG, Capital Markets, Asset Management and RJ Bank. The Other segment captures private equity activities as well as certain corporate overhead costs of RJF that are not allocated to operating segments, including the interest cost on our public debt and the acquisition and integration costs associated with our acquisitions.

The following table presents our consolidated and segment net revenues and pre-tax income/(loss), the latter excluding noncontrolling interests, for the periods indicated:

	Three month	ns ended Marc	ch 31,	Six months ended March 31,			
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% change	2018	2017	% change	
Total company Net revenues	\$1,812,632	\$1,563,637	16 %	\$3,538,793	\$3,056,439	16 %	
Pre-tax income excluding noncontrolling interests	\$331,371	\$165,513	100 %	\$642,614	\$371,892	73 %	
Private Client Group Net revenues	\$1,271,815	\$1,085,177	17 %	\$2,504,866	\$2,125,266	18 %	
Pre-tax income	\$1,271,813 \$157,586	\$29,372		\$312,649	\$102,730	204 %	
Capital Markets							
Net revenues Pre-tax income	\$230,616 \$16,203	\$256,171 \$41,251	. ,	\$447,281 \$21,010	\$489,187 \$62,695	(9)% (66)%	
Fie-tax income	\$10,203	\$41,231	(01)%	\$21,010	\$02,093	(66-)%	
Asset Management							
Net revenues	\$163,185	\$116,480		\$313,785	\$230,562	36 %	
Pre-tax income	\$55,866	\$37,797	48 %	\$113,265	\$79,706	42 %	
RJ Bank							
Net revenues	\$178,738	\$141,371	26 %	\$343,923	\$279,386	23 %	
Pre-tax income	\$118,086	\$91,911	28 %	\$232,241	\$196,032	18 %	
Other							
Net revenues	\$1,832	\$(8,018)) NM	\$(1,088)	\$(17,661	94 %	
Pre-tax loss	\$(16,370)	\$(34,818)	53 %	\$(36,551)	\$(69,271	47 %	
Intersegment eliminations							
Net revenues	\$(33,554)	\$(27,544))	\$(69,974)	\$(50,301))	

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures

We believe that the non-GAAP measures to enhance the understanding of our financial results and related measures. We believe that the non-GAAP measures provide useful information by excluding certain material items that may not be indicative of our core operating results. We believe that these non-GAAP measures allow for better evaluation of the operating performance of the business and facilitate a meaningful comparison of our results in the current period to those in prior and future periods. These non-GAAP measures should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, our non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly-titled non-GAAP measures of other companies. The following table provides a reconciliation of GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures for the periods which include non-GAAP adjustments.

Three

	months ended	Six mo		is ended		
	March 31,					
\$ in thousands, except per share amounts	2017	2018		2017		
Net income ⁽¹⁾	\$112,755	\$361,	689	\$259	,322	
Non-GAAP adjustments:						
Acquisition-related expenses (2)	1,086	3,927		13,75	52	
Losses on extinguishment of debt	8,282			8,282	2	
Jay Peak matter (3)	100,000			130,0	000	
Sub-total pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments	109,368	3,927		152,0	34	
Tax effect on non-GAAP adjustments above	(33,655)	(1,100))	(46,0)	20)	
Discrete impact of the Tax Act (4)	_	117,16	59			
Total non-GAAP adjustments, net of tax	75,713	119,99	€	106,0	14	
Adjusted net income	\$188,468	\$481,	685	\$365	,336	
Earnings per common share:						
Basic	\$0.78	\$2.49		\$1.81		
Diluted	\$0.77	\$2.43		\$1.77	7	
Adjusted earnings per common share:						
Adjusted basic	\$1.31	\$3.32		\$2.55	5	
Adjusted diluted	\$1.28	\$3.24		\$2.49)	
Effective tax rate:						
	Pre-tax		Prov	vision		
For the six months ended March 31, 2018	includin	_	for		Effec	tive
(\$ in thousands)	noncont	rolling	inco	ome	tax ra	ate
	interests		taxe			
	\$ 642,7	73		0,925	43.7	%
Less: discrete impact of the Tax Act (4)				,169		
As adjusted for discrete impact of the Tax Act	t		\$16	3,756	25.5	%

- (1) Excludes noncontrolling interests.
- (2) See Note 3 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.
- (3) See Part I. Item 3 Legal proceedings of our 2017 Form 10-K for more information on the Jay Peak matter.

See Note 13 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for more information related to the discrete impact of the Tax Act.

Net interest analysis

The Federal Reserve Bank announced an increase of 25 basis points in its benchmark short-term interest rate in March 2018. This increase is in addition to five 25 basis point increases since December 2015. These increases in short-term interest rates have had a significant impact on our overall financial performance, as we have certain assets and liabilities, primarily held in our PCG and RJ Bank segments, which are sensitive to changes in interest rates. Given the relationship of our interest-sensitive assets to liabilities held in each of these segments, increases in short-term interest rates generally result in an overall increase in our net earnings, although the magnitude of the impact to our net interest margin depends on the yields on interest-earning assets relative to the cost of interest-bearing liabilities.

In PCG, we also earn fees in lieu of interest income from RJBDP, a multi-bank sweep program in which clients' cash deposits in their brokerage accounts are swept into interest-bearing deposit accounts at RJ Bank and various third-party banks. Such fees are recorded in "Account and service fees" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. RJBDP fees from third-party banks fluctuate based on changes in short-term interest rates relative to deposit rates paid on client cash balances.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table details the components of our clients' domestic cash sweep balances:

	As of		
\$ in millions	March 3	March 31,	
\$ III IIIIIIOIIS	2018	2017	2017
RJBDP			
RJ Bank	\$18,305	\$ 17,387	\$ 16,002
Third-party banks	19,696	20,704	24,222
Sub-total RJBDP	38,001	38,091	40,224
Money Market Funds	2,004	1,818	1,874
Client Interest Program	3,367	3,101	3,743
Total clients' domestic cash sweep balances	\$43,372	\$ 43,010	\$ 45,841

The aforementioned short-term interest rate increases had a significant impact on fees earned from RJBDP but have not had as significant of an impact on market deposit rates paid on client cash balances. However, we have raised our deposit rates paid on client cash balances following the most recent rate increases and expect market deposit rates to continue to rise with future increases in short-term interest rates. As such, any future increases in short-term interest rates may have less of an impact on fees earned from RJBDP, or could actually reduce fees earned in this program, depending on the level of deposit rates paid on client cash balances.

If the Federal Reserve Bank was to reverse its previous actions and decrease the benchmark short-term interest rate, or if deposit rates that we pay on client cash balances increased and resulted in a decline in spreads earned on RJBDP, the positive impact described above on our net interest income and account and service fees would be reversed.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

The following table presents our consolidated average balances, interest income and expense, and the related yields and rates. Average balances are calculated on a daily basis, with the exception of Trading instruments, Loans to financial advisors, net and Corporate cash and all other, which are calculated based on the average of the end-of-month balances for each month within the period.

2018 2017	
Average Interest Average Average Interest Average	ge
\$ in thousands balance inc./exp. yield/cost balance inc./exp. yield/c	ost
Interest-earning assets:	
Assets segregated pursuant to regulations and \$2,929,567 \$13,942 1.90 % \$4,000,689 \$8,988 0.90	%
other segregated assets \$2,929,307 \$13,942 1.90 \% \$4,000,089 \$8,988 0.90	70
Securities loaned 341,720 3,391 3.97 % 472,988 3,914 3.31	%
Trading instruments 659,794 5,333 3.23 % 713,782 5,391 3.02 %	%
Available-for-sale securities 2,482,441 12,492 2.01 % 1,346,198 5,675 1.69	%
Margin loans 2,514,724 24,886 3.96 % 2,376,296 20,312 3.42 %	%
Bank loans, net	
Loans held for investment:	
C&I loans 7,553,398 78,171 4.14 % 7,364,683 68,956 3.75	%
CRE construction loans 176,430 2,207 5.00 % 140,960 1,522 4.32 6	%
CRE loans 3,186,221 32,249 4.05 % 2,790,332 23,691 3.40 °C	%
Tax-exempt loans 1,148,144 7,355 2.56 % 855,636 5,494 2.57	%
Residential mortgage loans 3,329,165 25,743 3.09 % 2,738,798 20,412 2.98	%
SBL 2,572,407 25,452 3.96 % 2,033,862 16,550 3.25 °C	%
Loans held for sale 145,247 1,347 3.75 % 137,523 1,161 3.47	%
Total bank loans, net 18,111,012 172,524 3.86 % 16,061,794 137,786 3.51	%
Loans to financial advisors, net 874,053 3,460 1.58 % 844,039 3,269 1.55	%
Corporate cash and all other 3,662,599 12,818 1.40 % 3,461,122 7,209 0.83	%
Total interest-earning assets \$31,575,910 \$248,846 3.15 % \$29,276,908 \$192,544 2.63	%
Interest-bearing liabilities:	
Bank deposits	
Certificates of deposit \$346,030 \$1,352 1.58 % \$281,553 \$999 1.44 6	%
Money market, savings and NOW accounts 18,339,798 10,835 0.24 % 15,374,526 2,398 0.06	%
Securities borrowed 155,997 1,693 4.34 % 105,016 1,944 7.40 9	%
Trading instruments sold but not yet purchased 267,532 1,620 2.42 % 399,726 1,460 1.46	%
Brokerage client payables 4,434,148 3,224 0.29 % 4,837,829 852 0.07	%
	%
Senior notes payable 1,549,031 18,180 4.69 % 1,618,044 23,665 5.85 9	%
	%
Total interest-bearing liabilities \$26,286,408 \$44,602 0.68 % \$23,609,036 \$36,677 0.62	%
Net interest income \$204,244 \$155,867	

Nonaccrual loans are included in the average loan balances in the table above. Payment or income received on corporate nonaccrual loans are applied to principal. Income on other nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.

Fee income on all loans included in interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$6 million and \$10 million, respectively.

Net interest income increased \$48 million, or 31%, primarily as a result of increases in our RJ Bank and PCG segments, as well as a decrease in net interest expense in our Other segment.

Net interest income in RJ Bank increased \$34 million, or 24%, resulting from increases in average loans outstanding and the available-for-sale portfolio, as well as an increase in net interest margin. Refer to the discussion of the specific components of RJ Bank's net interest income in the RJ Bank section of this MD&A.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Net interest income in the PCG segment increased \$7 million, or 20%, driven by an increase in interest income from segregated assets and margin loans due to an increase in short-term interest rates. The favorable impact of higher interest rates on segregated assets was partially offset by a decrease in segregated asset balances.

Net interest expense in the Other segment decreased \$8 million, or 44%, primarily due to a decrease in interest expense on our senior notes as a result of a decline in the average outstanding balance, as well as a decline in the average rate on our outstanding borrowings. The outstanding balance and rate of our senior notes decreased due to the March 2017 redemption of our \$350 million 6.90% senior notes and the September 2017 redemption of our \$300 million 8.60% senior notes, partially offset by the May 2017 issuance of \$500 million of our 4.95% senior notes. Interest income in the Other segment increased as a result of the increase in interest rates on corporate cash balances.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

The following table presents our consolidated average balances, interest income and expense, and the related yields and rates. Average balances are calculated on a daily basis, with the exception of Trading instruments, Loans to financial advisors, net and Corporate cash and all other, which are calculated based on the average of the end-of-month balances for each month within the period.

	Six months ended March 31,								
	2018				2017				
0.1	Average	Interest	Avera	age	Average	Interest	Avera	age	
\$ in thousands	balance	inc./exp.		_	balance	inc./exp.	yield/	_	
Interest-earning assets:		•	•			•	•		
Assets segregated pursuant to regulations and	\$2,908,495	¢26.064	1.70	01	¢ 4 111 022	¢ 16 150	0.70	01	
other segregated assets	\$2,908,493	\$26,064	1.79	%	\$4,111,932	\$16,158	0.79	%	
Securities loaned	351,735	6,449	3.67	%	502,994	6,646	2.64	%	
Trading instruments	653,941	10,471	3.20	%	684,728	10,397	3.04	%	
Available-for-sale securities	2,377,697	23,207	1.95	%	1,170,891	9,075	1.55	%	
Margin loans	2,500,234	48,981	3.92	%	2,401,998	40,293	3.35	%	
Bank loans									
Loans held for investment:									
C&I loans	7,482,634	151,963	4.02	%	7,421,700	140,262	3.75	%	
CRE construction loans	158,254	3,930	4.91	%	136,687	3,027	4.38	%	
CRE loans	3,110,590	61,008	3.88	%	2,668,802	45,945	3.41	%	
Tax-exempt loans	1,093,384	14,061	2.57	%	831,637	10,740	2.58	%	
Residential mortgage loans	3,286,788	50,533	3.08	%	2,647,948	38,976	2.91	%	
SBL	2,521,174	48,692	3.82	%	1,992,301	31,939	3.17	%	
Loans held for sale	130,403	2,357	3.62	%	159,021	2,422	3.08	%	
Total bank loans, net	17,783,227	332,544	3.76	%	15,858,096	273,311	3.49	%	
Loans to financial advisors, net	871,690	6,962	1.60	%	838,900	6,577	1.57	%	
Corporate cash and all other	3,996,519	25,897	1.30	%	3,338,504	12,869	0.77	%	
Total interest-earning assets	\$31,443,538	\$480,575	3.06	%	\$28,908,043	\$375,326	2.60	%	
Interest-bearing liabilities:									
Bank deposits	¢224.642	¢0.604	1 57	01	¢202.517	¢0.104	1 16	O.	
Certificates of deposit	\$334,642	\$2,624	1.57	%	\$292,517	\$2,134	1.46	%	
Savings, money market and NOW accounts	18,077,400	17,072	0.19	%	14,887,530	4,046	0.05	%	
Securities borrowed	139,153	3,172	4.56	%	115,631	3,172	5.49	%	
Trading instruments sold but not yet purchased	262,813	3,326	2.53	%	345,671	2,788	1.61	%	
Brokerage client payables	4,444,494	5,753	0.26	%	4,880,545	1,528	0.06	%	
Other borrowings	1,008,338	11,287	2.24	%	777,322	7,627	1.96	%	
Senior notes payable	1,548,958	36,360	4.69	%	1,649,231	48,364	5.87	%	
Other	232,327	4,439	3.82	%	212,742	2,984	2.81	%	
Total interest-bearing liabilities	\$26,048,125		0.65	%	\$23,161,189		0.63	%	
Net interest income		\$396,542				\$302,683			

Nonaccrual loans are included in the average loan balances in the table above. Payment or income received on corporate nonaccrual loans are applied to principal. Income on other nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.

Fee income on all loans included in interest income for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$13 million and \$19 million, respectively.

Net interest income increased \$94 million, or 31%, primarily as a result of increases in our RJ Bank and PCG segments, as well as a decrease in net interest expense in our Other segment.

Net interest income in RJ Bank increased \$62 million, or 23%, resulting from increases in average loans outstanding and the available-for-sale securities portfolio, as well as an increase in net interest margin. Refer to the discussion of the specific components of RJ Bank's net interest income in the RJ Bank section of this MD&A.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Net interest income in the PCG segment increased \$15 million, or 23%, driven by an increase in interest income from segregated assets and margin loans, arising from the increase in short-term interest rates. The favorable impact of the higher interest rates was partially offset by a decrease in segregated asset balances and an increase in rates paid on client cash balances.

Net interest expense in the Other segment decreased by \$18 million, primarily due to a decrease in interest expense on our senior notes as a result of a decrease in the average rate on our outstanding borrowings, as well as lower outstanding balances. The outstanding balance and rates of our senior notes decreased due to the March 2017 redemption of our \$350 million 6.90% senior notes and the September 2017 redemption of our \$300 million 8.60% senior notes, partially offset by the May 2017 issuance of \$500 million of our 4.95% senior notes. Interest income in the Other segment increased as a result of the increase in interest rates on corporate cash balances.

Results of Operations – Private Client Group

For an overview of our PCG segment operations as well as a description of the key factors impacting our PCG results of operations, refer to the information presented in "Item 1 - Business" and "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Operating results

	Three mon	ths ended M	1arch	31,	Six months	ended Marcl	n 31,	
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% chai	nge	2018	2017	% cha	nge
Revenues:								
Securities commissions and fees:								
Fee-based accounts	\$623,720	\$485,139	29	%	\$1,219,979	\$958,038	27	%
Mutual funds	169,860	165,545	3	%	333,007	324,135	3	%
Insurance and annuity products	99,723	95,825	4	%	210,512	191,176	10	%
Equity products	88,584	75,868	17	%	171,804	155,304	11	%
Fixed income products	28,612	32,135	(11)%	56,949	61,087	(7)%
New issue sales credits	11,710	22,370	(48)%	21,012	40,361	(48)%
Sub-total securities commissions and fees	1,022,209	876,882	17	%	2,013,263	1,730,101	16	%
Interest income	46,519	37,055	26	%	89,995	70,669	27	%
Account and service fees:								
Mutual fund and annuity service fees	80,101	70,440	14	%	160,722	139,166	15	%
RJBDP fees - third-party banks	66,356	47,186	41	%	127,363	83,750	52	%
Affiliate deposit account servicing fees from RJ Bank	22,204	16,192	37	%	43,462	27,845	56	%
Client account and service fees	23,753	25,895	(8)%	46,507	50,592	(8)%
Client transaction fees and other	4,175	6,670	(37	_	11,920	13,456	(11)%
Sub-total account and service fees	196,589	166,383	18	-	389,974	314,809	24	%
Other	12,586	8,241	53		22,711	16,298	39	%
Total revenues	1,277,903	1,088,561	17		2,515,943	2,131,877	18	%
Interest expense	(6,088)	(3,384)	80			(6,611)	68	%
Net revenues	1,271,815	1,085,177	17	%	2,504,866	2,125,266	18	%
Non-interest expenses:	•	•				•		
Sales commissions	762,758	651,388	17	%	1,499,217	1,285,900	17	%
Admin & incentive compensation and benefit costs	209,689	172,198	22	%	408,606	344,087	19	%

Communications and information processing	62,980	46,426	36 % 115,78	0 90,443	28 %
Occupancy and equipment costs	38,222	36,396	5 % 75,979	71,884	6 %
Business development	23,755	24,814	(4)% 45,318	48,264	(6)%
Jay Peak matter		100,000	(100)% —	130,000	(100)%
Other	16,825	24,583	(32)% 47,317	51,958	(9)%
Total non-interest expenses	1,114,229	1,055,805	6 % 2,192,2	217 2,022,536	8 %
Pre-tax income	\$157,586	\$29,372	437 % \$312,6	49 \$102,730	204 %

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Selected key metrics

Client Asset Balances:

	As of			% change		
	AS OI			from		
	March	Cantambar	March	Septe	a Mac h	
\$ in billions	31,	September 30, 2017	31,	30,	31,	
\$ III OIIIIOIIS	2018	30, 2017	2017	2017	2017	
PCG assets under administration	\$694.8	\$ 659.5	\$611.0	5 %	14 %	
PCG assets in fee-based accounts	\$325.1	\$ 294.5	\$260.5	10%	25 %	

Financial Advisors:

	March	Cantanalan	March
	31,	September 30, 2017	31,
	2018	30, 2017	2017
Employees	3,053	3,041	3,001
Independent Contractors	4,551	4,305	4,221
Total advisors	7,604	7,346	7,222

PCG assets under administration increased 14% over March 31, 2017, resulting from equity market appreciation and net client inflows. Our net client inflows were primarily attributable to strong financial advisor recruiting results. PCG assets in fee-based accounts as a percentage of overall PCG assets under administration increased to 47% at March 31, 2018 compared to 43% at March 31, 2017, due in part to clients moving to fee-based alternatives from traditional transaction-based accounts in response to regulatory changes.

The net increase in financial advisors as of March 31, 2018 compared to March 31, 2017 primarily resulted from strong financial advisor recruiting and high levels of retention. We believe that this increase in financial advisors and assets under administration is a positive indication of potential future revenue growth in this segment.

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$1.27 billion increased \$187 million, or 17%. The portion of total segment revenues that we consider to be recurring was 81% for the quarter ended March 31, 2018, an increase from 78% for the quarter ended March 31, 2017. Recurring revenues include asset-based fees, trailing commissions from mutual funds and variable annuities/insurance products, mutual fund and annuity service fees, fees earned on our RJBDP program and interest, all of which contributed to the increase.

Pre-tax income of \$158 million increased \$128 million, or 437%, compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017, which included a large legal charge related to the Jay Peak matter.

Securities commissions and fees increased \$145 million, or 17%. The increase in commission and fee revenues was primarily driven by a stronger market environment as well as strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results, partially offset by a decline in new issue sales credits resulting from lower equity underwriting activity.

Total account and service fees increased \$30 million, or 18%, primarily due to higher RJBDP fees, which benefited from an increase in short-term interest rates. Mutual fund and annuity service fees increased, due to higher education and marketing support ("EMS") fees and mutual fund omnibus fees. The increase in EMS fees was primarily due to

increased assets in the program, while the increase in omnibus fees was a result of both an increase in assets and the number of positions invested in fund families on the omnibus platform.

As previously discussed, net interest income in the PCG segment increased \$7 million, or 20%.

Non-interest expenses increased \$58 million, or 6%, primarily due to an increase in sales commission expense, which increased \$111 million, or 17%, in line with the increase in securities commissions and fees. Administrative and incentive compensation and benefits expense increased \$37 million, or 22%, primarily due to increased staffing levels to support our continued growth and regulatory compliance requirements. Communications and information processing expense increased \$17 million, or 36%, as a result of our continued investment in technology infrastructure to support our growth. Offsetting these increases was a \$100 million decrease in expenses related to the Jay Peak matter, which was settled in fiscal 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$2.50 billion increased \$380 million, or 18%. The portion of total segment revenues that we consider to be recurring was 81% for the six months ended March 31, 2018, an increase from 78% for the prior year period. Pre-tax income of \$313 million increased \$210 million, or 204%, compared with the prior year period, which included a large legal charge related to the Jay Peak matter.

Securities commissions and fees increased \$283 million, or 16%. The increase in securities commissions and fee revenues was primarily driven by higher equity markets and strong financial advisor recruiting and retention results, partially offset by a decline in new issue sales credits resulting from lower equity underwriting activity.

Total account and service fees increased \$75 million, or 24%, primarily due to higher RJBDP fees, principally resulting from an increase in short-term interest rates over the prior year. Mutual fund and annuity service fees also increased, reflecting higher EMS fees and mutual fund omnibus fees. The increase in EMS fees was primarily due to increased assets in the program, while the increase in omnibus fees was a result of both an increase in assets and the number of positions invested in fund families on the omnibus platform.

As previously discussed, net interest income in the PCG segment increased \$15 million, or 23%.

Non-interest expenses increased \$170 million, or 8%, primarily due to an increase in sales commission expenses, which increased \$213 million, or 17%, in line with the increase in securities commissions and fees. Administrative and incentive compensation and benefits expense increased \$65 million, or 19%, primarily due to increased staffing levels to support our continued growth and regulatory and compliance requirements. Communications and information processing expense increased \$25 million, or 28%, as a result of our continued investment in technology infrastructure to support our growth. Offsetting these increases was a \$130 million decrease in expenses related the Jay Peak matter, which was settled in fiscal 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Results of Operations – Capital Markets

For an overview of our Capital Markets segment operations, as well as a description of the key factors impacting our Capital Markets results of operations, refer to the information presented in "Item 1 - Business" and "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Operating results

	Three mo	onths endec	l March	Six months ended March 31			
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% change	2018	2017	% change	
Revenues:							
Securities commissions and fees:							
Equity	\$46,164	\$59,647		\$99,535	\$123,966	(20)%	
Fixed income	54,197	64,660	, ,	119,398	140,034	(15)%	
Subtotal securities commissions and fees	100,361	124,307	(19)%	218,933	264,000	(17)%	
Equity underwriting fees	12,811	22,272	(42)%	21,767	36,781	(41)%	
Merger & acquisition and advisory fees	72,474	53,762	35 %	115,472	80,936	43 %	
Fixed income investment banking	11,212	10,920	3 %	19,344	19,398		
Tax credit funds syndication fees	9,318	15,177	(39)%	14,135	26,303	(46)%	
Subtotal investment banking	105,815	102,131	4 %	170,718	163,418	4 %	
Investment advisory fees	5,819	5,678	2 %	14,154	10,901	30 %	
Net trading profit	13,149	15,326	(14)%	32,379	34,645	(7)%	
Interest income	7,585	6,475	17 %	14,910	12,949	15 %	
Other	3,886	6,563	(41)%	8,055	11,549	(30)%	
Total revenues	236,615	260,480	(9)%	459,149	497,462	(8)%	
Interest expense	(5,999)	(4,309)	39 %	(11,868)	(8,275)	43 %	
Net revenues	230,616	256,171	(10)%	447,281	489,187	(9)%	
Non-interest expenses:			, ,			, ,	
Sales commissions	34,806	45,396	(23)%	77,024	96,369	(20)%	
Admin & incentive compensation and benefit costs	118,451	113,289	5 %	232,773	216,156	8 %	
Communications and information processing	18,987	17,961	6 %	36,821	35,608	3 %	
Occupancy and equipment costs	8,697	8,525	2 %	17,081	16,980	1 %	
Business development	12,162	9,738	25 %	22,317	19,340	15 %	
Losses and non-interest expenses of real estate	2 051	5 570	(40.)0/	5 5 1 7	7 274	(25.)0/	
partnerships held by consolidated VIEs	2,851	5,578	(49)%	3,317	7,374	(25)%	
Other	21,130	19,931	6 %	40,116	42,268	(5)%	
Total non-interest expenses	217,084	220,418	(2)%	431,649	434,095	(1)%	
Income before taxes and including noncontrolling interests	13,532	35,753	(62)%	15,632	55,092	(72)%	
Noncontrolling interests	(2,671)	(5,498)	51 %	(5,378)	(7,603)	29 %	
Pre-tax income excluding noncontrolling interests	\$16,203	,		\$21,010	,	(66)%	
The same of the sa	\$ 10, 2 00	Ψ · · · • • · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(01)/0	~ - 1,010	\$ 0 2 ,075	(30)/0	

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$231 million decreased \$26 million, or 10%, primarily due to lower commissions. Pre-tax income of \$16 million decreased \$25 million, or 61%.

Total commission revenues decreased \$24 million, or 19%, reflecting decreases in both equity and fixed income institutional commissions, which continued to be negatively impacted by market-driven challenges. Institutional fixed income commissions continued to reflect low levels of client activity, due to the flattening yield curve and relatively low interest rate volatility.

Investment banking revenues increased \$4 million, or 4%, driven by higher merger & acquisition and advisory fees, partially offset by lower equity underwriting fees and tax credit syndication fees. Merger & acquisition and advisory fees increased \$19 million, or 35%, primarily due to both a higher volume of domestic and foreign merger & acquisition transactions and higher average fees per transaction during the quarter ended March 31, 2018. Equity underwriting fees decreased \$9 million, or 42%, primarily due to our involvement

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

in fewer domestic lead-managed deals compared to the prior year period. Tax credit fund syndication fees decreased \$6 million, or 39%, due in part to uncertainty over corporate tax reform impacting new investment activity and the timing of transactions.

Non-interest expenses decreased slightly, as a decline in sales commissions, in line with the decline in securities commissions and fees, was partially offset by an increase in administrative & incentive compensation and benefits expenses.

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$447 million decreased \$42 million, or 9%, primarily due to lower commissions. Pre-tax income of \$21 million decreased \$42 million, or 66%.

Total commission revenues decreased \$45 million, or 17%, reflecting decreases in both equity and fixed income institutional commissions, which continued to be negatively impacted by market-driven challenges. Institutional fixed income commissions continued to reflect low levels of client activity, due to the flattening yield curve and relatively low interest rate volatility.

Investment banking revenues increased \$7 million, or 4%. Merger & acquisition and advisory fees increased \$35 million, or 43%, primarily due to a higher volume of transactions and higher average fees per transaction in the current year period. This increase was offset by lower equity underwriting fees, which declined \$15 million, or 41%, reflecting lower levels of client activity, primarily in the U.S. Tax credit fund syndication fees decreased \$12 million, or 46%, due in part to uncertainty over corporate tax reform impacting new investment activity and the timing of transactions.

Non-interest expenses decreased slightly over the prior year period, as a decline in sales commissions, in line with the decline in commission revenues, was largely offset by an increase in administrative & incentive compensation and benefits expense.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Results of Operations – Asset Management

For an overview of our Asset Management segment operations as well as a description of the key factors impacting our Asset Management results of operations, refer to the information presented in "Item 1 - Business" and "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Operating results

	Three months ended March 31,				Six months ended March 31,			
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% cha	nge	2018	2017	% cha	nge
Revenues:								
Investment advisory and related administrative fees:								
Managed programs	\$113,706	\$77,377	47	%	\$217,551	\$153,685	42	%
Non-discretionary asset-based administration	28,798	21,620	33	%	55,866	42,814	30	%
Subtotal investment advisory and related administrative fees	142,504	98,997	44	%	273,417	196,499	39	%
Account and service fees and other	20,692	17,523	18	%	40,390	34,117	18	%
Total revenues	163,196	116,520	40	%	313,807	230,616	36	%
Interest expense	(11)	(40)	(73)%	(22)	(54)	(59)%
Net revenues	163,185	116,480	40	%	313,785	230,562	36	%
Non-interest expenses:								
Compensation and benefits	44,909	31,344	43	%	81,506	59,026	38	%
Communications and information processing	10,360	7,359	41	%	18,804	14,030	34	%
Occupancy and equipment costs	1,874	1,209	55	%	3,298	2,369	39	%
Business development	3,173	2,711	17	%	5,820	5,024	16	%
Investment sub-advisory fees	22,223	18,025	23	%	43,917	35,409	24	%
Other	23,047	16,914	36	%	42,574	32,670	30	%
Total non-interest expenses	105,586	77,562	36	%	195,919	148,528	32	%
Income before taxes and including noncontrolling interests	57,599	38,918	48	%	117,866	82,034	44	%
Noncontrolling interests	1,733	1,121	55	%	4,601	2,328	98	%
Pre-tax income excluding noncontrolling interests	\$55,866	\$37,797	48	%	\$113,265	\$79,706	42	%

Selected key metrics

Managed Programs - Our investment advisory fees recorded in this segment were earned based on balances either at the beginning of the quarter, end of the quarter or average assets throughout the quarter. For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, approximately 55% of our fees were determined based on asset balances at the beginning of the quarter, 20% were based on asset balances at the end of the quarter and 25% were based on average assets throughout the quarter. For the six months ended March 31, 2018, approximately 60% of our fees were determined based on asset balances at the beginning of each quarter, 20% were based on asset balances at the end of each quarter and 20% were based on average assets throughout each quarter.

Financial assets under management:

The following table presents fee-billable financial assets under management in managed programs at the dates indicated:

\$ in millions	March 31,	September 30,	March 31,
\$ III IIIIIIIOIIS	2018	2017	2017
Asset management services division of RJ&A ("AMS")	\$76,091	\$ 69,962	\$61,337
Carillon Tower Advisers and affiliates ("Carillon Tower"))61,751	31,831	29,327
Subtotal financial assets under management	137,842	101,793	90,664
Less: Assets managed for affiliated entities	(5,538)	(5,397)	(5,099)
Total financial assets under management	\$132,304	\$ 96,396	85,565

In the table above, Carillon Tower includes its subsidiaries and affiliates Eagle Asset Management, ClariVest Asset Management, Cougar Global Investments, and the newly-acquired Scout Group.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table presents fee-billable financial assets under management (including assets managed for affiliates) by objective at the dates indicated:

¢ in millions	March 31,	September 30,	March 31,
\$ in millions	2018	2017	2017
Equity	\$58,983	\$ 48,936	\$43,881
Fixed	33,633	11,814	11,296
Balanced	45,226	41,043	35,487
Total financial assets under management	\$137,842	\$ 101,793	\$ 90,664

Activity (including activity in assets managed for affiliated entities):

	Three mon	ths ended	Six month	is ended
	March 31,		March 31	,
\$ in millions	2018	2017	2018	2017
Financial assets under management at beginning of period	\$135,852	\$84,457	\$101,793	\$81,729
Carillon Tower - net inflows/(outflows):				
Scout group acquisition			27,087	_
Other	686	(231)	1,406	(143)
AMS - net inflows	2,757	2,572	4,935	4,468
Net market appreciation/(depreciation) in asset values	(1,453)	3,866	2,621	4,610
Financial assets under management at end of period	\$137,842	\$90,664	\$137,842	\$90,664

Non-discretionary asset-based programs - Our assets held in certain non-discretionary asset-based programs (including those managed for affiliated entities) totaled \$175.5 billion, \$157.0 billion, and \$135.1 billion as of March 31, 2018, September 30, 2017 and March 31, 2017, respectively. The increase in assets over the prior year level was primarily due to market appreciation and to clients moving to fee-based accounts from the traditional transaction-based accounts in response to regulatory changes. The majority of the administrative fees associated with these programs are determined based on balances at the beginning of the quarter.

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$163 million increased \$47 million, or 40%. Pre-tax income of \$56 million increased \$18 million, or 48%.

Total investment advisory and related administrative fee revenues increased \$44 million, or 44%, primarily driven by an increase in financial assets under management. The increase in financial assets under management was primarily a result of the Scout Group acquisition as well as inflows related to financial advisor recruiting. Administrative fees also increased during the quarter due to the aforementioned increase in assets held in non-discretionary programs.

Account and service fees and other income increased \$3 million, or 18%, reflecting increased trust fee revenue due to an 8% increase in assets in RJ Trust, as well as increased shareholder servicing fees as a result of the Scout Group acquisition.

Non-interest expenses increased \$28 million, or 36%, primarily resulting from a \$14 million increase in compensation and benefit expenses, a \$6 million increase in other expense and a \$4 million increase in investment sub-advisory fees. Compensation and benefit expenses increased primarily due to the Scout Group acquisition, annual salary increases and an increase in personnel over the prior year's quarter to support the growth of the business. The increase in other expenses was primarily driven by expenses incurred to support the new funds offered on our platform as a result of the

Scout Group acquisition. The increase in investment sub-advisory fees resulted from increased assets under management in applicable programs.

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$314 million increased \$83 million, or 36%. Pre-tax income of \$113 million increased \$34 million, or 42%.

Total investment advisory and related administrative fee revenues increased \$77 million, or 39%, primarily driven by an increase in financial assets under management. The increase in financial assets under management was primarily a result of the Scout Group acquisition, as well as both net market appreciation and inflows related to financial advisor recruiting. Administrative fees also increased over the prior year due to the aforementioned increase in assets held in non-discretionary programs.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Account and service fees and other income increased \$6 million, or 18%, primarily reflecting increased trust fee revenue due to an 8% increase in assets in RJ Trust.

Non-interest expenses increased \$47 million, or 32%, resulting from a \$22 million increase in compensation and benefit expenses, a \$10 million increase in other expenses and a \$9 million increase in investment sub-advisory fees. Compensation and benefit expenses increased primarily due to the Scout Group acquisition, in addition to annual salary increases and an increase in personnel over the prior year to support the growth of the business. The increase in other expenses was primarily due to certain incremental costs associated with the Scout Group acquisition, including expenses related to the new funds offered on our platform, as well as the amortization of intangible assets arising from the acquisition. The increase in investment sub-advisory fees resulted from increased assets under management in applicable programs.

Results of Operations – RJ Bank

For an overview of our RJ Bank segment operations, as well as a description of the key factors impacting our RJ Bank results of operations, refer to the information presented in "Item 1 - Business" and "Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Operating results

	Three months ended March 31, Six months ended March 31,							
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% char	nge	2018	2017	% char	nge
Revenues:								
Interest income	\$189,815	\$145,837	30	%	\$365,810	\$286,611	28	%
Interest expense	(17,692)	(7,326)	141	%	(30,648)	(13,828)	122	%
Net interest income	172,123	138,511	24	%	335,162	272,783	23	%
Other income	6,615	2,860	131	%	8,761	6,603	33	%
Net revenues	178,738	141,371	26	%	343,923	279,386	23	%
Non-interest expenses:								
Compensation and benefits	10,193	8,774	16	%	19,069	16,498	16	%
Communications and information processing	2,347	1,902	23	%	4,932	3,769	31	%
Loan loss provision	7,549	7,928	(5)%	8,565	6,888	24	%
FDIC insurance premiums	4,823	4,310	12	%	9,657	8,570	13	%
Affiliate deposit account servicing fees to PCG	22,204	16,192	37	%	43,462	27,845	56	%
Other	13,536	10,354	31	%	25,997	19,784	31	%
Total non-interest expenses	60,652	49,460	23	%	111,682	83,354	34	%
Pre-tax income	\$118,086	\$91,911	28	%	\$232,241	\$196,032	18	%

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$179 million increased \$37 million, or 26%, primarily reflecting an increase in net interest income. Pre-tax income of \$118 million increased \$26 million, or 28%.

Net interest income increased \$34 million, or 24%, due to a \$3.36 billion increase in interest-earning banking assets, as well as an increase in net interest margin. The increase in interest-earning banking assets was driven by a \$2.05 billion increase in loans, due to broad-based growth in the portfolio, and a \$1.16 billion increase in our available-for-sale securities portfolio. The net interest margin increased to 3.21% from 3.08% due to an increase in

asset yields, partially offset by a less significant increase in the total cost of funds. The increase in the total assets yield resulted from an increase in the loan portfolio yield, a result of the overall rise in market interest rates. The total cost of funds increased primarily due to an increase in deposit costs. Corresponding to the increase in interest-earning banking assets, interest-bearing banking liabilities increased \$3.20 billion.

The loan loss provision approximated the prior year quarter level due to additional reserves related to rising short-term interest rates, offset by lower reserve rates on pass-rated loans within the current year and the resolution of certain criticized loans in the prior year quarter.

Non-interest expenses (excluding provision for loan losses) increased \$12 million, or 28%, primarily reflecting a \$6 million increase in affiliate deposit account servicing fees due to an increase in client account balances.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table presents average balances, interest income and expense, the related yields and rates, and interest spreads and margins for RJ Bank:

	Three months ended March 31, 2018				2017			
\$ in thousands	Average balance	Interest inc./exp.	Averagyield/cost	ge	Average balance	Interest inc./exp.	Avera yield/ cost	_
Interest-earning banking assets:								
Cash	\$1,104,647	\$4,155	1.53	%	\$963,676	\$1,885	0.79	%
Available-for-sale securities	2,374,621	11,815	1.99	%	1,216,339	5,231	1.72	%
Bank loans, net of unearned income								
Loans held for investment:								
C&I loans	7,553,398	78,171	4.14	%	7,364,683	68,956	3.75	%
CRE construction loans	176,430	2,207	5.00	%	140,960	1,522	4.32	%
CRE loans	3,186,221	32,249	4.05	%	2,790,332	23,691	3.40	%
Tax-exempt loans	1,148,144	7,355	3.39	%	855,636	5,494	3.95	%
Residential mortgage loans	3,329,165	25,743	3.09	%	2,738,798	20,412	2.98	%
SBL	2,572,407	25,452	3.96	%	2,033,862	16,550	3.25	%
Loans held for sale	145,247	1,347	3.75	%	137,523	1,161	3.47	%
Total loans, net	18,111,012	172,524	3.86	%	16,061,794	137,786	3.51	%
FHLB stock, Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta	146,257	1 221	3.66	01	121 517	935	2.88	%
("FRB") stock, and other	140,237	1,321	3.00	%	131,517	933	2.00	%
Total interest-earning banking assets	21,736,537	\$189,815	3.54	%	18,373,326	\$145,837	3.24	%
Non-interest-earning banking assets:								
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	(43,150)				(10,842)			
Allowance for loan losses	(191,006)				(198,330)			
Other assets	348,433				369,761			
Total non-interest-earning banking assets	114,277				160,589			
Total banking assets	\$21,850,814				\$18,533,915			
Interest-bearing banking liabilities:								
Bank deposits:								
Certificates of deposit	\$346,030	\$1,352	1.58	%	\$281,553	\$999	1.44	%
Savings, money market, and NOW accounts	18,584,891	11,666			15,676,924	2,901	0.08	%
FHLB advances and other	966,012	4,674			739,862	3,426	1.85	%
Total interest-bearing banking liabilities	19,896,933	\$17,692			16,698,339	\$7,326	0.18	%
Non-interest-bearing banking liabilities	80,498	+			101,092	+ - ,= = =		
Total banking liabilities	19,977,431				16,799,431			
Total banking shareholder's equity	1,873,383				1,734,484			
Total banking liabilities and shareholder's								
equity	\$21,850,814				\$18,533,915			
Excess of interest-earning banking assets over								
interest-bearing banking liabilities/net interest	\$1,839,604	\$172,123			\$1,674,987	\$138,511		
income	, ,,	, , , -			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	,)-		
Bank net interest:								
Spread			3.18	%			3.06	%
Margin (net yield on interest-earning banking								
assets)			3.21	%			3.08	%
•								

Ratio of interest-earning banking assets to interest-bearing banking liabilities

109.25%

110.03%

Nonaccrual loans are included in the average loan balances presented in the table above. Payment or income received on corporate nonaccrual loans are applied to principal. Income on other nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.

Fee income on loans included in interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$6 million and \$10 million, respectively.

The yield on tax-exempt loans in the table above is presented on a tax-equivalent basis utilizing the applicable federal statutory tax rates for each of the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Increases and decreases in interest income and interest expense result from changes in average balances (volume) of interest-earning banking assets and liabilities, as well as changes in average interest rates. The following table shows the effect that these factors had on the interest earned on our interest-earning assets and the interest incurred on our interest-bearing liabilities. The effect of changes in volume is determined by multiplying the change in volume by the previous period's average yield/cost. Similarly, the effect of rate changes is calculated by multiplying the change in average yield/cost by the previous year's volume. Changes attributable to both volume and rate have been allocated proportionately.

	Three months ended March			
	31,			
	2018 cor	npared to 2	2017	
	Increase/(decrease) due t			
\$ in thousands	Volume	Rate	Total	
Interest revenue:				
Interest-earning banking assets:				
Cash	\$276	\$1,994	\$2,270	
Available-for-sale securities	4,981	1,603	6,584	
Bank loans, net of unearned income:				
Loans held for investment:				
C&I loans	1,767	7,448	9,215	
CRE construction loans	383	302	685	
CRE loans	3,361	5,197	8,558	
Tax-exempt loans	1,878	(17)	1,861	
Residential mortgage loans	4,400	931	5,331	
SBL	4,382	4,520	8,902	
Loans held for sale	65	121	186	
Total bank loans, net	16,236	18,502	34,738	
FHLB stock, FRB stock, and other	105	281	386	
Total interest-earning banking assets	21,598	22,380	43,978	
Interest expense:				
Interest-bearing banking liabilities:				
Bank deposits:				
Certificates of deposit	228	125	353	
Savings, money market, and NOW accounts	538	8,227	8,765	
FHLB advances and other	1,048	200	1,248	
Total interest-bearing banking liabilities	1,814	8,552	10,366	
Change in net interest income	\$19,784	\$13,828	\$33,612	

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

Net revenues of \$344 million increased \$65 million, or 23%, primarily reflecting an increase in net interest income. Pre-tax income of \$232 million increased \$36 million, or 18%.

Net interest income increased \$62 million, or 23%, due to a \$3.44 billion increase in interest-earning banking assets as well as an increase in net interest margin. The increase in interest-earning banking assets was driven by broad-based loan growth of \$1.93 billion and a \$1.23 billion increase in our available-for-sale securities portfolio. The net interest margin increased to 3.15% from 3.07%, due to an increase in asset yields, offset by a less significant increase in the total cost of funds. The total assets yield increase resulted from an increase in the loan portfolio yield and an increase

in the yield on our available-for-sale portfolio, due to an increase in short-term interest rates. The total cost of funds increased due to an increase in deposit costs. Corresponding to the increase in interest-earning banking assets, interest-bearing banking liabilities increased \$3.30 billion.

The loan loss provision increased by \$2 million, primarily due to loan growth, partially offset by lower reserve rates on pass-rated loans as a result of improved credit characteristics.

Non-interest expenses (excluding provision for loan losses) increased \$27 million, or 35%, primarily reflecting a \$16 million increase in affiliate deposit account servicing fees due to an increase in client account balances.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table presents average balances, interest income and expense, the related yields and rates, and interest spreads and margins for RJ Bank:

spicaus and margins for KJ Dank.								
	Six months ended March 31, 2018 2017							
\$ in thousands	Average balance	Interest inc./exp.	Avera yield/ cost	ge	Average balance	Interest inc./exp.	Avera yield/ cost	-
Interest-earning banking assets:	¢ 1 220 020	¢ 0 5 0 7	1 40	01	¢024.450	¢2.120	0.77	01
Cash	\$1,230,928	\$8,587	1.40		\$934,459	\$3,129	0.67	% %
Available-for-sale securities Bank loans, net of unearned income	2,270,483	21,958	1.93	%	1,042,712	8,308	1.59	%
Loans held for investment:								
C&I loans	7,482,634	151,963	4.02	0%	7,421,700	140,262	3.75	%
CRE construction loans	158,254	3,930	4.91		136,687	3,027	4.38	%
CRE loans	3,110,590	61,008	3.88		2,668,802	45,945	3.41	%
Tax-exempt loans	1,093,384	14,061	3.41		831,637	10,740	3.97	%
Residential mortgage loans	3,286,788	50,533	3.08		2,647,948	38,976	2.91	%
SBL	2,521,174	48,692	3.82		1,992,301	31,939	3.17	%
Loans held for sale	130,403	2,357	3.62		159,021	2,422	3.08	%
Total loans, net	17,783,227	332,544	3.76		15,858,096	273,311	3.49	%
FHLB stock, FRB stock, and other	138,452	2,721	3.94	%	151,889	1,863	2.46	%
Total interest-earning banking assets	21,423,090	\$365,810	3.43	%	17,987,156	\$286,611	3.22	%
Non-interest-earning banking assets:								
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities	(29,177)				(7,958)			
Allowance for loan losses	(190,752)				(197,605)			
Other assets	375,936				364,156			
Total non-interest-earning banking assets	156,007				158,593			
Total banking assets	\$21,579,097				\$18,145,749			
Interest-bearing banking liabilities:								
Bank deposits:	***	42.624		~	****	\$2.12.1		~
Certificates of deposit	\$334,642	\$2,624	1.57		\$292,517	\$2,134	1.46	%
Savings, money market, and NOW accounts	18,322,098	18,611	0.20		15,278,513	5,057	0.07	%
FHLB advances and other	977,753	9,413	1.91		768,327	6,637	1.71	%
Total interest-bearing banking liabilities	19,634,493	\$30,648	0.31	%	16,339,357	\$13,828	0.17	%
Non-interest-bearing banking liabilities	87,052				93,937			
Total banking liabilities Total banking shareholder's equity	19,721,545				16,433,294			
Total banking shareholder's Total banking liabilities and shareholder's	1,857,552				1,712,455			
equity	\$21,579,097				\$18,145,749			
Excess of interest-earning banking assets over								
interest-bearing banking liabilities/net interest	\$1 788 597	\$335,162			\$1,647,799	\$272,783		
income	Ψ1,700,257	Ψυυυ,102			Ψ1,017,777	Ψ272,703		
Bank net interest:								
Spread			3.12	%			3.05	%
Margin (net yield on interest-earning banking				01				
assets)			3.15	%			3.07	%
			109.11	1 %			110.08	8%

Ratio of interest-earning banking assets to interest-bearing banking liabilities

Nonaccrual loans are included in the average loan balances presented in the table above. Payment or income received on corporate nonaccrual loans are applied to principal. Income on other nonaccrual loans is recognized on a cash basis.

Fee income on loans included in interest income for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 was \$13 million and \$19 million, respectively.

The yield on tax-exempt loans in the table above is presented on a tax-equivalent basis utilizing the applicable federal statutory rates for each of the six months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Increases and decreases in interest income and interest expense result from changes in average balances (volume) of interest-earning banking assets and liabilities, as well as changes in average interest rates. The following table shows the effect that these factors had on the interest earned on our interest-earning assets and the interest incurred on our interest-bearing liabilities. The effect of changes in volume is determined by multiplying the change in volume by the previous period's average yield/cost. Similarly, the effect of rate changes is calculated by multiplying the change in average yield/cost by the previous year's volume. Changes attributable to both volume and rate have been allocated proportionately.

	Six months ended March 31,			
	2018 compared to 2017			
	Increase/	(decrease)	due to	
\$ in thousands	Volume	Rate	Total	
Interest revenue:				
Interest-earning banking assets:				
Cash	\$993	\$4,465	\$5,458	
Available-for-sale securities	9,783	3,867	13,650	
Bank loans, net of unearned income:				
Loans held for investment:				
C&I loans	1,152	10,549	11,701	
CRE construction loans	477	426	903	
CRE loans	7,606	7,457	15,063	
Tax-exempt loans	3,380	(59)	3,321	
Residential mortgage loans	9,403	2,154	11,557	
SBL	8,479	8,274	16,753	
Loans held for sale	(436)	371	(65)	
Total bank loans, net	30,061	29,172	59,233	
FHLB stock, FRB stock, and other	(165)	1,023	858	
Total interest-earning banking assets	40,672	38,527	79,199	
Interest expense:				
Interest-bearing banking liabilities:				
Bank deposits:				
Certificates of deposit	307	183	490	
Savings, money market, and NOW accounts	1,007	12,547	13,554	
FHLB advances and other	1,810	966	2,776	
Total interest-bearing banking liabilities	3,124	13,696	16,820	
Change in net interest income	\$37,548	\$24,831	\$62,379	

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Results of Operations – Other

This segment includes our private equity activities as well as certain corporate overhead costs of RJF, the interest cost on our public debt, and the acquisition and integration costs associated with certain acquisitions. For an overview of our Other segment operations, refer to the information presented in "Item 1 - Business" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

Operating results

	Three months ended March 31,			Six months ended March 31,		
\$ in thousands	2018	2017	% change	2018	2017	% change
Revenues:						
Interest income	\$8,540	\$5,474	56 %	\$16,829	\$10,162	66 %
Realized/unrealized gains - private equity investments	10,641	7,443	43 %	17,581	18,087	(3)%
Other	1,498	3,092	(52)%	2,652	3,219	(18)%
Total revenues	20,679	16,009	29 %	37,062	31,468	18 %
Interest expense	(18,847)	(24,027)	(22)%	(38,150)	(49,129)	(22)%
Net revenues	1,832	(8,018)	NM	(1,088)	(17,661)	94 %
Non-interest expenses:						
Compensation and other	17,545	17,266	2 %	30,600	27,375	12 %
Acquisition-related expenses	_	1,086	(100)%	3,927	13,752	(71)%
Losses on extinguishment of debt	_	8,282	(100)%		8,282	(100)%
Total non-interest expenses	17,545	26,634	(34)%	34,527	49,409	(30)%
Loss before taxes and including noncontrolling interests	(15,713)	(34,652)	55 %	(35,615)	(67,070)	47 %
Noncontrolling interests	657	166	296 %	936	2,201	(57)%
Pre-tax loss excluding noncontrolling interests	\$(16,370)	\$(34,818)	53 %	\$(36,551)	\$(69,271)	47 %

Quarter ended March 31, 2018 compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2017

The pre-tax loss generated by this segment of \$16 million decreased by \$18 million, or 53%.

Net revenues in this segment increased \$10 million, primarily due to a decrease in our net interest expense of \$8 million resulting from a decrease in interest expense due to a decline in the average outstanding balance and average interest rate on our senior notes. Interest income increased as a result of the increase in interest rates and higher corporate cash balances. Net gains on our private equity investments increased \$3 million.

Non-interest expenses decreased \$9 million, as the prior year quarter included losses on extinguishment of certain of our senior notes, as well as acquisition-related expenses related to our acquisitions of Alex. Brown and 3Macs late in fiscal 2016.

Six months ended March 31, 2018 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2017

The pre-tax loss generated by this segment of \$37 million decreased by \$33 million, or 47%.

Net revenues in this segment increased \$17 million due to a decrease in our net interest expense of \$18 million, resulting from a decrease in interest expense as well as an increase in interest income. The decrease in interest expense

was due to a decline in the average interest rate and average outstanding balance of our senior notes. Interest income increased primarily as a result of the increase in interest rates earned on higher corporate cash balances.

Non-interest expenses decreased \$15 million due to lower acquisition-related expenses, as well as losses on extinguishment of certain of our senior notes incurred in the prior year period. Acquisition-related expenses for the six months ended March 31, 2018 related to incremental expenses incurred in connection with our acquisition of the Scout Group, which closed in November 2017. Prior year acquisition-related expenses primarily related to our acquisitions of Alex. Brown and 3Macs, which closed late in fiscal 2016.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Certain statistical disclosures by bank holding companies

We are required to provide certain statistical disclosures required for bank holding companies under the SEC's Industry Guide 3. The following table provides certain of those disclosures.

	Three	months	Six months		
	ended March		ended March		
	31,		31,		
	2018	2017	2018	2017	
Return on average assets	2.7%	1.4%	2.0%	1.6%	
Return on average equity	16.7%	8.8%	12.6%	10.2%	
Average equity to average assets	16.1%	15.9%	16.1%	15.8%	
Dividend payout ratio	15.3%	28.6%	20.6%	24.9%	

Return on average assets is computed by dividing annualized net income attributable to RJF for the period indicated by average assets for each respective period. Average assets for the quarter is computed by adding total assets as of the date indicated to the prior quarter-end total, and dividing by two. Average assets for the year is computed by adding total assets as of each quarter-end to the beginning of the year total, and dividing by three.

Return on average equity is computed by dividing annualized net income attributable to RJF for the period indicated by average equity attributable to RJF for each respective period. Average equity for the quarter is computed by adding the total equity attributable to RJF as of the date indicated to the prior quarter-end total, and dividing by two. Average equity for year to date is computed by adding the total equity attributable to RJF as of each quarter-end to the beginning of the year total, and dividing by three.

Average equity to average assets is computed by dividing average equity by average assets as calculated in the above explanations.

Dividend payout ratio is computed by dividing dividends declared per common share during the period by diluted earnings per common share.

Refer to the section "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk management - Credit risk" and to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for other required disclosures.

Liquidity and capital resources

Liquidity is essential to our business. The primary goal of our liquidity management activities is to ensure adequate funding to conduct our business over a range of economic and market environments.

Senior management establishes our liquidity and capital management framework. This framework includes senior management's review of short- and long-term cash flow forecasts, review of monthly capital expenditures, monitoring of the availability of alternative sources of financing, and daily monitoring of liquidity in our significant subsidiaries. Our decisions on the allocation of capital to our business units consider, among other factors, projected profitability and cash flow, risk, and impact on future liquidity needs. Our treasury department assists in evaluating, monitoring and controlling the impact that our business activities have on our financial condition, liquidity and capital structure, and maintains our relationships with various lenders. The objectives of these policies are to support the successful execution of our business strategies while ensuring ongoing and sufficient liquidity.

Liquidity is provided primarily through our business operations and financing activities. Financing activities could include bank borrowings, repurchase agreement transactions or additional capital raising activities under our "universal" shelf registration statement.

Cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended March 31, 2018 was \$987 million. In addition to operating cash flows related to net income, other increases in cash from operations included:

An increase of \$770 million in brokerage client payables and other accounts payable, in part due to increased client cash balances in our client interest program.

A decrease of \$381 million in assets segregated pursuant to regulations and other segregated assets.

Offsetting these, cash used in operations resulted from:

An increase in net trading instruments of \$166 million.

A decrease of \$157 million in accrued compensation, commissions and benefits, in part resulting from the annual payment of certain incentive awards, net of current year accruals.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

An increase in our brokerage client receivables and other receivables of \$126 million, including an increase in margin loans.

An increase of \$124 million in securities purchased under agreements to resell, net of securities sold under agreements to repurchase.

A decrease in securities loaned, net of securities borrowed, of \$105 million.

Investing activities resulted in the use of \$1.81 billion of cash during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

The primary investing activities were:

A net increase in RJ Bank loans used \$1.15 billion.

Purchases of available-for-sale securities held at RJ Bank, net of proceeds from maturations, repayments and redemptions within the portfolio, used \$420 million.

We used \$159 million, net of cash acquired, for our acquisition of the Scout Group.

We used \$70 million to fund property investments, primarily software and computer equipment.

Financing activities provided \$312 million of cash during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

Increases in cash from financing activities resulted from:

An increase in RJ Bank deposit balances of \$980 million, as RJ Bank retained a higher portion of RJBDP balances.

Proceeds of \$300 million from borrowings on the RJF Credit Facility.

Offsetting these, decreases in cash from financing activities resulted from:

Net repayments of \$610 million of lines of credit other than the RJF Credit Facility.

Repayments of \$300 million of borrowings on the RJF Credit Facility.

Payment of dividends to our shareholders of \$71 million.

We believe our existing assets, most of which are liquid in nature, together with funds generated from operations and available from committed and uncommitted financing facilities provide adequate funds for continuing operations at current levels of activity.

Sources of liquidity

Approximately \$1.20 billion of our total March 31, 2018 cash and cash equivalents included cash on hand held at the parent, as well as parent cash loaned to RJ&A. Our cash and cash equivalents held were as follows:

\$ in thousands	March 31,
\$ in thousands	2018
RJF	\$484,242
RJ&A	1,104,111
RJ Bank	736,749
RJ Ltd.	429,254
RJFS	119,819
Carillon Tower Advisers	78,202
Other subsidiaries	187,561
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$3,139,938

RJF maintained depository accounts at RJ Bank with a balance of \$193 million as of March 31, 2018. The portion of this total that is available on demand without restrictions, which amounted to \$153 million at March 31, 2018, is

reflected in the RJF total (and is excluded from the RJ Bank total).

RJF had loaned \$742 million to RJ&A as of March 31, 2018 (such amount is included in the RJ&A cash balance), which RJ&A has invested on behalf of RJF in cash and cash equivalents or otherwise deployed in its normal business activities.

In addition to the cash balances described above, we have various other potential sources of cash available to the parent from subsidiaries, as described in the following section.

Liquidity available from subsidiaries

Liquidity is principally available to RJF, the parent company, from RJ&A and RJ Bank.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

RJ&A is required to maintain net capital equal to the greater of \$1 million or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from client transactions. In addition, covenants in RJ&A's committed secured financing facilities require its net capital to be a minimum of 10% of aggregate debit items. At March 31, 2018, RJ&A significantly exceeded both the minimum regulatory requirements and the covenants in its financing arrangements pertaining to net capital. At that date, RJ&A had excess net capital of \$712 million, of which \$339 million was available for dividend while still maintaining the internally-targeted net capital ratio of 15% of aggregate debit items. There are also limitations on the amount of dividends that may be declared by a broker-dealer without Financial Industry Regulatory Authority approval.

RJ Bank may pay dividends to RJF without the prior approval of its regulator as long as the dividend does not exceed the sum of RJ Bank's current calendar year and the previous two calendar years' retained net income, and RJ Bank maintains its targeted regulatory capital ratios. At March 31, 2018, RJ Bank had \$192 million of capital in excess of the amount it would need at March 31, 2018 to maintain its targeted total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 12.5%, and could pay a dividend of such amount without requiring prior approval of its regulator.

Although we have liquidity available to us from our other subsidiaries, the available amounts are not as significant as those described above and, in certain instances, may be subject to regulatory requirements.

Borrowings and financing arrangements

Committed financing arrangements

Our ability to borrow is dependent upon compliance with the conditions in the various loan agreements and, in the case of secured borrowings, collateral eligibility requirements. Our committed financing arrangements are in the form of either tri-party repurchase agreements or, in the case of the RJF Credit Facility, an unsecured line of credit. The required market value of the collateral associated with the committed secured facilities ranges from 102% to 125% of the amount financed.

The following table presents our committed financing arrangements with third-party lenders, which we generally utilize to finance a portion of our fixed income trading instruments held, and the outstanding balances related thereto:

	March 31,			
\$ in thousands	RJ&A	RJF	Total	Total number of arrangements
Financing arrangement:				
Committed secured	\$300,000	\$ —	\$300,000	3
Committed unsecured		300,000	300,000	1
Total committed financing arrangements	\$300,000	\$300,000	\$600,000	4
Outstanding borrowing amount: Committed secured Committed unsecured Total outstanding borrowing amount	\$— — \$—	\$— — \$—	\$— — \$—	

Uncommitted financing arrangements

Our uncommitted financing arrangements are in the form of secured lines of credit, secured bilateral or tri-party repurchase agreements, or unsecured lines of credit. Our arrangements with third-party lenders are generally utilized to finance a portion of our fixed income securities or for cash management purposes. Our uncommitted secured financing arrangements generally require us to post collateral in excess of the amount borrowed. As of March 31, 2018, we had outstanding borrowings under four uncommitted secured borrowing arrangements with lenders out of a total of 14 uncommitted financing arrangements (eight uncommitted secured and six uncommitted unsecured). However, lenders are under no contractual obligation to lend to us under uncommitted credit facilities.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table presents our borrowings on uncommitted financing arrangements, all of which were in RJ&A.

\$ in thousands March 31, 2018

Outstanding borrowing amount:

Uncommitted secured \$142,791

Uncommitted unsecured —

Total outstanding borrowing amount \$142,791

Other financings

RJ Bank had \$875 million in FHLB borrowings outstanding at March 31, 2018, comprised of floating-rate advances totaling \$850 million and a \$25 million fixed-rate advance, all of which were secured by a blanket lien on RJ Bank's residential mortgage loan portfolio (see Note 12 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding these borrowings). RJ Bank had an additional \$1.58 billion in immediate credit available from the FHLB as of March 31, 2018 and, with the pledge of additional collateral to the FHLB, total available credit of 30% of total assets.

RJ Bank is eligible to participate in the Fed's discount-window program; however, we do not view borrowings from the Fed as a primary source of funding. The credit available in this program is subject to periodic review, may be terminated or reduced at the discretion of the Fed, and would be secured by pledged C&I loans.

From time to time we enter into repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements. We account for each of these types of transactions as collateralized agreements and financings, with the outstanding balances on the repurchase agreements included in "Securities sold under agreements to repurchase" on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition included in this Form 10-Q, in the amount of \$143 million as of March 31, 2018 (which are reflected in the table of uncommitted financing arrangements). Such financings are generally collateralized by non-customer, RJ&A-owned securities or by securities that we have received as collateral under reverse repurchase agreements.

The average daily balance outstanding during the five most recent successive quarters, the maximum month-end balance outstanding during the quarter and the period-end balances for repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements were as follows:

_	Repurchase transactions			Reverse repurchase transactions		
		Maximum			Maximum	
	Average	month-end	End of	Average	month-end	End of
For the quarter ended: (\$ in thousands)	daily	balance	period	daily	balance	period
For the quarter ended: (\$ in thousands)	balance	outstanding	balance	balance	outstanding	balance
	outstandin	outstandingluring the outstanding		outstanding during the		outstanding
		quarter			quarter	
March 31, 2018	\$163,923	\$ 157,466	\$ 142,791	\$378,109	\$ 448,474	\$ 448,474
December 31, 2017	218,690	229,036	229,036	443,391	506,711	307,742
September 30, 2017	241,365	247,048	220,942	463,618	503,462	404,462
June 30, 2017	231,378	226,972	226,972	479,653	540,823	483,820
March 31, 2017	204,623	222,476	222,476	410,678	535,224	535,224

At March 31, 2018, in addition to the financing arrangements described above, we had \$26 million outstanding on a mortgage loan for our St. Petersburg, Florida home-office complex, that is included in "Other borrowings" in our

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition included of this Form 10-Q.

At March 31, 2018, we had aggregate outstanding senior notes payable of \$1.55 billion. Our senior notes payable, exclusive of any unaccreted premiums or discounts and debt issuance costs, is comprised of \$250 million par 5.625% senior notes due 2024, \$500 million par 3.625% senior notes due 2026, and \$800 million par 4.95% senior notes due 2046. See Note 15 of our 2017 Form 10-K for additional information.

Our senior long-term debt ratings as of the most current report are:

Rating Agency Rating Outlook Standard & Poor's Ratings Services BBB+ Stable Moody's Investors Services Baa1 Stable

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Our current long-term debt ratings depend upon a number of factors, including industry dynamics, operating and economic environment, operating results, operating margins, earnings trends and volatility, balance sheet composition, liquidity and liquidity management, our capital structure, our overall risk management, business diversification and market share, and competitive position in the markets in which we operate. Deteriorations in any of these factors could impact our credit ratings. Any rating downgrades could increase our costs in the event we were to obtain additional financing.

Should our credit rating be downgraded prior to a public debt offering, it is probable that we would have to offer a higher rate of interest to bond holders. A downgrade to below investment grade may make a public debt offering difficult to execute on terms we would consider to be favorable. A downgrade below investment grade could result in the termination of certain derivative contracts and the counterparties to the derivative instruments could request immediate payment or demand immediate and ongoing overnight collateralization on our derivative instruments in liability positions (see Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information). A credit downgrade could damage our reputation and result in certain counterparties limiting their business with us, result in negative comments by analysts, and potentially negatively impact investor perception of us, and cause a decline in our stock price and/or our clients' perception of us. A credit downgrade would result in RJF incurring a higher commitment fee on any unused balance on one of its borrowing arrangements, the \$300 million RJF Credit Facility, in addition to triggering a higher interest rate applicable to any borrowings outstanding on that line as of and subsequent to such downgrade. Conversely, an improvement in RJF's current credit rating could have a favorable impact on the commitment fee, as well as the interest rate, applicable to any borrowings on such line. None of our borrowing arrangements contain a condition or event of default related to our credit ratings.

Other sources and uses of liquidity

We have COLI policies which are utilized to fund certain non-qualified deferred compensation plans and other employee benefit plans. Certain of our non-qualified deferred compensation plans and other employee benefit plans are self-directed while others are company-directed. The COLI policies that we could readily borrow against had a cash surrender value of approximately \$466 million as of March 31, 2018, comprised of \$262 million related to employee-directed plans and \$204 million related to company-directed plans, and we were able to borrow up to 90%, or \$419 million, of the March 31, 2018 total without restriction. To effect any such borrowing, the underlying investments would be converted to money market investments, therefore requiring us to take market risk related to the employee-directed plans. There were no borrowings outstanding against any of these policies as of March 31, 2018.

On May 22, 2015, we filed a "universal" shelf registration statement with the SEC to be in a position to access the capital markets if and when necessary or perceived by us to be opportune.

See the "Contractual obligations" section below for information regarding our contractual obligations.

Statement of financial condition analysis

The assets on our condensed consolidated statement of financial condition consisted primarily of cash and cash equivalents (a large portion of which is segregated for the benefit of clients), receivables including bank loans, financial instruments held for either trading purposes or as investments, and other assets. A significant portion of our assets were liquid in nature, providing us with flexibility in financing our business.

Total assets of \$36.03 billion as of March 31, 2018 were \$1.15 billion, or 3%, greater than our total assets as of September 30, 2017. Net bank loans receivable increased \$1.14 billion, reflecting growth across the portfolio during

the period. Our available-for-sale securities portfolio increased \$371 million, as we increased our investments in such securities during the period in line with our growth plan for this portfolio. Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets increased \$154 million, due to the Scout Group acquisition. Brokerage client receivables increased \$108 million, primarily due to increased margin lending. Offsetting these increases was a decrease in our cash and cash equivalents balances of \$530 million; refer to the discussion of the components of this decrease in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section within this MD&A. Assets segregated pursuant to regulations and other segregated assets decreased \$397 million.

As of March 31, 2018, our total liabilities of \$29.99 billion were \$799 million, or 3%, greater than our total liabilities as of September 30, 2017. Bank deposit liabilities increased \$980 million, as RJ Bank retained a higher portion of RJBDP balances to fund a portion of our increased securities portfolio and net loan growth. Brokerage client payable balances increased \$542 million, reflecting an increase in client cash balances in our client interest program. Offsetting these increases was a decrease in other borrowings of \$612 million due to the repayment of certain borrowings during the period. Accrued compensation, commissions and benefits decreased \$158 million as a result of annual payments of certain incentive compensation during the period.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Contractual obligations

The Tax Act, which was enacted in December 2017, includes a one-time transition tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which is permitted to be paid in annual installments over a period of 8 years based on the schedule outlined in the Tax Act. We currently estimate this transition tax to be \$9 million (which excludes the related state tax liability), which is included in our provision for income taxes in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the six months ended March 31, 2018.

Other than the item described above, as of March 31, 2018, there have been no material changes in our contractual obligations presented in our 2017 Form 10-K, other than in the ordinary course of business. See Note 14 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding certain commitments as of March 31, 2018.

Regulatory

Refer to the discussion of the regulatory environment in which we operate and the impact on our operations of certain rules and regulations in Item 1 "Business - Regulation" and Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Regulatory" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

On March 15, 2018, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit vacated the U.S. Department of Labor's final regulation (the "DOL Rule") expanding the definition of who is deemed an "investment advice fiduciary" under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"). We are continuing to review implications of the court's ruling, including on recent changes we have implemented as a result of the DOL Rule.

In addition, pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC voted on April 18, 2018 to move forward its new proposed rules to raise the standards of conduct for broker-dealers when making recommendations of securities transactions or investment strategies ("Regulation Best Interest"). We continue to review the proposal, which is in a comment period, including its potential implications to the firm.

RJF and many of its subsidiaries are each subject to various regulatory capital requirements. As of March 31, 2018, all of our active regulated domestic and international subsidiaries had net capital in excess of minimum requirements. In addition, RJF and RJ Bank were categorized as "well capitalized" as of March 31, 2018.

The maintenance of certain risk-based regulatory capital levels could impact various capital allocation decisions impacting one or more of our businesses. However, due to the strong capital position of RJF and its regulated subsidiaries, we do not anticipate these capital requirements will have a negative impact on our future business activities.

See Note 18 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for further information on regulatory capital requirements.

Critical accounting estimates

The condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during any reporting period in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Management has established detailed policies and control procedures intended to ensure the appropriateness of such estimates and assumptions and their consistent application from period to period. For a description of our significant accounting

policies, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of our 2017 Form 10-K.

We believe that of our accounting estimates and assumptions, those described below involve a high degree of judgment and complexity. Due to their nature, estimates involve judgment based upon available information. Actual results or amounts could differ from estimates and the difference could have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, understanding these critical accounting estimates is important in understanding our reported results of operations and financial position.

Valuation of financial instruments

The use of fair value to measure financial instruments, with related gains or losses recognized in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, is fundamental to our financial statements and our risk management processes. See Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K for a discussion of our fair value accounting policies regarding financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold but not yet purchased.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

As of March 31, 2018, 11% of our total assets and 2% of our total liabilities were financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Financial instrument which were assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis categorized as Level 3 amounted to \$206 million as of March 31, 2018 and represented 5% of our assets measured at fair value. Of the Level 3 assets as of March 31, 2018, our ARS positions comprised \$108 million, or 53%, and our private equity investments not measured at NAV comprised \$96 million, or 47%, of the total. Level 3 assets represented 3% of total equity as of March 31, 2018.

Our investments in private equity measured at NAV amounted to \$97 million at March 31, 2018.

Financial instruments which were liabilities categorized as Level 3 were \$1 million as of March 31, 2018.

See Notes 4, 5 and 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information on our financial instruments at fair value.

Loss provisions

Refer to Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical accounting estimates - Loss provisions" of our 2017 Form 10-K for more information.

Loss provisions arising from legal and regulatory matters

The recorded amount of liabilities related to legal and regulatory matters is subject to significant management judgment. For a description of the significant estimates and judgments associated with establishing such accruals, see the "Contingent liabilities" section of Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K. In addition, refer to Note 14 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for information regarding legal and regulatory matter contingencies as of March 31, 2018.

Loss provisions arising from operations of our Broker-Dealers

The recorded amounts of loss provisions associated with brokerage client receivables and loans to financial advisors and certain key revenue producers are subject to significant management judgment. For a description of the significant estimates and judgments associated with establishing these broker-dealer related loss provisions and the related allowances for doubtful accounts, see the "Brokerage client receivables, net" and "Loans to financial advisors, net" sections of Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K and Note 2 of this Form 10-Q for information regarding the allowance for doubtful accounts associated with loans to financial advisors as of March 31, 2018.

Loan loss provisions arising from operations of RJ Bank

RJ Bank provides an allowance for loan losses which reflects our continuing evaluation of the probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio. See the discussion regarding RJ Bank's methodology in estimating its allowance for loan losses in Note 2 of our 2017 Form 10-K.

At March 31, 2018, the amortized cost of all RJ Bank loans was \$18.3 billion and an allowance for loan losses of \$195 million was recorded against that balance. The total allowance for loan losses was equal to 1.07% of the amortized cost of the loan portfolio.

RJ Bank's process of evaluating its probable loan losses includes a complex analysis of several quantitative and qualitative factors, requiring a substantial amount of judgment. As a result, the allowance for loan losses could be insufficient to cover actual losses. In such an event, any losses in excess of our allowance would result in a decrease in our net income, as well as a decrease in the level of regulatory capital at RJ Bank.

Recent accounting developments

For information regarding our recent accounting developments, see Note 2 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Off-Balance sheet arrangements

For information regarding our off-balance sheet arrangements, see Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of our 2017 Form 10-K and Note 14 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

Effects of inflation

Our assets are primarily liquid in nature and are not significantly affected by inflation. However, the rate of inflation affects our expenses, including employee compensation, communications and information processing, and occupancy costs, which may not be readily recoverable through charges for services we provide to our clients.

Risk management

Risks are an inherent part of our business and activities. Management of these risks is critical to our fiscal soundness and profitability. Our risk management processes are multi-faceted and require communication, judgment and knowledge of financial products and markets. We have a formal Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") program to assess and review aggregate risks across the firm. Our management takes an active role in the ERM process, which requires specific administrative and business functions to participate in the identification, assessment, monitoring and control of various risks. The results of this process are extensively documented and reported to executive management and the RJF Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors.

The principal risks related to our business activities are market, credit, liquidity, operational, model, and regulatory and legal.

Market risk

Market risk is our risk of loss resulting from the impact of changes in market prices on our inventory, derivative and investment positions. We have exposure to market risk primarily through our broker-dealer trading operations and, to a lesser extent, through our banking operations. See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Market risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K for a discussion of our market risk including how we manage such risk. See Notes 4, 5 and 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for fair value and other information regarding our trading inventories, available-for-sale securities and derivative instruments.

Interest rate risk

Trading activities

We are exposed to interest rate risk as a result of our trading inventories (primarily comprised of fixed income instruments) in our Capital Markets segment. We actively manage the interest rate risk arising from our fixed income trading securities through the use of hedging strategies that involve U.S. Treasury securities, futures contracts, liquid spread products and derivatives.

We monitor daily, the Value-at-Risk ("VaR") for all of our trading portfolios. VaR is an appropriate statistical technique for estimating potential losses in trading portfolios due to typical adverse market movements over a specified time horizon with a suitable confidence level. We apply the Fed's Market Risk Rule ("MRR") for the purpose of calculating

our capital ratios. The MRR, also known as the "Risk-Based Capital Guidelines: Market Risk" rule released by the Fed, OCC and FDIC, requires us to calculate VaR numbers for all of our trading portfolios, including fixed income, equity, foreign exchange and derivative instruments.

To calculate VaR, we use historical simulation. This approach assumes that historical changes in market conditions, such as in interest rates and equity prices, are representative of future changes. Simulation is based on daily market data for the previous twelve months. VaR is reported at a 99% confidence level for a one-day time horizon. Assuming that future market conditions change as they have in the past twelve months, we would expect to incur losses greater than those predicted by our one-day VaR estimates about once every 100 trading days, or about three times per year on average. For regulatory capital calculation purposes, we also report VaR numbers for a ten-day time horizon.

The Fed's MRR requires us to perform daily back testing procedures of our VaR model, whereby we compare each day's projected VaR to its regulatory-defined daily trading losses, which exclude fees, commissions, reserves, net interest income and intraday trading. Based on these daily "ex ante" versus "ex post" comparisons, we determine whether the number of times that regulatory-defined daily trading losses exceed VaR is consistent with our expectations at a 99% confidence level. During the three and six months ended March 31, 2018, our regulatory-defined daily loss in our trading portfolios exceeded our predicted VaR once.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table sets forth the high, low, period end and daily average VaR for all of our trading portfolios, including fixed income, equity, and derivative instruments, for the period and dates indicated:

Six months

ended March Period end VaR

31, 2018

\$ in thousands High Low March 3\(\frac{1}{2}\) eptember 30,

2018 2017

Daily VaR \$2,256 \$654 \$1,492 \$ 1,427

Three months Six months ended March ended March

31, 31,

\$ in thousands 2018 2017 2018 2017

Daily average VaR \$1,177 \$1,967 \$1,390 \$1,819

The modeling of the risk characteristics of trading positions involves a number of assumptions and approximations. While management believes that its assumptions and approximations are reasonable, there is no uniform industry methodology for estimating VaR, and different assumptions or approximations could produce materially different VaR estimates. As a result, VaR statistics are more reliable when used as indicators of risk levels and trends within a firm than as a basis for inferring differences in risk-taking across firms.

Separately, RJF provides additional market risk disclosures to comply with the MRR. The results of the application of this market risk capital rule are available on our website under www.raymondjames.com/investor-relations/financial-report under "Market Risk Rule Disclosure."

Should markets suddenly become more volatile, actual trading losses may exceed VaR results presented on a single day and might accumulate over a longer time horizon, such as a number of consecutive trading days. Accordingly, management applies additional controls including position limits, a daily review of trading results, review of the status of aged inventory, independent controls on pricing, monitoring of concentration risk, review of issuer ratings and stress testing. We utilize stress testing to complement our VaR analysis so as to measure risk under historical and hypothetical adverse scenarios. During volatile markets, we may choose to pare our trading inventories to reduce risk.

As a part of our fixed income public finance operations, we enter into forward commitments to purchase GNMA or FNMA MBS which are issued on behalf of various state and local housing finance agencies. These activities result in exposure to interest rate risk. In order to hedge the interest rate risk to which we would otherwise be exposed between the date of the commitment and the date of sale of the MBS, we enter into TBA security contracts with investors for generic MBS at specific rates and prices to be delivered on settlement dates in the future. See Note 14 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding these activities.

Banking operations

RJ Bank maintains an earning asset portfolio that is comprised of cash, C&I loans, tax-exempt loans, SBL, commercial and residential real estate loans, MBS and CMOs (both of which are held in the available-for-sale securities portfolio), Small Business Administration loan securitizations and a trading portfolio of corporate loans. Those earning assets are primarily funded by client deposits. Based on its current earning asset portfolio, RJ Bank is subject to interest rate risk. In recent periods, RJ Bank has focused its interest rate risk analysis on the risk of

market interest rates rising given the Federal Reserve Bank's increases in short-term interest rates. RJ Bank analyzes interest rate risk based on forecasted net interest income, which is the net amount of interest received and interest paid, and the net portfolio valuation, both in a range of interest rate scenarios.

One of the objectives of RJ Bank's Asset Liability Management Committee is to manage the sensitivity of net interest income to changes in market interest rates. The methods used to measure this sensitivity are described in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Market risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

We utilize a hedging strategy using interest rate swaps as a result of RJ Bank's asset and liability management process. For further information regarding this risk management objective, see the discussion of this hedging strategy in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of our 2017 Form 10-K and in Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table is an analysis of RJ Bank's estimated net interest income over a 12 month period based on instantaneous shifts in interest rates (expressed in basis points) using RJ Bank's own asset/liability model:

Instantanaous abangas in moto	Net interest income	Projected change in	
Instantaneous changes in rate	(\$ in thousands)	net interest income	
+200	\$722,743	(1.69)%	
+100	\$749,188	1.91%	
0	\$735,138	_	
-100	\$648,762	(11.75)%	

Refer to "Management's Discussion and Analysis - Net interest analysis" within this Form 10-Q for a discussion of the impact that an increase in short-term interest rates could have on the firm's operations.

The following table shows the contractual maturities of RJ Bank's loan portfolio at March 31, 2018, including contractual principal repayments. This table does not, however, include any estimates of prepayments. These prepayments could shorten the average loan lives and cause the actual timing of the loan repayments to differ significantly from those shown in the following table. Loan amounts in the table below exclude unearned income and deferred expenses.

Due in				
One year	> One year	> 5 years	Total	
or less	 five years 	r e jeurs	10001	
\$168,680	\$3,798,442	\$3,694,811	\$7,661,933	
34,268	140,687		174,955	
443,969	2,249,133	553,977	3,247,079	
_	22,630	1,151,548	1,174,178	
976	2,129	3,367,446	3,370,551	
2,622,445	3,520	_	2,625,965	
3,270,338	6,216,541	8,767,782	18,254,661	
_	_	110,759	110,759	
\$3,270,338	\$6,216,541	\$8,878,541	\$18,365,420	
	One year or less \$168,680 34,268 443,969 — 976 2,622,445 3,270,338 —	One year or less - five years \$168,680 \$3,798,442 34,268 140,687 443,969 2,249,133 - 22,630 976 2,129 2,622,445 3,520 3,270,338 6,216,541	One year or less	

The following table shows the distribution of the recorded investment of those RJ Bank loans that mature in more than one year between fixed and adjustable interest rate loans at March 31, 2018. Loan amounts in the table below exclude unearned income and deferred expenses.

	Interest rate type				
\$ in thousands	Fixed	Adjustable	Total		
Loans held for investment:					
C&I loans	\$1,700	\$7,491,553	\$7,493,253		
CRE construction loans		140,687	140,687		
CRE loans	77,899	2,725,211	2,803,110		
Tax-exempt loans	1,142,278	31,900	1,174,178		
Residential mortgage loans	237,086	3,132,489	3,369,575		
SBL	3,520	_	3,520		
Total loans held for investment	1,462,483	13,521,840	14,984,323		
Loans held for sale	2,883	107,876	110,759		
Total loans	\$1,465,366	\$13,629,716	\$15,095,082		

Contractual loan terms for C&I, CRE, CRE construction and residential mortgage loans may include an interest rate floor and/or fixed interest rates for a certain period of time, which would impact the timing of the interest rate reset for the respective loan.

See the discussion within the "Management's Discussion and Analysis - Risk management - Credit risk - Risk monitoring process" section of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding RJ Bank's interest-only residential mortgage loan portfolio.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

In our RJ Bank available-for-sale portfolio, we hold primarily fixed-rate agency MBS and CMOs which were carried at fair value in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at March 31, 2018 with changes in the fair value of the portfolio recorded through "Other comprehensive income" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. At March 31, 2018, our RJ Bank available-for-sale portfolio had a fair value \$2.45 billion with a weighted-average yield of 2.15% and an average expected duration of three years. See Note 5 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information on the fair value of these securities.

Other

We hold ARS, which are long-term variable rate securities tied to short-term interest rates, that are accounted for as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. These securities generally have embedded penalty interest rate provisions in the event auctions fail to set the security's interest rate. These penalty rates are based upon a stated interest rate spread over what is typically a short-term base interest rate index. As short-term interest rates rise, the penalty rate that is specified in the security increases. Changes in interest rates impact the fair value of our ARS portfolio, as we estimate that at some level of increase in short-term interest rates, issuers of the securities will have the economic incentive to refinance (and thus prepay) the securities. The faster and steeper short-term interest rates rise, the earlier prepayments will likely occur and the higher the fair value of the security. See Notes 4 and 5 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information on these securities.

Equity price risk

We are exposed to equity price risk as a consequence of our capital markets activities. Our broker-dealer activities are primarily client-driven, with the objective of meeting clients' needs while earning a trading profit to compensate for the risk associated with carrying inventory. We attempt to reduce the risk of loss inherent in our inventory of equity securities by monitoring those security positions throughout each day and establishing position limits.

In addition, our private equity investments may be impacted by equity prices.

Foreign exchange risk

We are subject to foreign exchange risk due to our investments in foreign subsidiaries as well as transactions and resulting balances denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. For example, a portion of our bank loan portfolio includes loans which are denominated in Canadian dollars totaling \$1.13 billion and \$1.00 billion at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. A portion of such loans are held by RJ Bank's Canadian subsidiary, which is discussed further below.

Investments in foreign subsidiaries

RJ Bank has an investment in a Canadian subsidiary, resulting in foreign exchange risk. To mitigate its foreign exchange risk, RJ Bank utilizes short-term, forward foreign exchange contracts. These derivative agreements are primarily accounted for as net investment hedges in the condensed consolidated financial statements. See Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for further information regarding these derivative contracts.

We had foreign exchange risk in our investment in RJ Ltd. of CDN \$330 million at March 31, 2018, which was not hedged. Foreign exchange gains/losses related to this investment are primarily reflected in other comprehensive income/(loss) ("OCI") on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. See Note 15 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for further information regarding all of our components of OCI.

We also have foreign exchange risk associated with our investments in subsidiaries located in the United Kingdom, Germany and France. These investments are not hedged and we do not believe we have material foreign exchange risk either individually, or in the aggregate, pertaining to these subsidiaries.

Transactions and resulting balances denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar

We are subject to foreign exchange risk due to our holdings of cash and certain other assets and liabilities resulting from transactions denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. Any currency-related gains/losses arising from these foreign currency denominated balances are reflected in "Other revenues" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The foreign exchange risk associated with a portion of such transactions and balances denominated in foreign currency are mitigated utilizing short-term, forward foreign exchange contracts. Such derivatives are not designated hedges and therefore the related gains/losses

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

associated with these contracts are included in "Other revenues" in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. See Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for information regarding our derivative contracts.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to adverse changes in a borrower's, issuer's or counterparty's ability to meet its financial obligations under contractual or agreed upon terms. The nature and amount of credit risk depends on the type of transaction, the structure and duration of that transaction, and the parties involved. Credit risk is an integral component of the profit assessment of lending and other financing activities. See further discussion of our credit risk, including how we manage such risk, in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Credit Risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K.

The Bank has substantial C&I, CRE, tax-exempt, SBL and residential mortgage loan portfolios. A significant downturn in the overall economy, deterioration in real estate values or a significant issue within any sector or sectors where RJ Bank has a concentration could result in large provisions for loan losses and/or charge-offs.

Our allowance for loan losses is regularly evaluated with adjustments made on a quarterly basis. Several factors were taken into consideration in evaluating the allowance for loan losses at March 31, 2018, including the risk profile of the portfolios, net charge-offs during the period, the level of nonperforming loans and delinquency ratios. RJ Bank also considered the uncertainty related to certain industry sectors and the extent of credit exposure to specific borrowers within the portfolio. Finally, RJ Bank considered current economic conditions that might impact the portfolio. RJ Bank determined the allowance that was required for specific loan grades based on relative risk characteristics of the loan portfolio.

The following table presents RJ Bank's changes in the allowance for loan losses:

	Six month	ıs e	ended Ma	rch
\$ in thousands	2018		2017	
Allowance for loan losses beginning of year	\$190,442		\$197,378	
Provision for loan losses	8,565		6,888	
Charge-offs:				
C&I loans	(4,176)	(22,693)
Residential mortgage loans	(299)	(565)
Total charge-offs	(4,475)	(23,258)
Recoveries:				
CRE loans			5,013	
Residential mortgage loans	760		360	
Total recoveries	760		5,373	
Net charge-offs	(3,715)	(17,885)
Foreign exchange translation adjustment	(440)	(147)
Allowance for loan losses end of period	\$194,852		\$186,234	1
Allowance for loan losses to bank loans outstanding	1.07	%	1.17	%

The loan loss provision increased to \$8.6 million from \$6.9 million in the prior year. See further explanation of the loan loss provision increase in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - RJ Bank" of this Form 10-Q. As a result of improved credit quality in the loan portfolio, the total

allowance for loan losses to total to bank loans outstanding declined to 1.07% at March 31,2018 from 1.17% at March 31,2017.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following table presents net loan (charge-offs)/recoveries and the percentage of net loan (charge-offs)/recoveries to the average outstanding loan balances by loan portfolio segment:

-	Three mo	onths end	ded	March 31,				Six mont	hs ende	d Ma	arch 31,			
	2018			2017				2018			2017			
	Net loan	% of av	vg.	Net loan		% of a	vg.	Net loan	% of a	vg.	Net loan		% of a	ıvg.
\$ in thousands	(charge-o	off)/tretan	vlėny	g(charge-off)/	neucts tæn	ry ling	g(charge-o	fb)/treteac	rdėny	g(charge-of	f)/	routsta	nyding
	amount	loans		amount		loans		amount	loans		amount		loans	
C&I loans	\$(3,573)	0.19	%	\$ (19,304)	1.05	%	\$(4,176)	0.11	%	\$ (22,693)	0.61	%
CRE loans											5,013		0.38	%
Residential mortgage loans	(48)	0.01	%	(183)	0.03	%	461	0.03	%	(205)	0.02	%
Total	\$(3,621)	0.08	%	\$ (19,487)	0.49	%	\$(3,715)	0.04	%	\$ (17,885)	0.23	%

The level of charge-off activity is a factor that is considered in evaluating the potential for severity of future credit losses. Net charge-offs for the six months ended March 31, 2018 decreased \$14 million as compared to the prior year. The decrease was due to the prior year reflecting the resolution of one corporate C&I loan which resulted in a significant charge-off.

The table below presents the nonperforming loans balance and total allowance for loan losses:

	March 31,	2018		September	r 30, 2017		
	Nonnarfor	Allowance	Loan category	Nonnarfor	Allowance	Loan catego	ory
\$ in thousands	Nonperformuloan balance	for loan losses	as a % c total	f Nonperfor loan balance	for loan losses	as a % total	% of
	barance	balance	loans receivab		balance	loans receiv	
Loans held for investment:							
C&I loans	\$4,014	\$(124,978)	42 %	\$5,221	\$(119,901)	43	%
CRE construction loans		(2,218)	1 %		(1,421)	1	%
CRE loans		(42,662	18 %		(41,749)	18	%
Tax-exempt loans		(7,773)	6 %		(6,381)	6	%
Residential mortgage loans	30,585	(12,491)	18 %	33,749	(16,691)	18	%
SBL		(4,730	14 %		(4,299)	14	%
Loans held for sale		_	1 %				%
Total	\$34,599	\$(194,852)	100 %	\$38,970	\$(190,442)	100	%
Total nonperforming loans as a % of RJ Bank total loans	0.19 %			0.23 %)		

The level of nonperforming loans is another indicator of potential future credit losses. The amount of nonperforming loans decreased during the six months ended March 31, 2018. This decrease was due to a \$3 million decrease in nonperforming residential mortgage loans and a \$1 million decrease in nonperforming C&I loans. As of March 31, 2018, nonperforming residential mortgage loans included \$1 million of loans which were 90 days or more past due and in the process of collection but were still accruing, as well as \$26 million in loans for which \$14 million in charge-offs was previously recorded, resulting in less exposure within the remaining balance.

The nonperforming loan balances above exclude \$12 million and \$14 million as of March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively, of residential TDRs which were returned to accrual status in accordance with our policy. Total

nonperforming assets, including other real estate acquired in the settlement of residential mortgages, amounted to \$38 million and \$44 million at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. Total nonperforming assets as a percentage of RJ Bank total assets were 0.17% and 0.21% at March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively.

Loan underwriting policies

RJ Bank's underwriting policies for the major types of loans are described in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Credit Risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K. There were no material changes in RJ Bank's underwriting policies during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Risk monitoring process

Another component of credit risk strategy at RJ Bank is the ongoing risk monitoring and review processes for all residential, SBL, corporate and tax-exempt credit exposures, as well as our rigorous processes to manage and limit credit losses arising from loan delinquencies. There are various other factors included in these processes, depending on the loan portfolio. There were no material changes to those processes and policies during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

SBL and residential mortgage loans

The marketable collateral securing RJ Bank's SBL is monitored on a daily basis. Collateral adjustments are made by the borrower as necessary to ensure RJ Bank's loans are adequately secured, resulting in minimizing its credit risk. Collateral calls have been minimal relative to our SBL portfolio with no losses incurred to date.

We track and review many factors to monitor credit risk in RJ Bank's residential mortgage loan portfolio. The qualitative factors include, but are not limited to: loan performance trends, loan product parameters and qualification requirements, borrower credit scores, occupancy (i.e., owner occupied, second home or investment property), level of documentation, loan purpose, geographic concentrations, average loan size, loan policy exceptions and updated LTV ratios. These qualitative measures, while considered and reviewed in establishing the allowance for loan losses, have not resulted in any material quantitative adjustments to RJ Bank's historical loss rates.

The following table presents a summary of delinquent residential mortgage loans, which is comprised of loans which are two or more payments past due as well as loans in the process of foreclosure.

Dalin amant masidantial

				Delinq	uent res	idential	
	Amount of delinquent			loans as a percentage			
	residen	tial loans		of outstanding loan			
				balance	es		
					90		
\$ in thousands	30-89	90 days	Total	30-89	days	Total	
5 III tilousalius	days	or more	Total	days	or	Totai	
					more		
March 31, 2018							
Residential mortgage loans:							
First mortgage loans	\$3,943	\$18,678	\$22,621	0.12%	0.55%	0.67%	
Home equity loans/lines	269	114	383	0.97%	0.41%	1.38%	
Total residential mortgage loans	\$4,212	\$18,792	\$23,004	0.12%	0.56%	0.68%	
September 30, 2017							
Residential mortgage loans:							
First mortgage loans	\$3,061	\$19,823	\$22,884	0.10%	0.63%	0.73%	
Home equity loans/lines	248	18	266	0.91%	0.07%	0.98%	
Total residential mortgage loans	\$3,309	\$19,841	\$23,150	0.10%	0.63%	0.73%	

At March 31, 2018, loans over 30 days delinquent (including nonperforming loans) decreased to 0.68% of residential mortgage loans outstanding, compared to 0.73% over 30 days delinquent at September 30, 2017. Our March 31, 2018 percentage continues to compare favorably to the national average for over 30 day delinquencies of 3.73% as most recently reported by the Fed. RJ Bank's significantly lower delinquency rate as compared to its peers is the result of

our uniform underwriting policies, the lack of subprime loans and the limited amount of non-traditional loan products.

Credit risk is also managed by diversifying the residential mortgage portfolio. The geographic concentrations (top five states) of RJ Bank's one-to-four family residential mortgage loans were as follows:

	September 30, 2017	
Loans outstanding as a	Loans outstanding as a % of	Loans outstanding as a
% of RJ Bank total	RJ Bank total residential	% of RJ Bank total
loans	mortgage loans	loans
4.6%	CA 23.8%	4.4%
3.3%	FL 18.9%	3.5%
1.4%	TX 7.8%	1.4%
1.3%	NY 6.8%	1.3%
0.6%	CO 3.4%	0.6%
	% of RJ Bank total loans 4.6% 3.3% 1.4% 1.3%	Loans outstanding as a % of % of RJ Bank total loans mortgage loans 4.6% CA 23.8% 3.3% FL 18.9% 1.4% TX 7.8% 1.3% NY 6.8%

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Loans where borrowers may be subject to payment increases include adjustable rate mortgage loans with terms that initially require payment of interest only. Payments may increase significantly when the interest-only period ends and the loan principal begins to amortize. At March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2017, these loans totaled \$805 million and \$683 million, respectively, or approximately 25% and 20% of the residential mortgage portfolio, respectively. The weighted average number of years before the remainder of the loans, which were still in their interest-only period at March 31, 2018, begins amortizing is 6.8 years.

A component of credit risk management for the residential portfolio is the LTV and borrower credit score at origination or purchase. The most recent weighted-average LTV/FICO scores at origination of RJ Bank's residential first mortgage loan portfolio were as follows:

March 31, 2018 September 30, 2017

Residential first mortgage loan weighted-average LTV/FICO 65%/762 65%/758

The average estimated LTV was approximately 55% for the total residential mortgage loan portfolio. Residential mortgage loans with estimated LTVs in excess of 100% represented much less than 1% of the residential mortgage loan portfolio as of March 31, 2018. Credit risk management considers this data in conjunction with delinquency statistics, loss experience and economic circumstances to establish appropriate allowance for loan losses for the residential mortgage loan portfolio.

Corporate and tax-exempt loans

Other than loans classified as nonperforming, the amount of corporate and tax-exempt loans that were delinquent greater than 30 days was not significant as of March 31, 2018.

Credit risk is also managed by diversifying the corporate loan portfolio. RJ Bank's corporate loan portfolio does not contain a significant concentration in any single industry. The industry concentrations (top five categories) of RJ Bank's corporate loans were as follows:

March 31, 2018			September 30, 20)17	
	Loans outstanding as a % of RJ Bank total corporate loans	C		Loans outstanding as a % of RJ Bank total corporate loans	•
Power & infrastructure	5.4%	3.6%	Office (real estate)	5.9%	4.0%
Office (real estate)	5.2%	3.5%	Retail real estate	5.3%	3.6%
Retail real estate	4.8%	3.2%	Power & infrastructure	5.3%	3.6%
Consumer products and services	4.7%	3.2%	Consumer products and services	5.2%	3.5%
Hospitality	4.4%	3.0%	Hospitality	4.7%	3.2%

Liquidity risk

See the section "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and capital resources" of this Form 10-Q for information regarding our liquidity and how we manage liquidity risk.

Operational risk

Operational risk generally refers to the risk of loss resulting from our operations, including, but not limited to, business disruptions, improper or unauthorized execution and processing of transactions, deficiencies in our technology or financial operating systems and inadequacies or breaches in our control processes including cyber security incidents. See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Operational risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K for a discussion of our operational risk and certain of our risk mitigation processes. There have been no material changes in such processes during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Management's Discussion and Analysis

As more fully described in the discussion of our business technology risks included in various risk factors presented in "Item 1A - Risk Factors" of our 2017 Form 10-K, despite our implementation of protective measures and endeavoring to modify them as circumstances warrant, our computer systems, software and networks may be vulnerable to human error, natural disasters, power loss, spam attacks, unauthorized access, distributed denial of service attacks, computer viruses and other malicious code and other events that could have an impact on the security and stability of our operations. Notwithstanding the precautions we take, if one or more of these events were to occur, this could jeopardize the information we confidentially maintain, including that of our clients and counterparties, which is processed, stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations or the operations of our clients or counterparties. To-date, we have not experienced any material losses relating to cyberattacks or other information security breaches; however, there can be no assurances that we will not suffer such losses in the future.

Model Risk

Model risk refers to the possibility of unintended business outcomes arising from the design, implementation or use of models. See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Model Risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K for information regarding how we utilize models throughout the firm and how we manage model risk.

Regulatory and legal risk

See Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Management - Regulatory and legal risk" of our 2017 Form 10-K for information on our regulatory and legal risks, including how we manage such risks. There have been no material changes in our risk mitigation processes during the six months ended March 31, 2018.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

See Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk management" of this Form 10-Q for our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls are procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this report, are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, as ours are designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Not applicable.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Not applicable.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND 2. ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We purchase our own stock from time to time in conjunction with a number of activities, each of which is described below. The following table presents information on our purchases of our own stock, on a monthly basis, for the six months ended March 31, 2018:

	Total number of shares purchased	price per	Number of shares purchased as part of publicly announced plans or programs	Approximate dollar value (in thousands) at each month-end, of securities that may yet be purchased under the plans or programs
October 1, 2017 – October 31, 2017	8,493	\$85.25	_	\$ 135,671
November 1, 2017 – November 30, 2017	18,539	\$85.32	_	\$ 135,671
December 1, 2017 – December 31, 2017	205,504	\$87.32		\$ 135,671
First quarter	232,536	\$ 87.08	_	
January 1, 2018 – January 31, 2018	18,887	\$91.47	_	\$ 135,671
February 1, 2018 – February 28, 2018	5,708	\$91.85	_	\$ 135,671
March 1, 2018 – March 31, 2018	861	\$ 97.04	_	\$ 135,671
Second quarter	25,456	\$91.74		
Fiscal year-to-date total	257,992	\$87.54	_	

Of the total for the six months ended March 31, 2018, share purchases for the trust fund established to acquire our common stock in the open market and used to settle RSUs granted as a retention vehicle for certain employees of our wholly owned Canadian subsidiary approximated 77 thousand shares, for a total consideration of \$7 million (for more information on this trust fund, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of our 2017 Form 10-K and Note 9 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q). These activities do not utilize the repurchase authority presented in the table above.

We also repurchase shares when employees surrender shares as payment for option exercises or withholding taxes. Of the total for the six months ended March 31, 2018, shares surrendered to us by employees for such purposes approximated 181 thousand shares, for a total consideration of \$16 million. These activities do not utilize the repurchase authority presented in the table above.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number	Description
3.1	Restated Articles of Incorporation of Raymond James Financial, Inc. as filed with the Secretary of State of Florida on November 25, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i).1 to the Company's Annual
3.2	Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 28, 2008. Amended and Restated By-Laws of Raymond James Financial, Inc., reflecting amendments adopted by the Board of Directors on November 30, 2017, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 5, 2017.
10.1	Form of Award Agreement for Grant of Retention RSUs to Mr. Paul C. Reilly, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2018.
11	Statement Re: Computation of per Share Earnings (the calculation of per share earnings is included in Part I, Item 1 in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Earnings Per Share) and is omitted here in accordance with Section (b)(11) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
12	Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
31.1	Certification of Paul C. Reilly pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Jeffrey P. Julien pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32	Certification of Paul C. Reilly and Jeffrey P. Julien pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL, INC.

(Registrant)

Date: May 8, 2018 /s/ Paul C. Reilly

Paul C. Reilly

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 8, 2018 /s/ Jeffrey P. Julien

Jeffrey P. Julien

Executive Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer